
1

MEETING: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS)

DATE: Tuesday 21st September, 2021

TIME: 6.30 pm

VENUE: Town Hall, Bootle

Member

Councillor

Substitute

Councillor
Councillor John Sayers (Chair)
Councillor Blackburne (Vice-Chair)
Councillor D'Albuquerque
Councillor Cluskey
Councillor Hansen
Councillor Chris Maher
Councillor Myers
Councillor Page
Councillor Robinson
Councillor Sathiy

Councillor Killen
Councillor Howard
Councillor Morris
Councillor O'Brien
Councillor Grace
Councillor Anne Thompson
Councillor Thomas
Councillor Waterfield
Councillor Yvonne Sayers
Councillor Shaw

COMMITTEE OFFICER: Paul Fraser
Senior Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2068

E-mail: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk

See overleaf for COVID Guidance and the 
requirements in relation to Public Attendance.
If you have any special needs that may require arrangements to 
facilitate your attendance at this meeting, please contact the 
Committee Officer named above, who will endeavour to assist.

We endeavour to provide a reasonable number of full agendas, including reports at 
the meeting.  If you wish to ensure that you have a copy to refer to at the meeting, 
please can you print off your own copy of the agenda pack prior to the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

COVID GUIDANCE IN RELATION TO PUBLIC ATTENDANCE

In light of ongoing Covid-19 social distancing restrictions, there is limited 

capacity for members of the press and public to be present in the meeting 

room indicated on the front page of the agenda at any one time.  We 

would ask parties remain in the meeting room solely for the duration of 

consideration of the Committee report(s)  to which their interests relate.

We therefore request that if you wish to attend the Committee to please 

register in advance of the meeting via email to paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk

 by no later than 12:00 (noon) on the day of the meeting.
 

Please include in your email –

 Your name;

 Your email address;

 Your Contact telephone number; and

 The details of the report in which you are interested.

In light of current social distancing requirements, access to the meeting 

room is limited.

We have been advised by Public Health that Members, officers and 
the public should carry out a lateral flow test before attending the 
meeting, and only attend if that test is negative. Provided you are not 
classed as exempt, it is requested that you wear a mask that covers 
both your nose and mouth.

mailto:paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk


3

A G E N D A

1.  Apologies for Absence

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are requested at a meeting where a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or personal interest arises, which is not 
already included in their Register of Members' Interests, to 
declare any interests that relate to an item on the agenda.

Where a Member discloses a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, 
he/she must withdraw from the meeting room, including from 
the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any item 
of business in which he/she has an interest, except where 
he/she is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of a 
dispensation.

Where a Member discloses a personal interest he/she must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or staff member 
representing the Monitoring Officer to determine whether the 
Member should withdraw from the meeting room, including 
from the public gallery, during the whole consideration of any 
item of business in which he/she has an interest or whether 
the Member can remain in the meeting or remain in the 
meeting and vote on the relevant decision.

3.  Minutes of the Previous Meetings (Pages 7 - 16)
Minutes of the meetings held 29 June and 9 September 2021

4.  Winter Maintenance Policy & Operational Plan (Pages 17 - 
24)

Report of the Head of Highways and Public Protection

5.  Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity 
Working Group Final Report

(Pages 25 - 
66)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer

6.  Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People Working 
Group Final Report

(Pages 67 - 
118)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer 

7.  Digital Inclusion Working Group – Update on 
Recommendations

(Pages 119 - 
136)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer



4

8.  Work Programme 2021/22, Scrutiny Review Topics and 
Key Decision Forward Plan

(Pages 137 - 
166)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer

9.  Cabinet Member Reports - September 2021 (Pages 167 - 
224)

Report of the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL IN”.

1

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS)

MEETING HELD AT THE BALLROOM, TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON TUESDAY 29TH JUNE, 2021

PRESENT: Councillor John Sayers (in the Chair)
Councillor Blackburne (Vice-Chair) 
Councillors D'Albuquerque, Cluskey, Hansen, 
Chris Maher, Myers and Page

1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS 

Councillor John Sayers welcomed Members to the first physical meeting of 
Sefton Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and 
Skills) in the 2021/22 Municipal Year. 

Councillor Sayers indicated that to mitigate risks associated with the 
transmission of the Covid-19 virus, could Members and officers remain in 
their allocated seats during the meeting, wear a face covering, provided 
they weren’t exempt from doing so, and use the hand sanitizers; and 
requested that Members and officers refrained from gathering together 
following the Meeting.

Councillor Sayers made a special welcome to Councillors d’Albuquerque, 
Cluskey, Hansen Christine Maher and Page who were new members of 
the Committee; and also offered his thanks to Councillors Brough, Dowd, 
Halsall, Killen and Lewis for their help and support on the Committee 
during 2020/21.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were receved from Councillors Robinson and 
Sathiy and Councillor Atkinson, Cabinet Member – Regeneration and 
Skills. 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

4. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 9 March 2021 be confirmed as a 
correct record. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 29TH JUNE, 2021

2

5. WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22, SCRUTINY REVIEW TOPICS 
AND KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer that sought views on the draft Work Programme for 2021/22;the 
identification of potential topics for scrutiny reviews to be undertaken by a 
Working Group(s) appointed by the Committee; the identification of any 
items for pre-scrutiny scrutiny from the Key Decision Forward Plan; 
updated on the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee; and updated on the progress of items that have 
previously been considered by the Committee.

Members of the Committee asked questions/commented on the following 
issues:

 In respect of the update on United Utilities and surface water 
charges contained in the report a brief explanation was given that 
this matter was first brought to the Committee’s attention by officers 
from the Council’s Energy and Environment Team; that it was found 
that schools in the north-west of England were being financially 
disadvantaged compared to schools in the south-east due to the 
imposition of much higher surface water charges; in addition, local 
authority assets such as parks and cemeteries faced large 
increases; that the Committee had requested that representatives 
of DEFRA and OFWAT appear before the Committee to answer 
questions on the discrepancies in surface water charges; and that 
as a result, charging structures were changed and Local Authorities 
and schools in Sefton and across the north-west had aggregately 
saved millions of pounds in charges. This had been a great success 
story for the Committee because with cross-party support, Sefton 
had led on this proposal to push for a reduction in surface water 
charges with the resultant financial benefit to Sefton schools.  

 Quoracy issues associated with the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 Topics considered by Working Groups appointed by the Committee    

RESOLVED: That 

(1) the Work Programme for 2021/22, as set out in Appendix 1 to the 
report, be approved;

(2) the up to date position regarding the Committee’s two Working 
Groups relating to Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement 
Activity; and Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People be 
noted; 

(3) it be noted that the Committee, at its meeting held on 15 September 
2020, agreed that no new Working Groups be established until the 
completion of one of the current Working Groups referred to in (2) 
above; 

Page 6

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - TUESDAY 29TH JUNE, 2021

3

(4) bearing in mind Sefton Council’s operation of its self-supply licence, 
supported by an experienced managing agent, Waterscan, as 
detailed in paragraph 4 of the report, no further reports be submitted 
to the Committee relating to surface water charges and associated 
issues unless significant developments materialise on this matter; 

(5) the thanks of the Committee to the Council’s Energy and 
Environment Team be placed on record for their work in helping to 
secure aggregate savings of millions of pounds to Sefton and north-
west schools associated with surface water charges; and

(6) the update on the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee be noted.

6. CABINET MEMBER REPORTS - JUNE 2021 

The Committee considered the report of the Chief Legal and Democratic 
Officer that included the most recent reports from the Cabinet Members for 
Communities and Housing; Health and Wellbeing; Locality Services; 
Planning and Building Control; and Regeneration and Skills.  

RESOLVED: 

That the update reports from the Cabinet Members for Communities and 
Housing; Health and Wellbeing; Locality Services; Planning and Building 
Control; and Regeneration and Skills be noted.

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



THIS SET OF MINUTES IS NOT SUBJECT TO “CALL IN”.

4

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS)

MEETING HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, BOOTLE
ON THURSDAY 9TH SEPTEMBER, 2021

PRESENT: Councillor Robinson (in the Chair)
Councillors D'Albuquerque, Cluskey, Grace, Killen, 
Chris Maher, Myers, Page and Sathiy

ALSO PRESENT: Councillors Carr, Fairclough and Murphy

7. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR 

In the absence of the Chair and Vice-Chair at the meeting nominations 
were sought for an elected Member to chair this meeting of the 
Committee. 

RESOLVED: 

That Councillor Robinson be appointed Chair for this meeting of the 
Committee.

8. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Blackburne, 
Hansen and John Sayers. 

9. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of any disclosable pecuniary interests or personal 
interests were received.

10. ITEM CALLED IN - PROPOSED TEMPORARY TRAFFIC 
REGULATION ORDER - ANGERS LANE, MELLING - ONE-WAY 

The Committee considered (a) the report of the Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer, which set out the decision of the Cabinet Member – 
Locality Services in relation to the Proposed Temporary Traffic Regulation 
Order – Angers Lane, Melling – One-Way and the reasons why the 
decision had been called-in; and (b) the report of the Head of Highways 
and Public Protection which was considered by the Cabinet Member – 
Locality Services in relation to this matter. 

The decision taken by the Cabinet Member – Locality Services on 5 
August 2021 in relation to this matter was as follows:

Decision Made: That 

(1) the temporary one-way Order on Angers Lane, Melling be 
approved; and

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - THURSDAY 9TH SEPTEMBER, 2021

5

(2) the necessary legal procedures be carried out, including the 
advertising of the temporary Order.

 
Reason for Decision:

The Council has the power to make temporary Traffic Regulation Orders 
under Section 14 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984. 

Alternative Options Considered:

None. 

The decision was subsequently called-in by Councillors Carr, Dodd and 
Pugh.

Paul Fraser, Senior Democratic Services Officer reported on the validity of 
the call-in and highlighted that the call-in requisition:

 had been received within the specified call-in period;
 had been signed by three Members of the Council who were not 

Members of the Cabinet, in accordance with the provisions in 
Chapter 6, Paragraph 38(a) of the Council’s Constitution; and

 referred to a specific decision made by the Cabinet Member – 
Locality Services and provided a reason for call in, in 
accordance with Chapter 6, paragraph 40 of the Constitution.

Councillor Carr, on behalf of Councillors Dodd and Pugh, addressed the 
Committee and outlined and amplified the reasons for the call-in as 
follows:

After reviewing the proposed road changes, the idea of turning Angers 
Lane into a one-way street to route construction traffic down to the 
proposed building site in Maghull must be questioned. The following 
grounds were identified to be scrutinised. 1. Air Quality and Pollution • 
Currently Angers Lane had low traffic volumes, the increase in traffic due 
to the routing of thousands of HGVs over the next few years would 
significantly decrease the air quality and increase particulate pollution. 2. 
Noise Pollution and Vibration Damage • The buildings on Angers Lane 
were either Georgian or Victorian and the deep concern was that the 
vibrations from the increased HGV traffic would result in damage to the 
fabric of the buildings and the additional traffic would cause noise pollution 
that was not presently a concern. 3. Road Traffic Speed • Angers Lane 
was currently a narrow two-way street where motor vehicles needed to 
slow down to pass each other, changing the road to a one-way street 
would increase vehicle speeds. Vehicle drivers may also be tempted to 
drive faster because they did not expect any oncoming vehicles. If motor 
vehicles speeds increased, this would reduce how safe the road was. 4. 
Highway Pedestrian Safety • Angers Lane was an adopted road and that 
as such any vehicle could currently use it. However just because it was 
legal did not make it the right choice in this instance. When it came to 
building sites the law stated that, pedestrians or vehicles must be able to 

Page 10

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - THURSDAY 9TH SEPTEMBER, 2021

6

use a traffic route without causing danger to the health or safety of people 
near it. Angers Lane had no footway or grass verge for 80% of its length 
so pedestrians had no refuge when confronted by the occasional HGV that 
currently used the route. Furthermore, the hedges that ran the length of 
the lane were sufficiently high to obscure oncoming traffic from 
pedestrians and pedestrians from the driver of a vehicle, even the cab of 
an HGV thus creating blind bends. The lack of visibility was further 
exacerbated in the winter months as the road had no street lighting. In the 
past the fact pedestrians were in the highway with traffic had caused some 
issues and indeed there had been RTCs involving pedestrians, but the low 
traffic levels meant these incidents were few and far between. The 
proposed plan to route thousands of HGVs down Angers Lane would force 
pedestrians into the same space as thousands of HGVs and potentially 
speeding cars over the next few years. Further road traffic incidents were 
inevitable and fatalities entirely possible. 5. Highway visibility • The 
entrance of a number of properties were hidden as the entrances were set 
back and hidden by high hedges. Likewise, the length of Angers Lane was 
lined with high hedges that provided a lovely rural feel not to mention a 
habitat for wildlife but provided next to no visibility on a high-speed route. 
The low traffic volumes currently enjoyed meant that this has not caused 
an issue however the higher traffic volumes that would result in 
construction traffic using the narrow Angers Lane to access the building 
site would increase the risk of collision 6. Vehicular access • The road was 
4.1 meters wide at points occasionally this could cause issues when HGVs 
delivered to the plant nursery on Angers Lane which travelled east to west 
on Angers Lane and could not get past due to the legally parked vehicles. 
It was fair to say that on occasion Angers Lane was blocked by farm 
machinery, maintenance vehicles attending to the overhead power 
supplies etc. Finally the United Utilities Pumping Station situated just along 
on Leatherbarrow’s Lane pumped thousands of gallons of water per day 
beneath the surface of Angers Lane and as such it was felt that the shear 
increase in weights and volumes of such traffic would compromise this 
pipework having substantial impact upon local residents.

Councillor Carr acknowledged that due to the Planning Condition imposed 
by the Planning Inspector construction traffic servicing the development 
site should not access the site from the west and should do so from the 
east of Maghull; stressed that he was opposed to the implementation of 
the TTRO due to its detrimental impact on local residents’ amenity and 
highway safety; and that the developers should be urged strongly to 
construct a haul road for site access to alleviate the impact on local 
residents and the highway network.

With the permission of the Committee a representative of the public made 
representations in support of the call-in; and the representative argued that 
the TTRO should not be implemented for reasons of highway safety, 
pollution, traffic congestion, Angers Lane not being able to withstand the 
levels of construction traffic, and the impact on the built environment i.e. 
damage to houses. The local resident concluded that residents considered 
that their lives would be blighted for the next two years. 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - THURSDAY 9TH SEPTEMBER, 2021

7

Councillor Fairclough, Cabinet Member – Locality Services explained the 
decision and the reasons why it was taken by him. Councillor Fairclough 
indicated that he considered that the haul road would be a good solution 
but that he had no control over this because he had to base his decision 
on the condition imposed by the Planning Inspector relating to the 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP); that he had no 
authority to alter the Planning Inspector’s decision and therefore he had no 
option but to approve the TTRO to ensure that the safest route was 
introduced in accordance with the planning condition. Councillor 
Fairclough concluded that he did not consider that the call-in was valid 
because it was in objection to the Planning Inspector’s decision. 

Stephen Birch, Transport Planning and Highway Development Manager 
reported on the issues and the reasons for his recommendation and 
advice to the Cabinet Member – Locality Services. Mr. Birch referred to the 
purpose of the TTRO to service the development site following approval of 
the planning application appeal; that the issue of construction traffic 
featured heavily at the appeal hearing and that the Inspector had heard 
evidence from the developer, the Council and Maghull Town Council; that 
the Inspector included a detailed condition relating to the CEMP that 
included the requirement that construction traffic routes should exclude the 
use of residential roads to the west of the site; this condition meant that 
the construction traffic route needed to access from the east; and that the 
role of the Council as highway authority was to ensure that the planning 
condition was met as safely as possible and was managed properly.   

Mr. Birch stated that bearing in mind the above and due to the potential 
difficulties of widening Giddygate Lane, the developers had proposed that 
a one-way system using Angers Lane and Giddygate Lane should be 
used. The use of Angers Lane for inbound construction traffic would 
prevent opposing HGVs from meeting on the narrower section of 
Giddygate Lane, but due to the width of Angers Lane itself, would require 
this to be made one-way to prevent issues with opposing general traffic 
meeting head-on. There was still a section of Giddygate Lane on this route 
where oncoming large vehicles would not be able to pass, but it was a 
shorter section and appropriate measures could be implemented to ensure 
visibility and manage the movement of vehicles. 

This has implications for the farm business and residential property on 
Angers Lane, but it also meant that both those properties and the 
residential properties on Giddygate Lane would only experience the 
construction vehicles travelling in one direction.

In order to enable appropriate management of construction traffic and to 
ensure safety along the route, it was therefore essential to make a 
Temporary TTRO to implement the one-way arrangement on Angers 
Lane. This would ensure that the route was used as safely as possible and 
with as little disruption as possible. If the TTRO was not made, then there 
would be a significantly reduced level of control over the construction 
traffic route; and vehicles would be able to use either Angers Lane or 

Page 12

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - THURSDAY 9TH SEPTEMBER, 2021

8

Giddygate Lane as they wished, with the consequent risk of opposing 
traffic meeting head on and being unable to pass each other.

Mr. Birch concluded that the Council was obliged to implement the 
planning condition set out by the Planning Inspector and the creation of 
the one-way system on Angers Lane was a key part of the process and 
essential for managing the construction traffic to and from the 
development site.

Councillor Carr, lead call-in Member, Councillor Fairclough, Cabinet 
Member – Locality Services and Stephen Birch, Transport Planning and 
Highway Development Manager responded to questions/comments posed 
by Members of the Committee in relation to the call-in concerning:

 Bill Esterson M.P.’s letters to the developers urging construction of 
a haul road and the difficulties experienced with negotiations 
between the developers in respect of this issue

 If the TTRO was not introduced the ability of construction traffic to 
use whichever roads it wished to access the site as no enforceable 
restrictions would be in place 

 The Council being legally obliged to comply with the Planning 
Inspector’s condition and the Construction Environmental 
Management Plan

 Difficulties with the construction of a haul road due to land 
ownership issues

 Potential flooding issues and the responsibility and liability for 
repairing infrastructure damages

 The potential for the Cabinet Member to raise serious concerns 
about the requirement for a haul road which could pressurise the 
developers to construct such a road

 If the TTRO was not introduced and construction traffic used 
whichever routes they wished the safety of the highway could be 
compromised 

Councillor Fairclough, Cabinet Member – Locality Services then summed 
up his position.

Councillor Carr, on behalf of Councillors Dodd and Pugh summed up the 
position of the call-in Members.    

A Motion was moved by Councillor Myers and seconded by Councillor 
Page that the Committee is not concerned about the decision made by the 
Cabinet Member – Locality Services.

The Democratic Services Officer officiated the vote and the Chair declared 
that the Motion was carried by 7 votes to 2 and it was 

RESOLVED: That

(1) the validity of the call-in be accepted; and

Page 13

Agenda Item 3



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND 
SKILLS) - THURSDAY 9TH SEPTEMBER, 2021

9

(2) the Committee is not concerned and accepts the decision made by 
the Cabinet Member – Locality Services in relation to the Proposed 
Temporary Traffic Regulation Order – Angers Lane, Melling – One-
Way. 

Page 14

Agenda Item 3



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and 
Skills)

Date of Meeting: Tuesday 21 
September 2021

Subject: Winter Maintenance Policy & Operational Plan

Report of: Head of Highways 
and Public 
Protection

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Portfolio: Locality Services

Is this a Key 
Decision:

N Included in 
Forward Plan:

 No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

N

Summary:

To consider the revised policy document for approval for 2021/22

Recommendation(s):

That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) be requested to 
consider the Policy and Operational Plan and advise Cabinet Member – Locality 
Services of any issues or recommendations.

Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To approve a revised policy, following consultation with Elected Members during the 
summer of 2021.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

The Council could choose to retain the existing policy. Winter Service is a statutory 
function and not following the latest guidance will lead to an increased litigation risk to 
the authority.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs

The service is funded from the Transport and Highway Infrastructure revenue budget. 

(B) Capital Costs

None.

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

None.
Legal Implications:

Section 41(1A) of the Highways Act 1980 places a statutory duty on Highway 
Authorities in respect of winter conditions, as follows:-

‘In particular, a Highway Authority is under a duty to ensure, as far as is reasonably 
practicable, that safe passage along a highway is not endangered by snow or ice’.
Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact N
Have a neutral impact Y
Have a negative impact N
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

N

There are no additional routes planned and, therefore, there is a neutral impact.

A number of enhancements were made when the initial contract was awarded in 2018, 
including a brand new gritting fleet. The current vehicles are the latest models, which 
are more fuel efficient and environmentally friendly than the previous fleet.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable:
This is a universal service for the benefit of all.
Facilitate confident and resilient communities:
This is a universal service for the benefit of all.
Commission, broker and provide core services:
The Council has a statutory duty to provide a winter service function.
Place – leadership and influencer:
Providing sustainable services to support our communities and businesses.
Drivers of change and reform:
N/A
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity:
Providing sustainable services to support our communities and businesses.
Greater income for social investment: 
N/A
Cleaner Greener
Supports the latest technology to minimise the impact of the carbon economy.

Page 16

Agenda Item 4



What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD.6524/21.) 
and the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD.4725/21) have been consulted and any 
comments have been incorporated into the report.

(B) External Consultations 

Merseytravel.

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the expiry of the “call-in” period for the Minutes of the Cabinet Meeting.

(Please delete as appropriate and remove this text)

Contact Officer: Gary Jordan
Telephone Number: Tel: 0151 934 4731
Email Address: gary.jordan@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

Annex A - Consultation letter to Elected Members.

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 The Department provides a Highway Winter Service to the Borough in accordance 
with the Winter Service Policy and Operational Plan. Officers monitor the weather 
conditions 24 hours a day throughout the winter season and enact the plan when 
weather conditions dictate.

1.2 The Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003 (section 111) has inserted an 
additional section 41(1A) to the Highways Act 1980 which places a duty on the 
Highway Authorities in respect of winter conditions, and states ‘In particular, a 
Highway Authority is under duty to ensure, as far as reasonably practicable, that 
safe passage along a highway is not endangered by snow or ice’.

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



1.3 In addition, The Traffic Management Act 2004 placed a Statutory Network 
Management Duty on all local traffic authorities in England. It requires authorities 
to do all that is reasonably practicable to manage the network effectively to keep 
traffic moving. In meeting the duty, authorities should establish contingency plans 
for dealing promptly and effectively with unplanned events, such as unforeseen 
weather conditions, as far as is reasonably practicable.

1.4 The Council operates to a Winter Service Policy and Operational Plan which has 
been approved by the Council and is reviewed each summer to ensure that it 
remains ‘fit for purpose’.

1.5 Cabinet, at its meeting on 13th October 2011, resolved to authorise the Director of 
Built Environment (now Head of Highways and Public Protection) to make any 
further revisions to the Winter Service Policy and Operational Plan in consultation 
with Cabinet Member Transportation (now Highways & Locality Services). There 
is, therefore, no requirement to take this revision back to Cabinet for further 
approval.

2.0. Consultation

2.1 The Winter Service Policy and Operational Plan is subject to an annual review, 
reassessment and consultation.

2.2 In accordance with Cabinet Member’s wishes, a consultation letter was sent to 
every Elected Member and a copy is attached as Annex A. The closing date for 
responses was 30th July 2021.

2.3 Merseytravel were also contacted and asked if there have been any revisions to 
their bus routes since last year.

3.0 Revisions to the Policy

3.1 The Winter Service Policy and Operational Plan is based on guidance provided by 
the government in a document entitled ‘Well Managed Highway Infrastructure’. 
Guidance relating to practical issues and delivery of the service is now contained 
within the National Winter Service Research Group (NWSRG) Practical Guidance 
Documents.

3.2 A number of enhancements have previously been made to the winter service 
policy to ensure that we are compliant with this guidance. These include a new 
purpose-built salt storage facility, capable of holding 3500 tonnes of rocksalt and 
new gritting vehicles with the latest technology to allow for optimum spread rates.

3.3 Officers will review any revised and updated guidance, as and when it is released, 
to ensure that we are kept fully compliant with the latest recommendations.

3.4 There were two responses received as a result of the consultation with Elected 
Members, who confirmed that they felt the existing policy was fit for purpose.

3.5 Merseytravel have responded with a request to grit Blowick Moss Lane in 
Southport. This location, however, is not part of the adopted highway network and 
it is not proposed to include this location at present. The policy has been updated 

Page 18

Agenda Item 4



to make it clear we only treat the adopted highway locations. It is proposed to 
send a response to Merseytravel that we can include this location, if they were 
prepared to fund the additional cost.

3.6 Information has been received from Gallagher Basset regarding potential 
insurance implications arising from ad-hoc requests for spot gritting. A case study 
from 2015 was referenced, in which a local Authority was partially liable for a 
gritting claim as a result of not responding to police requests for additional gritting. 
We believe that this is already covered in our policy and we have provided 
Gallager Bassett with the relevant information. If there are any further potential 
implications highlighted from Gallagher Bassett, this will be reported separately.

3.7 Based on the responses received and the current winter service policy, there are 
no revisions proposed for this year.

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



Annex A

Highways & Public Protection
Magdalen House
30 Trinity Road
Bootle
Merseyside  L20 3NJ

Date:
Our Ref: NWM/WM/GJ
Your Ref:
Please contact: Gary Jordan
Contact Number: 0151 934 4731
Fax No: 0151 934 4801

Councillors

e-mail: network@sefton.gov.uk

Dear Councillor

Winter Service Review 2021

I am writing to you on behalf of my Cabinet Member, Councillor John Fairclough, regarding the 
above. Each year during the early summer, we review the winter service policy and operational 
plan from the previous season to ascertain if members have any comments they would like taken 
into account in the review.

During last season we gritted the carriageway routes on 50 occasions and the footway routes 22 
times. As a result of Government guidance issued before the start of the season, we also 
included the gritting of the covid sites into our routes. This was a fluid process and changed a 
number of times to include temporary sites that were erected for surge testing etc,

To give you a comparison, the gritting figures for previous years were- 34 carriageway and 8 
footway routes in 2019/20, 43 carriageway and 11 footway in 2018/19, 78 carriageway and 18 
footway in 2017/18.

We also took control of our new winter hub at Heysham Road, Netherton. This has helped us 
increase our resilience with increased salt supplies and allowed us to centralise all operations 
into one purpose-built facility. There are other benefits such as being able to respond more 
quickly to unexpected events which will help us for the foreseeable future.

With the above in mind, the winter service policy continues to serve the Council well and officers, 
who were on duty 24 hours per day over the whole season, were always able to provide the 
appropriate response to the prevailing conditions. 

Whilst officers are confident that the policy remains fit for purpose, Councillor Fairclough has 
requested that all Elected Members be contacted to seek their views on the service during the 
winter of 2020/21, ensure that any issues can be addressed during the summer period and any 
further revisions considered before the commencement of the winter season 2021/22. I would, 
therefore, be grateful if you could advise me of any issues you would like to raise regarding the 
policy and the provision of the winter service. I would be grateful to hear from you by 30th July 
2021 to allow sufficient time to revise and present the policy for approval.

The existing policy and operational plan is available to view by following this link:

Page 20

Agenda Item 4

mailto:network@sefton.gov.uk


Gritting (sefton.gov.uk)

Following receipt of any issues raised by Elected Members, the policy will be revised as 
appropriate and presented to Cabinet Member for approval and adoption for the coming winter 
season. The finalised policy and operational plan will then be presented to Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee (Regeneration & Skills) on 21st September 2021.

Yours sincerely

 

Dave Marrin
Highway Management Manager

Page 21

Agenda Item 4

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/parking-roads-travel/gritting/


This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and 
Skills)

Cabinet

Council

Date of Meeting:  21 September 2021

 
7 October 2021

18 November 2021

Subject: Effectiveness of the 
Council’s 
Enforcement Activity 
Working Group Final 
Report

Wards Affected: All 

Report of: Chief Legal and Democratic Officer

Cabinet 
Portfolios

Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services; Communities and 
Housing; Locality Services

Is this a Key 
Decision?

Yes Is it included in the Forward Plan? Yes

Exempt/Confidential No 

Purpose/Summary

To seek formal approval of the Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity 
Working Group Final Report

Recommendations

Committee, Cabinet and Council

That:

(1) a very significant increase in uniformed enforcement officers be established to 
tackle the problems of littering, fly-tipping and rear entry dumping; 

(2) a high-profile publicity campaign be introduced to highlight the increased 
enforcement activity to be undertaken;

(3) as part of the evidence base to understand the options for an additional 
enforcement regime, an evaluation should take place to detail the invest to save 
opportunities that may exist that could reduce demand on Cleansing Services 
as enforcement activity is increased with the requirement for the proposal to be 
cost neutral on the Council’s budget; and

(4) (a) Investigations take place to see whether sanctions could be 
imposed on private landlords, via the Selective Licensing Scheme, 
for the anti-social actions of their tenants in littering and dumping 
rubbish in rear entries; and 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



(b) All registered social landlords operating in Sefton be contacted 
and urged to consider taking action against those tenants who act 
irresponsibly and fly-tip or dump rubbish in rear entries 

Reasons for the Recommendation

The Working Group has made a number of recommendations that require approval by 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills), Cabinet and Council.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 

No alternative options were considered. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and Skills) established the Working Group to look at the Effectiveness of 
the Council’s Enforcement Activity and the Working Group has performed this task.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
One recommendation of the Working Group is that “a very significant increase in 
uniformed enforcement officers be established to tackle the problems of littering, 
fly-tipping and rear entry dumping“; and it was suggested that funding for this 
increase could come from part of the 2021/22 budget that identified an additional 
£500k to tackle street scene problems. This will have significant revenue 
implications and if approved would need to be the subject of a detailed report by 
the Head of Highways and Public Protection to Cabinet on the budgetary 
implications. A further recommendation of the Working Group is that “as part of 
the evidence base to support the additional enforcement regime investigations 
take place to detail the invest to save benefits associated with the reduced 
demand on Cleansing Services as enforcement activity is increased”. This may 
off-set some revenue costs.
 

(B) Capital Costs
As referred to above any capital costs associated with the implementation of 
recommendations would need to be the subject of a detailed report by the Head of 
Highways and Public Protection to Cabinet on the budgetary implications.

Implications:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Financial: see Revenue Costs section above

Legal: None 

Human Resources: None

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



Equality
1. No Equality Implication

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains

Climate Emergency Implications

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose

Protect the most vulnerable: None directly associated with this report
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: None directly associated with this 
report 
Commission, broker and provide core services: The cleansing service operated by 
the Council is a core service. Recommendations contained in the Working Group’s Final 
Report seek to increase the number of uniformed enforcement officers to tackle the 
problems of littering, fly-tipping and rear entry dumping; and for investigations to take 
place to detail the invest to save benefits associated with the reduced demand on 
Cleansing Services as enforcement activity is increased. The aim is to improve service 
provision for Sefton’s communities

Place – leadership and influencer: None directly associated with this report  
Drivers of change and reform: None directly associated with this report
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: None directly associated with this report

Greater income for social investment: None directly associated with this report
Cleaner Greener: The aim of the Working Group’s recommendations are to reduce the 
amount of littering, fly-tipping and rear entry dumping in the borough and thereby create 
a cleaner environment; and that in so doing improve the intangible benefits of the 
service in that people’s well-being improved in a cleaner and safer environment.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6523/21) 
has been consulted and notes there are no direct financial implications arising from this 
report.

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD 4724/21) is the author of the report.

The Head of Highways and Public Protection and the former Head of Locality Services 



Page 25

Agenda Item 5



were involved in Working Group meetings 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Council meeting 

Contact Officer:  Paul Fraser
Tel: 0151 934 2068
Email: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection

Introduction/Background

1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) approved the 
establishment of a Working Group to review the Effectiveness of the Council’s 
Enforcement Activity with the terms of reference and objectives set out below.

2. The range of enforcement activity undertaken by the Council is very wide and the 
enforcement or regulatory activity itself generally falls within the scrutiny remit of 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services). The Working Group therefore particularly focused on the potential and 
actual impact of the Council’s enforcement activity on regeneration and skills 
within the borough. 

3. In the context of the Council’s activities, the purpose of enforcement activity is 
generally to secure compliance with specific requirements and standards 
considered necessary or desirable by society. These requirements and standards 
may impact on everyone (e.g. air quality, consumer protection, planning and 
building controls etc.) or specific groups (e.g. employers, employees, parents of 
school children etc.). 

Enforcement is only one of the tools available for securing compliance, and in 
determining effectiveness of enforcement activity the Working Group considered 
how well other tools are or could be applied, including: Education (promoting and 
encouraging compliance through an understanding of the benefits and 
consequences of compliance/non-compliance, e.g. road safety campaigns); and 
Engineering (designing the environment or processes to make compliance the 
default option and/or make non-compliance more difficult, e.g. highway speed 
bumps).

4. It was therefore necessary for the Working Group to explore:

 The range of enforcement activity the Council is responsible for;
 The purposes of the enforcement activity;
 The nature of any potential and actual impact (positive or negative), from the 

enforcement activity, on regeneration and skills;
 How effectively the impact is or can be managed, to either minimise and/or 

Page 26

Agenda Item 5



mitigate any negative impact or maximise positive impact on regeneration and 
skills; and

to review the topic of the Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity, 
considering:

 Current Sefton enforcement policies and practise
 Areas of good practise within the Council
 Good practise within other local authorities or similar organisations
 Areas for improvement within the Council’s policies and practise
 Recommendations for improving the Council’s policies and practise

Review of Scoping Document

5. At its meeting held on 28 January 2021 the Working Group agreed to narrow the 
focus of the Scoping Document to concentrate on littering, fly-tipping and dumping 
in rear entries. A copy of the revised Scoping Document can be viewed here

6. To support this focus Members detailed their experiences and the views of their 
constituents as detailed below:

 It was accepted that the issue of littering and fly-tipping/rear entry dumping 
was a problem in Sefton and particularly in the south of the borough, 
despite the great efforts of Cleansing Services staff. This could be 
evidenced by a recent meeting held with Derby Ward Councillors, Peter 
Dowd MP and local residents to discuss littering and rubbish dumping in the 
area. Reference was also made to littering in Maghull parks even though 
there was ample provision of litter bins. There was clearly an attitudinal 
problem with some people in this regard   

 Littering and fly-tipping produced an unappealing environmental situation 
and could have a negative impact on residents’ quality of life, created a 
poor perception of the borough to visitors and tourists and could hinder 
economic investment and regeneration

 Enforcement statistics relating to littering offences were referred to and a 
query was raised about the discrepancies of fixed penalty notices (FPN) 
issued in differing parts of the borough, for example Dukes Ward (938) to 
Linacre Ward (275). It was explained that the number of FPN’s issued will 
be influenced by several factors. These include the number offences, but 
also the number and nature of the patrols, footfall, and differing 
characteristics of areas. Patrols police a number of offences, including 
littering, dog fouling and parking offences, and the time spent on patrols is 
divided across areas where these offences are anticipated. In some patrol 
areas officers may be more likely to observe more than one type of offence 
than in others (e.g. when patrolling for parking in high footfall areas, officers 
may be more likely to also see littering) and this will influence numbers 
issued.

 Examples of positive community activity were detailed whereby local 
residents removed fly-tipped rubbish from their areas and cleared weeds 
from rear entries. This improved amenity spaces and created community 
pride in the area               

 Cleansing teams and enforcement staff needed to be more visible in local 
communities; and efforts should be made to generate partnership working 

Page 27

Agenda Item 5

http://smbc-modgov-03/admin/mgCatAdmin.aspx?rid=104&selected=13881&expand=13881
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2774&ID=2774&RPID=28102096


between the Council and residents 
 Comment was made that robust enforcement of small disorders such as 

littering offences could lead to improvements in other, bigger areas; and a 
trial operation a number of years ago was referred to in the Knowsley/Peel 
area involving the police and other agencies. Reference was also made to a 
visit by elected Members to Wirral to look at the operation of the borough’s 
civil enforcement contract. It was found that the contractor concentrated 
enforcement efforts on low level offences and the message spread that the 
Council was serious about taking action where necessary    

 Difficulties however were acknowledged in relation to the Council’s 
enforcement activity. For example, only two enforcement officers were 
employed by the Council to deal with cleansing issues; and evidence had to 
be obtained of offences to secure a conviction beyond reasonable doubt. 
Regarding enforcement officer numbers it was suggested that it may be 
beneficial to increase levels or to look at alternative external provision. For 
example, procuring the services of PCSO’s to undertake enforcement 
activity in a short, sharp campaign. An investigation of cost benefit analysis 
or opportunity costs could show that increased expenditure in one area 
could be set against reduced expenditure in others

 It would be helpful to receive the views of NSL staff and hear of their 
experiences undertaking enforcement action in the borough  

 Information was sought on the terms of the Council’s NSL civil enforcement 
contract and whether parking enforcement staff could enforce littering and 
fly-tipping offences. It was explained that littering offences could be 
enforced but not fly-tipping

 Problems were referred to whereby residents placed their refuse sacks out 
for collection immediately after refuse collectors had collected from the 
street; resulting in sacks being left in the street for a week and split open by 
animals. It would be helpful if NSL staff could speak to perpetrators to 
advise them of the detrimental impact of their actions. It was explained that 
a further roll out of wheeled bins and communal bins would be shortly 
introduced and that it was hoped that this would alleviate issues with black 
sacks being put out at the wrong times. However, an elected Member 
indicated that there was a reluctance in large areas of his ward to the 
introduction of such new bins; and that it was essential that adequate 
consultation was undertaken to ensure residents’ wishes were reflected in 
any roll out. It was explained that any problems could be reviewed on an 
area by area basis

 CCTV could be used as an important enforcement tool, particularly if 
targeted at known hot spots. A suggestion was made that devolved Ward 
Budgets could be used to purchase additional CCTV equipment for such 
use               

7. The Working Group met on seven occasions to undertake such review and its 
Final Report, together with associated recommendations, is attached. 

8. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills), Cabinet and 
Council are requested to support the contents of the Working Group Final Report 
and approve the recommendations contained therein. 

Page 28

Agenda Item 5



Page 29

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
(REGENERATION AND SKILLS)

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE COUNCIL’S ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY 
WORKING GROUP

FINAL REPORT
SEPTEMBER 2021

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



‘Valuing
Improvement’
www.sefton.gov.uk

Page 32

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
1

CONTENTS PAGE

Paragraph 
and Title

Page 
No.

Lead Member’s Introduction 2

1. Background 3

2. Terms of Reference and Objectives 3

3. Methods of Enquiry 5

4. Working Group Meeting – 26 November 2018 5

5. Working Group Meeting – 25 February 2019 7

6. Working Group Meeting - 18 March 2019 8

7. Working Group Meeting – 4 September 2019 10

8. Working Group Meeting – 28 January 2021 14

9. Working Group Meeting – 15 April 2021 18

10 Working Group Meeting – 1 July 2021 21

11. Approval of Final Report – August 2021 27

12. Recommendations 27

13. Documentation Considered by The Working Group 27

14. Acknowledgements and Membership Details 29

Page 33

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
2

LEAD MEMBER’S INTRODUCTION

I am very pleased to introduce this Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration 
and Skills) Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity Working Group report. 
 
The Working Group adhered to its established terms of reference and objectives 
(see paragraph 2 below) in the drafting of its recommendations. Due to a number of 
factors, including lockdown restrictions imposed due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
Working Group did not meet for some considerable time. At its meeting held on 28 
January 2021 the Working Group took the opportunity to review the Scoping 
Document to ensure that it was still valid; and to consider whether it needed to be 
narrowed to focus on more specific activities such as fly tipping / rear entries, or a 
similar focus area, whilst maintaining the particularly focus on the potential and 
actual impact of enforcement activity on the Regeneration and Skills portfolio within 
the borough. This course of action was agreed and further details can be found in 
Paragraph 8 of the Final Report. 

I wish to thank all those people who gave up their valuable time to be involved with 
the Working Group. The input and expertise of officers and witnesses greatly helped 
the Working Group in the formulation of its recommendations. Finally, I am extremely 
grateful to my fellow Working Group Members for their commitment, ideas and 
contribution.

Councillor John Sayers
Lead Member, Effectiveness of 
the Council’s Enforcement Activity 
Working Group

Page 34

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
3

1.0  BACKGROUND

1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) established 
the Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity Working Group. 

1.2 Councillors Liz Dowd, Michael Roche, Dave Robinson and John Sayers and 
former Councillors Mike Booth and David Pullin were appointed to serve on 
the Working Group. Councillor Michael O’Brien was also a much-valued 
member of the Working Group but very sadly passed away in September 
2020.  

1.3 At the first meeting of the Working Group Councillor John Sayers was 
appointed Lead Member. Details of Working Group meetings are set out 
below:

Date Activity
26.11.18 Scoping Document considered

Information on enforcement activity undertaken by the Council 
considered

25.02.19 Scoping Document approved
Presentations, site visit and additional information identified 

18.03.19 Presentations on legal enforcement powers available to the Council and 
planning enforcement received

04.09.19 Briefing notes on promotional campaign to combat litter problems 
associated fast-food outlets; costs to clear fly-tipped waste; and the NSL 
civil enforcement contract

28.01.21 Review of the Scoping Document; update on actions requested at 
previous meeting

15.04.21 Interviewed witnesses from NSL to obtain their views of and hear of their 
experiences undertaking enforcement action in the borough

01.07.21 Considered options for consideration to address the scale and visibility 
of enforcement resources and the need to focus on environmental 
issues such as littering and fly-tipping; and best practice in other local 
authorities as to how they operated their civil enforcement contracts 
including alternative approaches whereby the contractor was only paid 
based on performance and outcome

08.21 Consideration of initial findings, draft report and recommendations 
approved via email

2.0TERMS OF REFERENCE AND OBJECTIVES

2.1 The Terms of Reference and Objectives of the Working Group were approved 
as part of the scoping exercise at the second meeting and are set out below. 

2.2 Terms of Reference and Objectives

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) has agreed 
to establish a Working Group to review the topic of the Effectiveness of the 

Page 35

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
4

Council’s Enforcement Activity. The range of enforcement activity undertaken 
by the Council is very wide and the enforcement or regulatory activity itself 
generally falls within the scrutiny remit of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services). The Working 
Group will therefore particularly focus on the potential and actual impact of the 
Council’s enforcement activity on regeneration and skills within the borough. 
This is likely to lead to the Working Group focusing on those areas of 
enforcement activity though to have most potential or actual impact.

In the context of the Council’s activities, the purpose of enforcement activity is 
generally to secure compliance with specific requirements and standards 
considered necessary or desirable by society. These requirements and 
standards may impact on everyone (e.g. air quality, consumer protection, 
planning and building controls etc.) or specific groups (e.g. employers, 
employees, parents of school children etc.). 

Enforcement is only one of the tools available for securing compliance, and in 
determining effectiveness of enforcement activity the Working Group may 
need to consider how well other tools are or could be applied, including: 
Education (promoting and encouraging compliance through an understanding 
of the benefits and consequences of compliance/non-compliance, e.g. road 
safety campaigns); and Engineering (designing the environment or processes 
to make compliance the default option and/or make non-compliance more 
difficult, e.g. highway speed bumps). 

It will be necessary for the Working Group to explore:

 The range of enforcement activity the Council is responsible for;
 The purposes of the enforcement activity;
 The nature of any potential and actual impact (positive or negative), from 

the enforcement activity, on regeneration and skills;
 How effectively the impact is or can be managed, to either minimise and/or 

mitigate any negative impact or maximise positive impact on regeneration 
and skills.

To review the topic of the Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity, 
considering:

 Current Sefton enforcement policies and practise
 Areas of good practise within the Council
 Good practise within other local authorities or similar organisations
 Areas for improvement within the Council’s policies and practise
 Recommendations for improving the Council’s policies and practise

Review of Scoping Document

At its meeting held on 28 January 2021 the Working Group agreed to narrow 

Page 36

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
5

the focus of the Scoping Document to concentrate on littering, fly-tipping and 
dumping in rear entries. A copy of the revised Scoping Document can be 
viewed here

3.0    METHODS OF ENQUIRY

3.1 Dependent upon the refined scope of the review, to include:
 Analysis of current Sefton practice
 Desktop research into practise elsewhere
 Witness interviews with officers, stakeholders, experts and other 

organisations
 Possible site visits / conference calls with experts and other organisations

4.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 26 NOVEMBER 2018

4.1 The Working Group considered the formulation of its Scoping Document at 
the meeting.

4.2 Members took cognisance of the table of information provided elsewhere on 
the agenda regarding enforcement activity undertaken by the Council and 
commented on the following issues: 

 Why was there no mention of SeftonArc in the table of enforcement 
activity? A response was given that SeftonArc was not an 
enforcement service but responded to situations

 Did SeftonArc undertake security services? A response was given 
that SeftonArc could provide CCTV and alarm systems to provide 
safety and security, offering bespoke services covering design, 
installation, maintenance, monitoring and response. An example was 
given regarding the response to fire alarms being triggered. The fire 
service did not routinely attend buildings where a fire alarm had been 
activated unless a second check had been made to verify the alert 
was not a false alarm. SeftonArc undertook this task via the use of 
CCTV or by a visit to the premises. SeftonArc also reported street 
light outages and some highway issues to the appropriate colleagues 
within the Council

 Did SeftonArc receive enforcement or security budgetary provision 
from the Council? No

 Information was sought on economies of scale and the broadening of 
services provided by SeftonArc. A response was given that next year 
all electrical inspection and testing would be brought back in-house

 Information on SeftonArc could be obtained by using the link 
http://www.seftonarc.com/  

 Parking on pavements and double yellow lines was a big problem but 
the Police did not have the resources to enforce the matter and the 
Council had limited powers to enforce

Page 37

Agenda Item 5

http://smbc-modgov-03/admin/mgCatAdmin.aspx?rid=104&selected=13881&expand=13881
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Enforcement%20Activity%20Undertaken%20by%20the%20Council&ID=2559&RPID=22378740
http://www.seftonarc.com/


Overview and Scrutiny
6

 How many planning enforcement officers were in the Council? A 
response was given that there were three enforcement officers and 
that they had a close working relationship with other colleagues in the 
authority

 Concern was expressed about the areas that generated lots of 
complaints, for example, parking, dog fouling, fly-tipping and anti-
social behaviour; and that often, enforcement activity was not visible 
and this was then a secondary cause of complaint. A response was 
given that the purpose of enforcement needed to be understood in 
order that its effectiveness could be measured. Each enforcement 
area would have a different purpose and often operated under 
separate rules. It was acknowledged that the level of enforcement did 
have an impact on our communities. A comment was made that some 
service areas were not responsible for the enforcement undertaken 
affecting those services. For example, the cleansing service was 
responsible for spotting and clearing fly-tipping but enforcement of fly-
tipping offences was pursued by colleagues in environmental 
protection. There had been an increase in the number of incidents of 
fly-tipping yet the levels of prosecutions had not increased 
correspondingly. A suggestion was made that support could be 
provided by other colleagues, such as Cleansing Supervisors, to 
improve enforcement in this area. Furthermore, cuts due to austerity 
measures had impacted on the Council’s ability to enforce. It was 
therefore important to “educate” as a means to prevent the need for 
enforcement

 Could the income generated by fines be used to increase the funding 
for enforcement activity? A response was given that some income 
was re-invested into enforcement budgets whist the remainder was 
used for the Council’s general budget. This matter had to be handled 
sensitively from a communications angle to promote a positive 
message; as some news agencies would be happy to put a negative 
spin on the matter to criticise the Council. 

 It would be productive to look at enforcement in relation to how it was 
resourced and how the “three E’s” (Educate, Enforce, Engineer) could 
be used 

 Issues relating to neighbourhoods/environmental/anti-social 
behaviour/public realm/CCTV appeared to be the areas for the 
Working Group to investigate

 It would be helpful for the Working Group to receive a presentation 
from the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer on the legal enforcement 
powers available to the Council 

 It would be helpful if the Scoping Document could include the 
identification of best enforcement practice from other local authorities

4.3 Accordingly, the Head of Locality Services and the Head of Highways and 
Public Protection were requested to prepare a Scoping Document, taking into 
account the comments referred to above, for consideration by the next 

Page 38

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
7

meeting of the Working Group

5.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 25 FEBRUARY 2019

5.1 The Working Group considered its Scoping Document prepared by the Head 
of Highways and Public Protection. 

5.2 Members of the Working Group commented on and discussed the following 
issues:

 The nature of any potential and actual impact (positive or negative), 
from the enforcement activity, on regeneration and skills; and in 
particular, the balance between getting the right level of enforcement 
without being over burdensome on businesses 

 An enforcement campaign instigated by Wirral MBC to tackle litter 
problems at a local shopping centre

 A procedure to be adopted to ensure that culprits pay for the removal 
of their fly-tipping

 How unclean, litter strewn environments and anti-social behaviour 
discourage investment in areas where such problems arise and lead 
to a spiral of decline

 The importance of having well trained, professional civil enforcement 
officers to ensure that the public have faith in them undertaking their 
duties

 The number of fines issued for parking breaches in comparison to 
littering offences

 The perception that civil enforcement officers choose “easy targets” 
regarding littering offenders 

 Income received from fines should be ring-fenced to undertake 
additional enforcement activity

 Do civil enforcement officers have to meet performance indicators
 Regarding fly-tipping could more investment be made with the 

Council’s contractor to target offenders and the utilisation of 
performance indicators to measure the success of the enhanced 
scheme

 The potential to use “private cost policing”
 The use of technology such as CCTV at known hotspots to obtain 

evidence and prosecutions against fly-tippers or for other offences
 New legislation allowing the use of dash cam footage to obtain littering 

prosecutions; and the potential installation of dash cams on all Council 
vehicles

 Engagement with landlords in areas with high transient tenant 
numbers to reduce incidences of fly-tipping

 The extremely high percentage of litter that is fast-food related and the 
potential to engage with fast-food outlets to start a promotional 
campaign to combat their associated litter problems 

 Litter problems caused by licensed drivers at hackney carriage ranks 

Page 39

Agenda Item 5

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2597&ID=2597&RPID=22378767


Overview and Scrutiny
8

and private hire parking areas
 The recent establishment by the Head of Highways and Public 

Protection of an officer Working Group to review enforcement activity 
associated with housing, highways and cleansing issues

 The use of “invest to save” to enhance the Council’s enforcement 
activity    

 The use of statistics to quantify the performance of enforcement 
activity by comparing one year’s figures with another  

5.3 The Working Group approved its Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement 
Activity Scoping Document.

6.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 18 MARCH 2019

6.1 Legal Enforcement Powers available to the Council – Presentation

6.2 The Working Group received a presentation from Fiona Townsend, Legal 
and Democratic Services on the legal enforcement powers available to the 
Council.

Ms. Townsend referred to: 

 The legislation giving local authorities power to prosecute criminal 
offences investigated by their own departments

 Which enforcement powers are available to local authority officers 
when investigating potential breaches and dependent on which 
legislation may have been breached

 Criminal prosecutions
 Enforcement notices/criminal prosecutions/financial penalties
 Financial penalties or magistrates court prosecution/enforcement 

notices
 Anti- Social Behaviour Crime and Policing Act 2014
 Government guidance for frontline professionals

6.3 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the 
following issues:

 Enforcement associated with anti-social behaviour in housing 
properties

 The use of bailiffs for debt recovery
 The process used for the eviction of travellers
 The number of prosecutions for littering offences
 The importance of publicising prosecutions to not only act as a 

deterrent but to publicise that the Council was taking action as there 
was a perception in some quarters that the Council did little in this 
regard

 Cross-departmental liaison between officers to identify recurring 

Page 40

Agenda Item 5

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2597&ID=2597&RPID=22378767
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2652&ID=2652&RPID=22378789
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2652&ID=2652&RPID=22378789


Overview and Scrutiny
9

issues and to agree mechanisms to ensure swifter prosecutions
 The possibility, including contact with Government, to increase the 

penalties for bye-law offences
 Did the income from fines go to the Council
 The use of barristers to undertake prosecution work
 Cross local authority cooperation regarding prosecutions

6.4 Planning Enforcement - Presentation

6.5 The Working Group received a presentation from Derek McKenzie, Chief 
Planning Officer on the draft revised Planning Enforcement Protocol. The 
Protocol explained the purpose and function of planning enforcement and set 
out the priorities and performance standards that Planning Officers would be 
working to. 

Mr. McKenzie referred to:

 The purpose of planning enforcement - Key Principles
 Issues to consider when investigating alleged breaches
 How the Council defines “Harm”
 The Council’s four-point priority schedule
 Key and other performance targets
 Powers available to the Council
 How cases are deemed to be resolved after investigation
 Cases resolved (01.11.18 – 31.01.19) and that 220 complaints had 

been closed in this period
 Reporting a potential breach
 Conclusions which included the need to be clear on the critical tests of 

Enforcement and to understand the effects of unauthorised 
development and the need to keep things in perspective

6.6 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the 
following issues:

 The powers available to the Council to speed up development once 
planning permission had been granted or to keep the application sites 
in a suitable condition

 The prior approval process
 The use of technology to administer complaints from residents 
 Regarding the resolved cases in the three-month period referred to in 

the presentation, the numbers of such cases that were vexatious or 
that there was simply no merit in the complaint

 The suggestion by Mr. McKenzie that a flow chart be produced to set 
out the steps taken in the enforcement process across services was 
commended by Members

Page 41

Agenda Item 5

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2598&ID=2598&RPID=22378797


Overview and Scrutiny
10

7.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 4 SEPTEMBER 2019

7.1 Promotional Campaign with Fast-Food Outlets 

7.2 The Working Group considered the joint briefing note of the Head of 
Highways and Public Protection and the Head of Locality Services on the 
potential to engage with fast-food outlets to start a promotional campaign to 
combat litter problems associated with their activities.

The briefing note indicated that there were approximately 250 takeaways 
across the Borough covering a wide range of premises types - e.g. burger 
outlets, chip shops, pizza outlets, kebab shops, Chinese and Indian 
Takeaways, coffee shops, sandwich shops and bakeries; that such business 
were required to ensure that they made adequate provision for waste storage 
and prevented the loss of control of waste and had appropriate 
arrangements in place to control waste transfer and disposal from their 
premises; and that the Council undertook educational and enforcement 
activity with businesses to secure compliance with the above requirements. 

The briefing note also provided details of the enforcement powers available 
to the Council if businesses were found to be in contravention of the above 
requirements such as the service of a notice requiring improvement [21 
days]; or service a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) [S47 - £75; S34 - £300] with 
subsequent prosecution in the magistrate’s court for any non-payment. The 
Council also had powers to issue a Community Protection Notice (CPN) to 
an individual or body if it could be evidenced that their conduct "was having a 
detrimental effect of a persistent or continuing nature on the quality of life of 
those in the locality and the conduct is unreasonable".

The briefing note also provided information on litter infrastructure and 
services and that Sefton Council provided more litter bins than most similar 
sized Council’s, with 1300 bins compared to approximately 800 that would be 
expected in a borough of Sefton’s size. Consequently, the Council’s 
collection costs were also high, 3rd highest in the North West according to 
figures published by APSE.

Regarding promotional campaigns the Council had in the past undertaken 
dedicated high profile anti-littering campaigns, using additional funding that 
had from time-to-time been available; and that the Council currently 
promoted anti-littering and positive behavioural messages through Social 
Media channels as part of the Council’s Corporate Message Schedule, often 
linked to occasions when littering had the potential to increase (e.g. holiday 
periods, events etc.). This was a cost-efficient promotional channel but it was 
difficult to gauge impact.  

The briefing note concluded that there was scope and benefit to be gained 

Page 42

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
11

from engaging with fast food outlets in relation to promotional campaigns but 
there were several questions to consider, including:

 What resources could be identified and do Members wish to allocate 
to support such campaigns?

 What priority do Members attach to litter, compared with other issues 
e.g. dog fouling, fly tipping?

 What should be engagement focus be - national brands, local 
businesses, specific types of outlet/litter?

7.3 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the 
following issues:

 The number of litter-picking groups across Sefton on the public 
highway, on un-adopted roads and in parks and greenspaces under 
the control of Green Sefton

 Is there a breakdown of the localities where the 1900 fixed penalty 
notices for littering were issued?  

 The costs of the parking enforcement operation and the associated 
income generated from parking fixed penalty notices

 Sefton residents may be unaware that civil enforcement officers also 
issue fixed penalty notices for other offences than parking 
contraventions 

 The potential to expand the civil enforcement contract so long as it 
“breaks even” 

 Litter problems caused by hackney/private hire drivers at ranks
 In respect of promotional campaigns it was indicated that some 

residents’ association members would be willing to distribute leaflets 
highlighting the problems associated with littering, particularly 
dumping of rubbish in rear entries. Could leaflets be produced for 
distribution by residents’ groups?

 The potential to use Ward budgets and Section 106 monies for 
promotional campaigns to combat litter and fly-tipping problems

 Publicising the fact that 1900 fixed penalty notices for littering offences 
had been issued in 2018 could help with the educational approach to 
combat the problem; and that “naming and shaming” was also a 
useful tool. However, it was acknowledged that the press often 
portrayed press releases on this subject in a negative manner

 Positive information that could be publicised was that fact that Sefton 
provided more litter bins than most similar sized Council’s, with 1300 
bins compared to approximately 800 that would be expected in a 
borough of Sefton’s size        

Working Group Members were keen to pursue issues associated with this 
matter and requested:

(1) the Head of Highways and Public Protection be requested to provide 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
12

information on the localities where the 1900 fixed penalty notices for 
littering were issued; and

(2) the Head of Communities be requested to liaise with the Head of 
Locality Services on the production of promotional leaflets for 
distribution by residents’ groups to combat the problems of littering 
and fly-tipping.

7.4 Costs to Clear Fly-Tipped Waste

7.5 The Working Group received an update from the Cleansing Services 
Manager on the costs to clear fly-tipped waste.   

Mr. Berwick indicated that in the last financial year the cost of fly tipping 
across the borough was some £800k. This cost could be split between the 
north and the south of the borough, with a cost of £150k in the north and 
£650k in the south. These costs included the four rear entry teams, 
collection, transport and disposal costs, with the disposal cost currently being 
£136 per tonne. The rear entry teams effectively spent their working week 
removing and disposing of fly tipped material from rear entries. They also 
provided additional support when dealing with larger scale fly tipping 
incidents.

In the north of the borough, the fly tipping was predominantly 'lighter' material 
such as rubbish bags, household waste, beds, sofas, carpets, etc. whilst in 
the south of the borough, there was more 'heavy' material such as skip 
contents, builders’ rubble, tyres, and hazardous material such as asbestos. 
Asbestos was the most expensive item to remove and fly tipping incidents 
usually cost at least £1,000 due to the specialist nature of the removal and 
disposal. The next most expensive items for removal were tyres, which cost 
between £8 and £15 per tyre dependent upon size and location.

The average fly tip incident in the south of the borough cost £400 for 
collection and transport to Gillmoss tip (including labour and disposal costs); 
whilst in the north of the borough, the average cost per incident was £300 as 
it tended to be 'lighter' material as detailed above.

Mr. Berwick also referred to the Government’s Resources and Waste 
Strategy, published in 2018 which set out how it would preserve the nation’s 
stock of material resources by minimising waste, promoting resource 
efficiency and moving towards a circular economy. A consultation was 
undertaken on the Strategy and the Government’s initial response  had now 
been published.  

7.5 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the 
following issues:

 Investigations to apprehend people regularly fly-tipping tyres across 

Page 44

Agenda Item 5

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Our%20Waste%20Our%20Resources%20A%20Strategy%20for%20England&ID=2682&RPID=24003943
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Our%20Waste%20Our%20Resources%20A%20Strategy%20for%20England&ID=2682&RPID=24003943
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2683&ID=2683&RPID=24003945


Overview and Scrutiny
13

the borough
 The use of CCTV to combat incidences of fly-tipping. It was 

acknowledged that difficulties could arise in this respect due to 
restrictions contained in the Regulation of Investigatory Powers (RIPA) 
Act 2000

 The level of fines for fly-tipping offences was considered too low to act 
as a serious deterrent  

 As a radical solution to combat fly-tipping could an exercise be 
undertaken to assess and weigh the costs of allowing the free 
disposal of commercial builders’ waste at recycling centres and the 
removal of the £10.00 charge for bulky item collections against the 
costs of the collection of fly-tipped waste

 The trial use of Euro bins in streets in Litherland Ward
 People should dispose of their rubbish responsibly – fly-tipping should 

be depicted as seriously socially unacceptable behaviour 

7.6 Following deliberation on this matter the Working Group asked that the Head 
of Locality Services:
 
(1) write to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural 

Affairs to seek an increase in the level of fines for fly-tipping 
offences; and

(2) undertake an exercise to assess and weigh the costs of allowing 
the free disposal of commercial builders’ waste at recycling centres 
and the removal of the £10.00 charge for bulky item collections 
against the costs of the collection of fly-tipped waste.

7.7 NSL Civil Enforcement Contract

7.8 The Working Group considered the briefing note of the Head of Highways 
and Public Protection that updated on the NSL civil enforcement contract; 
including the potential to expand the contract together with the use of 
performance indicators and the use of the “three E’s” Education, Engineering 
and Enforcement. 

The briefing note indicated that the current contract came into force on 1st 
April 2018, with a budget reduction from £1,100,000 to £850,000; that the 
new contract placed greater emphasis on an Ambassadorial approach, 
requiring that "…the prospective contractor will need to adopt a philosophy of 
urban stewardship by taking a joined-up approach to the provision of parking 
enforcement duties, environmental enforcement and ambassadorship; that 
the contract scope included parking and environmental enforcement 
(including dog control); and that the Council’s role included: 

 Contract Monitoring
 Supervision of the management of correspondence relating to notices; 

Page 45

Agenda Item 5

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2684&ID=2684&RPID=24003939


Overview and Scrutiny
14

 Dealing with telephone calls from members of the public; 
 Provision of internet facilities for payment and information; 
 Special consideration relating to parking and environmental notices 

which get to one of the following stages: representation (PCN & FPN); 
adjudication (PCN); county court & Debt Collection (PCN); and 
magistrates court (FPN)

 Day to Day Direction of services overall – this is a Labour Supply 
Contract. 

The briefing note also indicated that the payment mechanism within the 
Contract included performance payment for the final 10% of the monthly 
invoice that was only made if the key performance indicators were met; 
provided details on the potential to expand the contract; and that the 
enforcement undertaken was complementary to engineering and education 
activities, including:

 Engineering – Parking - Traffic Regulation Orders and time and cost 
restrictions enforcement; environmental – PSPO restricted areas etc.

 Education – the Ambassadorial Approach providing education and 
broader promotion of the Borough

Dave Marrin, Manager – Highways Management referred to a recent request 
for elected Members to accompany NSL staff for an hour to get a better 
understanding of what duties the staff performed; and Mr. Marrin indicated 
that such an offer could be extended to all Ward Councillors subject to 
confirmation with the Cabinet Member.

7.9 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the 
following issues:

 The establishment of a policy regarding the placing of A-Boards on 
the highway the views of the Royal National Institute of Blind People 
(RNIB) and the Guide Dogs for the Blind charity being sought

 The ambassadorial approach of providing education and the broader 
promotion of the borough as part of the “three E’s – Education, 
Engineering and Enforcement” was praised as a useful way to 
disseminate information

7.10 The Working Group asked that the Head of Highways and Public Protection 
extend an invitation to Members to accompany NSL staff for an hour to get a 
better understanding of what duties the staff performed.

8.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 28 JANUARY 2021

8.1 Review of Scoping Document

8.2 The Working Group considered a briefing note that sought a potential review 

Page 46

Agenda Item 5

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2772&ID=2772&RPID=28102021


Overview and Scrutiny
15

of the Working Group’s Scoping Document. Bearing in mind that it had been 
some time since the Working Group approved its Scoping Document and 
since the Working Group last met, it was considered to be an opportune 
moment for Members to review the Scope to ensure it was still valid; or to 
perhaps consider whether the Scoping document needed to be narrowed to 
focus on more specific activities.  

8.3 The consensus of Members was that the scope of the Working Group should 
be narrowed and that the focus should concentrate on cleansing aspects of 
littering and fly-tipping/rear entry problems. To support this focus Members 
detailed their experiences and the views of their constituents as detailed 
below:

8.4  It was accepted that the issue of littering and fly-tipping/rear entry 
dumping was a problem in Sefton and particularly in the south of the 
borough, despite the great efforts of Cleansing Services staff. This 
could be evidenced by a recent meeting held with Derby Ward 
Councillors, Peter Dowd MP and local residents to discuss littering 
and rubbish dumping in the area. Reference was also made to littering 
in Maghull parks even though there was ample provision of litter bins. 
There was clearly an attitudinal problem with some people in this 
regard   

 Littering and fly-tipping produced an unappealing environmental 
situation and could have a negative impact on residents’ quality of life, 
created a poor perception of the borough to visitors and tourists and 
could hinder economic investment and regeneration

 Enforcement statistics relating to littering offences were referred to 
and a query was raised about the discrepancies of fixed penalty 
notices (FPN) issued in differing parts of the borough, for example 
Dukes Ward (938) to Linacre Ward (275). It was explained that the 
number of FPN’s issued will be influenced by several factors. These 
include the number offences, but also the number and nature of the 
patrols, footfall, and differing characteristics of areas. Patrols police a 
number of offences, including littering, dog fouling and parking 
offences, and the time spent on patrols is divided across areas where 
these offences are anticipated. In some patrol areas officers may be 
more likely to observe more than one type of offence than in others 
(e.g. when patrolling for parking in high footfall areas, officers may be 
more likely to also see littering) and this will influence numbers issued.

 Examples of positive community activity were detailed whereby local 
residents removed fly-tipped rubbish from their areas and cleared 
weeds from rear entries. This improved amenity spaces and created 
community pride in the area               

 Cleansing teams and enforcement staff needed to be more visible in 
local communities; and efforts should be made to generate 
partnership working between the Council and residents 

 Comment was made that robust enforcement of small disorders such 
as littering offences could lead to improvements in other, bigger areas; 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2774&ID=2774&RPID=28102096


Overview and Scrutiny
16

and a trial operation a number of years ago was referred to in the 
Knowsley/Peel area involving the police and other agencies. 
Reference was also made to a visit by elected Members to Wirral to 
look at the operation of the borough’s civil enforcement contract. It 
was found that the contractor concentrated enforcement efforts on low 
level offences and the message spread that the Council was serious 
about taking action where necessary    

 Difficulties however were acknowledged in relation to the Council’s 
enforcement activity. For example, only two enforcement officers were 
employed by the Council to deal with cleansing issues; and evidence 
had to be obtained of offences to secure a conviction beyond 
reasonable doubt. Regarding enforcement officer numbers it was 
suggested that it may be beneficial to increase levels or to look at 
alternative external provision. For example, procuring the services of 
PCSO’s to undertake enforcement activity in a short, sharp campaign. 
An investigation of cost benefit analysis or opportunity costs could 
show that increased expenditure in one area could be set against 
reduced expenditure in others

 It would be helpful to receive the views of NSL staff and hear of their 
experiences undertaking enforcement action in the borough  

 Information was sought on the terms of the Council’s NSL civil 
enforcement contract and whether parking enforcement staff could 
enforce littering and fly-tipping offences. It was explained that littering 
offences could be enforced but not fly-tipping

 Problems were referred to whereby residents placed their refuse 
sacks out for collection immediately after refuse collectors had 
collected from the street; resulting in sacks being left in the street for a 
week and split open by animals. It would be helpful if NSL staff could 
speak to perpetrators to advise them of the detrimental impact of their 
actions. It was explained that a further roll out of wheeled bins and 
communal bins would be shortly introduced and that it was hoped that 
this would alleviate issues with black sacks being put out at the wrong 
times. However, an elected Member indicated that there was a 
reluctance in large areas of his ward to the introduction of such new 
bins; and that it was essential that adequate consultation was 
undertaken to ensure residents’ wishes were reflected in any roll out. 
It was explained that any problems could be reviewed on an area by 
area basis

 CCTV could be used as an important enforcement tool, particularly if 
targeted at known hot spots. A suggestion was made that devolved 
Ward Budgets could be used to purchase additional CCTV equipment 
for such use                  

8.5 Conclusions

 The view was that the Council reacted to complaints, resolved the 
issues as promptly as possible but that littering and dumping of 
rubbish recommenced as quickly as it was resolved. Local residents 

Page 48

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
17

appreciated the work being undertaken by Council staff but were left 
frustrated that the cycle continued  

 This cycle had to stop and it was considered that robust enforcement 
was the way to do this. It would be helpful to refine and customise the 
Council’s enforcement services to ascertain how improvements could 
be implemented including potentially, the procurement of additional 
services from external providers, such as PCSO’s to undertake 
enforcement activity, even if only in short, sharp, hit campaigns. The 
NSL contract could be looked at to explore if additional activities could 
be undertaken       

 Publicising prosecutions for cleansing offences was one way to make 
the public aware that the problems were being taken seriously by the 
Council 

8.6 The Working Group agreed that: 

(1) the scope of the Working Group be narrowed and that the focus 
should concentrate on cleansing aspects of littering and fly-
tipping/rear entry problems; 

(2) the Head of Highways and Public Protection be requested to 
investigate whether the Council’s enforcement services could be 
refined and customised to ascertain how improvements could be 
implemented including potentially, the procurement of additional 
services from external providers, such as PCSO’s to undertake 
enforcement activity, even if only in short, sharp, hit campaigns;  
     

(3) the Head of Highways and Public Protection be requested to review 
the NSL contract to explore if additional activities could be 
undertaken by operatives; and

(4) the Head of Highways and Public Protection be requested to invite a 
representative(s) of NSL to a meeting of the Working Group to 
obtain their views of and hear of their experiences undertaking 
enforcement action in the borough.  
 

8.7 Updates on Actions Requested at Previous Meeting

8.8 A briefing note provided updates on actions requested at the previous 
meeting in relation to:

 information on the localities where the 1900 fixed penalty notices for 
littering were issued

 the production of promotional leaflets for distribution by residents’ 
groups to combat the problems of littering and fly-tipping

 the request to write to the Secretary of State for Environment, Food 
and Rural Affairs to seek an increase in the level of fines for fly-

Page 49

Agenda Item 5

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2773&ID=2773&RPID=28102289
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2775&ID=2775&RPID=28102513


Overview and Scrutiny
18

tipping offences
 an exercise to assess and weigh the costs of allowing the free 

disposal of commercial builders’ waste at recycling centres and the 
removal of the £10.00 charge for bulky item collections against the 
costs of the collection of fly-tipped waste

8.9 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the 
Community Skip scheme and indicated that it made a big difference to 
reducing fly-tipping incidences. However, some residents refused to engage 
in the scheme and continued to fly-tip, even after community engagement 
had been undertaken and promotional literature distributed. Enforcement 
action was the only option left.  

9.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 15 APRIL 2021

9.1 Further to a previous decision the Working Group interviewed the following 
witnesses from NSL to obtain their views of and hear of their experiences 
undertaking enforcement action in the borough:

Simon Hummer, NSL Client Account Manager, Sefton
Lee Cropper, NSL Sefton Civil Enforcement Officer (CEO)

9.2 Simon Hummer explained that NSL commenced parking enforcement work 
for Sefton in 2012; that in 2014 the contract was expanded to cover both 
parking and environmental enforcement issues with such duties performed 
by separate teams; and that in 2018 NSL were again awarded the civil 
enforcement contract for both parking and environmental (litter and dog 
fouling/control) enforcement issues with CEO’s merged into one team to 
undertake enforcement activity on all aspects of the contract. The 
enforcement activity was currently undertaken by 14 NSL CEO’s daily across 
the borough and operated from office bases in both Bootle and Southport. A 
major difference between parking and environmental enforcement activity 
was that Penalty Charge Notices (PCN) could be attached to vehicles and 
information obtained from DVLA whereas with environmental offences 
information had to be obtained from the offender. Recent demands for 
increased enforcement activity related to measures to control parking 
contraventions by schools; and for both parking and environmental 
enforcement activity in coastal areas of the borough during the Covid-19 
pandemic. It was considered that CEO’s performed their duties successfully 
in sometimes challenging circumstances.   

9.3 Lee Cropper indicated that the dual enforcement role of CEO’s was working 
well but that a balance had to be struck between parking and environmental 
issues and operational activity in different parts of the borough; that problems 
could be experienced by offenders being uncooperative when challenged; 
that police response times to requests for assistance were generally good; 
and that in this respect, a protocol had been agreed with the police. An issue 
off concern related to dog control in that initially, inadequate signage was 

Page 50

Agenda Item 5

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2777&ID=2777&RPID=28102400


Overview and Scrutiny
19

sited in parks. The amount of signage was increased to aid enforcement 
measures but however, such signage was regularly removed by persons 
unknown. 

It was noted that CEO’s would only call the police if offenders refused to give 
their details otherwise CEO’s would issue FPN's without police involvement; 
and that dog control signage issues would be addressed as part of the re- 
introduction of the Public Space Protection Order if approved by Council on 
at its meeting to be held on 22 April 2021.              

9.4 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the 
following issues:

 Did CEO’s enforce against untaxed vehicles or those with no MOT? – 
this was difficult to do because vehicles no longer had tax discs to 
check and the operating systems used did not link to the DVLA 
database. However, enquiries would be made into the status of 
vehicles that appeared to have been abandoned

 Did CEO’s report fly-tipping? – Yes, if significant instances were 
observed details would be passed on to the Council for action

 Did the combining of the parking and environmental enforcement 
services have a knock-on effect of the targeting of litter offences being 
led parking enforcement? – Yes, to a degree because there was a 
limited resource. Obviously parking enforcement occurred where there 
were vehicles but litter offences occurred in the same areas also and 
therefore there was the opportunity to target both offences at the 
same time

 Litter was a problem particularly in the south of the borough so could 
targeted enforcement activity be undertaken in “grot spot” areas? The 
mere presence of CEO’s in an area would act as a deterrent to 
offenders – Targeted activity could be undertaken but the nature of 
the problem would have to be investigated first, for example, was the 
problem due to littering from vehicles or pedestrians

 Could the targeted activity also cover rear entries? – yes but there 
would be an opportunity cost in that there would be a service 
reduction elsewhere. It was noted however that the CEO would have 
to see the offender deposit the item in the rear entry in order for action 
to be taken

 Information was sought on the protocol between Merseyside Police 
and NSL – A meeting had been held between Superintendent Graeme 
Robson, Merseyside Police, Steve Smith, Environmental Health and 
Trading Standards Manager and Simon Hummer, NSL Client Account 
Manager, Sefton. At the meeting problems being experienced by 
CEO’s were explained and an understanding was reached of what 
police responses would be in respect of requests for assistance. It 
was acknowledged that the police were hard pressed and had to 
prioritise their resources, but particular difficulties were encountered 
with police call-centre staff to understand the problems experienced 

Page 51

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
20

by CEO’s
 Superintendent Robson provided weekly updates to elected Members 

on police activity in their wards and a good working relationship had 
been established. Maybe the Council, NSL and the police could work 
together to promote the use of the protocol. Furthermore, the Council 
had received tremendous support from Superintendent Robson and 
his colleagues during the Covid-19 pandemic – Any help that could be 
given to maintain positive and productive relationships with police 
colleagues would be much appreciated

 What was NSL’s role in raising awareness of offences committed and 
FPN’s issued? – It was the role of NSL to enforce the regulations. 
More proactive work in publicising offences etc. was the responsibility 
of the Council. A Member commented that to be more effective an 
enforcement awareness strategy could be introduced            

 A Member referred to Enforcement statistics that were considered at a 
previous meeting of the Working Group relating to littering offences; 
and a query was raised about the discrepancies of FPN’s issued in 
differing parts of the borough, for example Dukes Ward (938) to 
Linacre Ward (275) -  It was explained that more CEO’s were 
deployed in Southport due to the higher density of parking restrictions; 
and as such CEO’s had the opportunity to also enforce littering 
offences more often. It was also noted that in areas of higher footfall, 
for example in Lord Street and the pedestrianised area of Chapel 
Street in Southport, there was an increased chance of littering 
offences being observed and enforced.   

9.5 Simon Hummer concluded that he would be more than happy to take part in 
any discussions about the enhancement and expansion of NSL’s service 
provision with Sefton. 

9.6 Conclusions

 that the provision of enhanced services could be explored with NSL or 
another provider; and that investigations could take place to seek best 
practice in other local authorities as to how they operated their civil 
enforcement contracts. This could include alternative approaches 
whereby the contractor was only paid based on performance and 
outcome. It was also acknowledged that as part of this process certain 
factors had to be taken into account such as resource constraints and 
the statutory duty to undertake highway enforcement to ensure that 
traffic moved efficiently and safely

 that the income generated by NSL from Penalty Charge Notices 
matched the expenditure on the service. However, it should be noted 
that the enforcement activity also ensured compliance with parking 
charges which generated a further £3.5m per annum for the Council. It 
was also noted that there were intangible benefits of the service in 
that people’s well-being improved in a cleaner and safer environment 

 The link between parking and litter enforcement was noted and that to 

Page 52

Agenda Item 5

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2774&ID=2774&RPID=28102096


Overview and Scrutiny
21

some degree litter enforcement was predicated by parking 
enforcement

 The biggest litter problems were experienced in the south of the 
borough and action was required to address this problem

 It was noted that since the merger of the parking and environmental 
enforcement teams there were more CEO’s enforcing littering 
offences but that in some areas it was considered that littering 
problems had worsened despite the increased resources

 Fly-tipping was a continuous problem in certain areas but it was 
acknowledged that it was difficult to identify culprits  

 Targeted and high-profile campaigns in areas deemed to have the 
worse litter problems could be introduced to alert residents that the 
Council was taking issues seriously in their communities  

 The implementation of an effective enforcement awareness strategy 
or communications campaign, possibly in conjunction with groups 
such as Keep Britain Tidy, could help to reduce littering offences

9.7 The Working Group requested the Head of Highways and Public Protection 
to:

(1) liaise with Superintendent Graeme Robson, Merseyside 
Police to further promote the protocol established 
between the police, the Council and NSL; 
  

(2) identify options for consideration of Members to address 
the scale and visibility of enforcement resources and the 
need to focus on environmental issues such as littering 
and fly-tipping; and 
 

(3) investigate best practice in other local authorities as to 
how they operated their civil enforcement contracts 
including alternative approaches whereby the contractor 
was only paid based on performance and outcome.

10.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 1 JULY 2021

10.1 Further to Minute No. 33 (2) of the meeting held on 15 April 2021 the 
Working Group met to receive updates on the following matters:

1. the identification of options for consideration of Members to address 
the scale and visibility of enforcement resources and the need to 
focus on environmental issues such as littering and fly-tipping.

2. the investigation of best practice in other local authorities as to how 
they operated their civil enforcement contracts including alternative 
approaches whereby the contractor was only paid based on 
performance and outcome.

Page 53

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
22

Peter Moore, Head of Highways and Public Protection presented a report on 
the above matters and highlighted the following:

10.2 Background and Current Resources

Litter

In 2014 a twelve-month pilot took place to explore the use of additional 
littering and dog fouling enforcement capability. This contract was 
undertaken by NSL limited with operational deployment commencing in June 
2014. A pair of Officers patrolled daily to varied deployment plans over this 
period seeking to identify and issue Fixed penalty Notices (FPN’s) to 
offenders and provide a visible presence to act as a deterrent.

The pilot was awarded on a cost neutral basis with a percentage of both the 
income received by the Council from FPN’s issued and court costs being 
paid to the Contractor; but NSL Limited found the payment model to be 
challenging in terms of achieving a ‘break even’ position. NSL Limited 
indicated that they would not wish to carry on beyond the end of the pilot 
scheme under that model.

In 2017 a trial took place whereby several existing ‘civil’ enforcement officers 
undertook a dual role of enforcement, issuing both Penalty Charge Notices 
for parking offences and FPN’s for environmental offences. This proved a 
success and at the subsequent re-procurement of the Parking and 
Environmental Enforcement contract this innovative model was adopted to 
ensure that all ’civil’ enforcement officers undertook this dual role and 
thereby increased the daily number of officers patrolling for litter and dog 
fouling offences from two in 2014 to on average of thirteen per day. It was 
also at this time Sefton’s Public Spaces Protection Order – Dog Control was 
introduced, and the scope of enforcement was widened further to include 
other dog control offences and not just dog fouling.

It was noted that the combined impact of reducing hours in the Contract, as 
part of agreed budget savings, and changing the distribution of hours to 
include more environmental enforcement did result in a loss of parking and 
PCN income. This was partly offset by increased FPN income but was 
something the Council would need to consider if any further reductions or 
redistribution of activity were to be considered.

10.3 Fly-Tipping

Over the years there had been many positive initiatives designed to tackle 
the ongoing issue of fly tipping. During the period 2005–2012 these were 
predominantly funded externally, such as with Neighbourhood Renewal and 
Working Neighbourhoods funding. Due to the funding criteria, their focus was 
on the most deprived Wards in the South of the Borough and Dukes and 

Page 54

Agenda Item 5

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2855&ID=2855&RPID=30439582


Overview and Scrutiny
23

Cambridge Wards in Southport. 

The level of resources varied over this period but over time included seven 
Waste Enforcement Officers, a Vacant Property Officer, two Environmental 
Hit Squads and a Community Engagement Team. In 2012, when the funding 
and these projects ceased, the teams consisted of a Community 
Engagement Team Leader, Campaigns Co-ordinator, 3 Community 
Engagement Officers, 6 Waste Enforcement Officers and a Pest 
Management Team (Pest Control Officer & Hit Squad). 

In 2017, in response to further cuts in government funding, the Council 
agreed a substantial budget saving in the Environmental Protection Service 
and this team was further reduced from four to two officers; and covered the 
whole of the borough dealing with fly-tipping complaints, duty of care issues 
with businesses and enforcement of overhanging trees obstructing the 
highway.

On a positive note and recognising Members’ concerns regarding the level of 
resource to deal with fly tipping issues, the service had very recently been 
able to re-designate a vacant post to provide an additional Environmental 
Enforcement Officer.

10.4 Deployment of Parking, Litter and Dog Control Enforcement Resources

NSL Enforcement Officers Deployment Principles and Priorities

Officers acted as a visual deterrent and undertook a dual enforcement role 
which included identifying both parking offences (yellow line restrictions, 
schools, bus stops, residents parking areas, Pay and Display and limited 
waiting restrictions, etc); and environmental offences (litter, dog fouling and 
dog control).

Routine foot patrols were focused to locations likely to have maximum impact 
with the resources available; and this would include areas of high footfall 
where a combination of offences may be observed, for example litter and 
parking within Bootle and Southport Town Centres.

An intelligence led approach was used to determine deployment priorities 
and several factors influenced decision-making on this matter. Through this 
the Council and NSL agree an annual Enforcement Service Deployment 
Plan. 

10.5 Current Deployment

In a typical year Officers were deployed from two bases, Bootle and 
Southport in a mixture of on-foot beats and mobile response. Shift patterns 
varied to reflect the day of the week, Bank Holidays, special events and 
seasons; and NSL had an Enforcement Service

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
24

Deployment Plan. This plan was subject to ongoing review and allowed for a 
reactive response to specific issues.

Litter patrols focussed on areas of high footfall, to have maximum impact, 
and often coincided with locations where parking enforcement was 
necessary.

10.6 Prioritisation and Deployment of Fly-Tipping Enforcement Resources

The scale and nature of the materials deposited varied significantly from 
large amounts of putrescible matter to small scale inert materials. Increased 
awareness of personal data security and deliberate acts to avoid detection 
meant that evidence of the offender was not always available. Prioritisation 
of the service’s response to complaints had therefore to be based upon the 
nature and scale of the incident and the likelihood of identifying the 
offenders.

10.7 Options to Address the Scale and Visibility of Enforcement Resources

Several options for consideration were presented to increase the scale and 
visibility of enforcement resources. The options chosen were likely to depend 
on the focus for attention (e.g. Litter or Fly-Tipping), the nature of impact 
required and available budget; as there was currently no identified additional 
budgetary provision for increasing the scale of enforcement resources.

The detailed options for consideration, together with their advantages and 
disadvantages related to:

 Increasing the in-house resource for Environmental Enforcement;
 Increasing the Parking and Environmental Enforcement contract 

currently operated by NSL;
 Additional short-term enforcement interventions, either through the 

existing contractor, another contractor, or directly employed by the 
Council

 Exploring alternative enforcement models (e.g. zero-cost/self-
financing) 

 Enhanced education and engagement campaigns
 Further engineering measures

   
10.8 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the 

following issues. The comments of officers in response to various questions 
and comments were included where appropriate:  

 A one-size fits all approach should not be adopted
 That problems in certain areas were increasing and as an example, 

the Member indicated that she had very recently received a number of 
letters written by pupils of Sefton Moss Primary School complaining 

Page 56

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
25

about the amount of litter and dog-fouling in the vicinity of their school 
 Littering enforcement was not very effective because it was predicated 

on where parking enforcement took place. Therefore, areas outside of 
town centres/coastal areas (which were the subject of major parking 
enforcement) did not receive much litter enforcement
Officer response – evidence showed that enforcement activity was 
working and it was agreed that areas with heavier footfall were subject 
to more activity than others. Unfortunately, limited resources dictated 
that enforcement officers could not provide the same level of service 
across the whole borough  

 The number of enforcement personnel was inadequate. As part of the 
2021/22 budget £500k had been identified to tackle street scene 
problems and it was suggested that part of this funding could be used 
to increase enforcement of littering, fly-tipping and dumping in rear 
entries. The Council needed to demonstrate that it was doing 
something to tackle such problems
Officer response - It was agreed that additional resources would help 
alleviate problems being experienced but education was also required 
to change people’s anti-social actions  

 It was noted that since 2012 positive initiatives designed to tackle the 
ongoing issue of fly tipping had ceased and that there had been a 
reduction in enforcement officer numbers as a result of budget 
savings that had to be implemented due to Government austerity 
measures. The reduced enforcement activity, coupled with reductions 
in the Cleansing Service, increased the littering/fly-tipping problems 
experienced by residents

 An increase in enforcement activity may lead to a reduction in the 
demands on the Cleansing Service. This should be investigated at 
Cabinet Member/Executive Officer level  

 The introduction of a zero-cost/self-financing enforcement model was 
not considered a feasible option as anecdotal evidence suggested 
that “easy targets” were identified which often proved controversial. 
Professional and reasonable enforcement activity should always be 
adopted

 The perception of parking enforcement was that it was fair and 
equitable and this standard should be replicated with littering and fly-
tipping enforcement

 Education campaigns were welcome and it was noted that 
enforcement activity was also a successful education tool. 
Consideration should be given to the effectiveness of on-line 
campaigns as it was suggested that hard to reach groups, who were 
the most likely to suffer from the impacts of fly-tipping and littering, 
were least likely to engage in such on-line campaigns

 Should consideration be given to amalgamating littering, fly-tipping 
and rear entry dumping enforcement activity within the Cleansing 
Service? This would enable one service to manage both the calls and 
the responses. 

Page 57

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
26

Officer response – This method of operation has been tried 
previously. Unfortunately, the enforcement role became a distraction 
to the Cleansing Service’s core function. Cleansing staff would need 
to prepare statements and attend court. This placed a strain on their 
time. Under the current system the Cleansing Service had access to 
fully trained enforcement staff who could undertake the investigatory 
work  

 In the Linacre and Derby wards there was an increase in dumping of 
rubbish in rear entries. Could the Council engage with private and 
registered social landlords to force them to take responsibility for the 
actions of their tenants? Landlords should have a responsibility to 
their tenants who acted responsibly and who did not dump rubbish
Officer response – The Council’s Housing Standards team 
administered the Selective Licensing scheme for all privately rented 
properties within parts of Bootle. Investigations could take place to 
see whether sanctions could be imposed on private landlords for the 
actions of their tenants. Regarding registered social landlords (RSL), a 
campaign was currently in operation in the Peel/Knowsley Road area 
(Poets Streets). The main RSL in this area undertook twice weekly 
inspections to identify fly-tipping incidents which were referred on to 
the Council for action. However, this could be simply a short-term 
campaign and ultimately the problem was passed on the Council to 
resolve the fly-tipping incidents

 How co-operative were the major RSL’s such as One Vision Housing 
to target fly-tipping and rear entry dumping by their tenants?
Officer response – The main focus of RSL’s was to maintain their 
properties and ensure suitable standards for their tenants. There was 
no real evidence of RSL’s taking enforcement action against tenants 
for fly-tipping or rear entry dumping as they appear to perceive this as 
the responsibility of the local authority

 A radical approach was required to tackle the littering, fly-tipping and 
rear entry dumping problems; investing to save may help with this; 
increased enforcement may reduce the burden on the Cleansing 
Service; therefore the cost of clearing rear entry dumping would need 
to be identified as an evidence base; and there was a correlation 
between the reduction in enforcement officers from 2012 to date and 
increased littering, fly-tipping and rear entry dumping as evidenced by 
Ward Councillors 
Officer response – Currently there were only two rear entry crews. 
Therefore, the frequency of service provision took longer than 
previously. Any radical approach would have to take cognisance of 
the Council’s Framework for Change Programme to deliver affordable 
services which achieved the best possible outcomes for Sefton’s 
communities. Account would also have to be taken of waste 
management strategies and how positive behavioural change could 
be promoted     

 The problems experienced crossed numerous Cabinet Member 
portfolios – Communities and Housing, Locality Services, 

Page 58

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
27

Regeneration and Skills and Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services 

 It was suggested that the introduction of the £10 charge for collection 
of bulky waste items led to an increase in fly-tipping, particularly in 
rear entries; and that it may be more cost effective to provide a free 
service and in doing so, reduce the demand on the rear entry crews to 
deal with fly-tipped waste.
Officer response – this has been discussed previously with the 
Cabinet Member – Locality Services and it was concluded that there 
was a lack of certainty that the introduction of a free service would 
have any real benefit. A major problem was that people were not 
prepared to wait up to 15 working days for collection and the 
introduction of a free service could make waiting times longer; or 
require additional service crews which had resource implications. 
Furthermore, following the introduction of the £10 collection charge 
there had not been any significant impact in service requests.       

10.9 The Working Group agreed that the following recommendations be approved 
for inclusion in its Final Report:

(1) a very significant increase in uniformed enforcement officers be 
established to tackle the problems of littering, fly-tipping and rear 
entry dumping;
 

(2) a high-profile publicity campaign be introduced to highlight the 
increased enforcement activity to be undertaken; and 
  

(3) as part of the evidence base to support the additional enforcement 
regime investigations take place to detail the invest to save benefits 
associated with the reduced demand on Cleansing Services as 
enforcement activity is increased.   

11.0 APPROVAL OF FINAL REPORT – AUGUST 2021

The Final Report was circulated to, and approved by, Working Group 
Members via email. 

12.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

12.1 The hard work and dedication of NSL Civil Enforcement Officers was 
acknowledged. However, evidence had shown, via complaints to local 
Councillors and experience of elected Members working in their wards, that 
incidences of littering, fly-tipping and rear entry dumping were on the 
increase. 

It was also noted that the enforcement of littering offences was not very 
effective across the borough because it was predicated on where parking 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
28

enforcement took place; and therefore, that areas with heavier footfall were 
subject to more activity than others. Unfortunately, limited resources dictated 
that enforcement officers could not provide the same level of service across 
the whole borough.   
It was therefore concluded that the number of enforcement personnel was 
inadequate; and it was noted that as part of the 2021/22 budget £500k had 
been identified to tackle street scene problems. 

In order for the Council to demonstrate that it was doing something to tackle 
such problems, using the budget referred to above, it was recommended 
that: 

a very significant increase in uniformed enforcement officers be 
established to tackle the problems of littering, fly-tipping and rear entry 
dumping;

12.2 The principle of education was acknowledged as a tool to change people’s 
anti-social actions; It was recommended that: 

a high-profile publicity campaign be introduced to highlight the 
increased enforcement activity to be undertaken; 

12.3 as part of the evidence base to understand the options for an additional 
enforcement regime, an evaluation should take place to detail the 
invest to save opportunities that may exist that could reduce demand 
on Cleansing Services as enforcement activity is increased with the 
requirement for the proposal to be cost neutral on the Council’s 
budget; and  
 

12.4 It was noted that in various wards in the south of the borough there was an 
increase in dumping of rubbish in rear entries and it was considered that 
private and registered social landlords should have some responsibility for 
the anti-social actions of their tenants; and the Working Group was pleased 
to hear of a campaign in operation in the Peel/Knowsley Road area (Poets 
Streets) whereby the main RSL in this area undertook twice weekly 
inspections to identify fly-tipping incidents which were referred on to the 
Council for action.

In order to strengthen work in this area it was recommended that:

(a) Investigations take place to see whether sanctions could be 
imposed on private landlords, via the Selective Licensing 
Scheme, for the anti-social actions of their tenants in littering 
and dumping rubbish in rear entries; and 

(b) All registered social landlords operating in Sefton be 
contacted and urged to consider taking action against those 
tenants who act irresponsibly and fly-tip or dump rubbish in 

Page 60

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
29

rear entries 

13.0 DOCUMENTATION CONSIDERED BY THE WORKING GROUP

13.1 Scoping Document approved at the meeting held on 25 February 2019
13.2 the legal enforcement powers available to the Council presentation received 

by the Working Group on 18 March 2019
13.3 Planning Enforcement Protocol presentation received by the Working Group 

on 18 March 2019
13.4 Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy referred to at the meeting held 

on 4 September 2019
13.5 Government’s initial response to the consultation undertaken on the 

Resources and Waste Strategy referred to at the meeting held on 4 
September 2019

13.6 briefing note of the Head of Highways and Public Protection that updated on 
the NSL civil enforcement contract considered at the meeting held on 4 
September 2019

13.7 briefing note seeking potential review of the Working Group’s Scoping 
Document considered at the meeting held on 28 January 2021

13.8 briefing note providing updates on actions requested at the previous meeting 
considered at the meeting held on 28 January 2021

13.9 Enforcement statistics relating to littering offences considered at the meeting 
held on 28 January 2021

13.10 an exercise to assess and weigh the costs of allowing the free disposal of 
commercial builders’ waste at recycling centres and the removal of the 
£10.00 charge for bulky item collections against the costs of the collection of 
fly-tipped waste considered at the meeting held on 28 January 2021

13.11 Example of promotional leaflets for distribution by residents’ groups to 
combat the problems of littering and fly-tipping considered at the meeting 
held on 28 January 2021

13.12 Revised Scoping Document agreed by the Working Group at the meeting 
held on 28 January 2021 

13.13 report considered by the Working Group on 1 July 2021 updating on matters 
relating to Enforcement of Littering and Fly-tipping

14. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND THANKS
In producing the Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity Working Group 
Final Report the acknowledgements and thanks are attributed to the following 
individuals and organisations for their time and input:

Peter Moore, Head of Highways and Public Protection, Sefton MBC
Dave Marrin, Manager – Highways Management, Sefton MBC
Steve Smith, Environmental Health & Trading Standards Manager Sefton MBC
Andrew Walker, former Head of Locality Services, Sefton MBC

Page 61

Agenda Item 5

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2597&ID=2597&RPID=22378767
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2652&ID=2652&RPID=22378789
http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2598&ID=2598&RPID=22378797
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Our%20Waste%20Our%20Resources%20A%20Strategy%20for%20England&ID=2682&RPID=24003943
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2683&ID=2683&RPID=24003945
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2684&ID=2684&RPID=24003939
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2772&ID=2772&RPID=28102021
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2773&ID=2773&RPID=28102289
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2774&ID=2774&RPID=28102096
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2777&ID=2777&RPID=28102400
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2775&ID=2775&RPID=28102513
http://smbc-modgov-03/admin/mgCatAdmin.aspx?rid=104&selected=13881&expand=13881
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2855&ID=2855&RPID=30439582


Overview and Scrutiny
30

Gary Berwick, Cleansing Services Manager, Sefton MBC 
Derek McKenzie, Chief Planning Officer, Sefton MBC
Fiona Townsend, Legal and Democratic Services, Sefton MBC
Simon Hummer, NSL Client Account Manager, Sefton
Lee Cropper, NSL Sefton Civil Enforcement Officer  

Thanks must also go to the Members and former Members of the Working Group 
who have worked hard and dedicated a great deal of time to this review, namely:

Councillor John Sayers Lead Member, 
Effectiveness of the Council’s 
Enforcement Activity Working Group

Councillor Liz Dowd

Councillor Michael Roche Councillor Dave Robinson

Former Councillor Mike Booth Former Councillor David Pullin                                                                                  

Page 62

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
31

Former Councillor Michael O’Brien

Page 63

Agenda Item 5



Overview and Scrutiny
32

For further Information please contact:

Paul Fraser

Senior Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2068

E-Mail: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk
 

Page 64

Agenda Item 5

mailto:paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk


Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and 
Skills)

Cabinet

Council

Date of Meeting:  21 September 2021

 
7 October 2021

18 November 2021

Subject: Housing Support 
Services to 
Vulnerable People 
Working Group Final 
Report

Wards Affected: All 

Report of: Chief Legal and Democratic Officer

Cabinet Portfolio Communities and Housing
Is this a Key 
Decision?

Yes Is it included in the Forward Plan? Yes

Exempt/Confidential No 

Purpose/Summary

To seek formal approval of the Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People Working 
Group Final Report

Recommendations

That Committee, Cabinet and Council be recommended to approve that:
 
1. in order for elected Members to provide a local insight

into the Postcode Check process, appropriate Ward Councillors
views be sought as part of the Postcode Check consultation
process; 

2. to provide as much evidence base as possible as part
of the Postcode Check process the Chief Legal and Democratic
Officer be requested to write to all elected Members urging them to 
contact the Head of Communities as to which areas within their 
wards maybe suffering issues that should be taken into account, 
such as instances of crime, including hate crime, anti-social 
behaviour and any community tensions, when considering future 
asylum accommodation procurement; 

3. in order that elected Members are aware of the strategic planning, 
location and distribution of Housing and Support Services for 
vulnerable households the Head of Communities be requested to 
provide 6-monthly updates to all Councillors; 

4. when commissioning specific housing and support services for 
Page 65

Agenda Item 6



vulnerable groups, the Council should continue to adopt a strategic 
approach that is cognisant of other such services, the capacity of 
wider statutory, community and voluntary services and reflects
issues at a local community level within each ward as to the location
of the housing element; 

5. any support services that are commissioned by the Council to 
support vulnerable households should be tailored to the target group 
with specialist provision and the ability to flex up and flex down as 
and when required. Local, Sefton based services, often run by the 
Community and Voluntary sector based in our communities should 
always be the preferred option wherever possible. The longer-term 
aim of self-reliance for the service user and longer-term sustainability 
of the project should always be the aim with a focus on reducing 
demand on demand-led services; and

6. where housing and support services that are not commissioned by 
the Council fail then officers should use the governance structures in 
place to escalate issues.

An example of this is where officers have used the Liverpool City 
Region Officers network and the Regional Strategic Migration 
Partnership so that issues can be escalated by elected members to 
the Lead Member for the Liverpool City Region group.

Reasons for the Recommendation

The Working Group has made a number of recommendations that require approval by 
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills), Cabinet and Council.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 

No alternative options were considered. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and Skills) established the Working Group to look at the Housing Support 
Services to Vulnerable People and the Working Group has performed this task.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

(A) Revenue Costs
There are no financial implications arising for the Council as a direct result of this 
report. The implementation of recommendations that result in efficiency savings 
and any necessary financial investment will be the subject of separate reports. 

(B) Capital Costs
There are no financial implications arising for the Council as a direct result of this 
report. The implementation of recommendations that result in efficiency savings 
and any necessary financial investment will be the subject of separate reports.

Implications:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Page 66

Agenda Item 6



Financial: None

Legal: None 

Human Resources: None

Equality
1. No Equality Implication

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains

Climate Emergency Implications

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose

Protect the most vulnerable: The aim of the Working Group was to review the topic of 
housing support services provided to vulnerable people by non-governmental 
organisations and charities and their links to statutory agencies covered by the 
Communities and Housing portfolio. The Working Group focused on asylum seekers 
and refugees who are some of the most vulnerable people in Sefton’s communities. A 
recommendation of the Working Group aims to ensure that any support services that 
are commissioned by the Council to support vulnerable households should be tailored 
to the target group with specialist provision and the ability to flex up and flex down as 
and when required   

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: in order for elected Members to 
provide a local insight into the Postcode Check process, a recommendation of the 
Working Group is that appropriate Ward Councillors’ views be sought as part of the 
Postcode Check consultation process. A further recommendation, to provide as much 
evidence base as possible as part of the Postcode Check process, is that all elected 
Members are contacted urging them to contact the Head of Communities as to which 
areas within their wards maybe suffering issues that should be taken into account, 
such as instances of crime, including hate crime, anti-social behaviour and any 
community tensions, when considering future asylum accommodation procurement; and 
that in order that elected Members are aware of the strategic planning, location and 
distribution of Housing and Support Services for vulnerable households the Head of 
Communities be requested to provide 6-monthly updates to all Councillors

Commission, broker and provide core services: recommendations within the Final 
Report relate to when commissioning specific housing and support services for 
vulnerable groups, the Council should continue to adopt a strategic approach that is 



Page 67

Agenda Item 6



cognisant of other such services, the capacity of wider statutory, community and 
voluntary services and reflects; that any support services that are commissioned by the 
Council to support vulnerable households should be tailored to the target group 
with specialist provision and the ability to flex up and flex down as and when required. 
Local, Sefton based services, often run by the Community and Voluntary sector based 
in our communities should always be the preferred option wherever possible. The 
longer-term aim of self-reliance for the service user and longer-term sustainability 
of the project should always be the aim with a focus on reducing demand on demand-
led services issues at a local community level within each ward as to the location
of the housing element; and that where housing and support services that are not 
commissioned by the Council fail then officers should use the governance structures in 
place to escalate issues
Place – leadership and influencer: Information as contained in “Facilitate confident 
and resilient communities” section above 
Drivers of change and reform: None directly associated with this report
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: None directly associated with this report

Greater income for social investment: None directly associated with this report
Cleaner Greener: None directly associated with this report

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6484/21) 
has been consulted and notes there are no direct financial implications arising from this 
report.

The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD4685 /21) is the author of the report.

Head of Communities and the Head of Economic Growth and Housing were involved in 
Working Group meetings 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Council meeting 

Contact Officer:  Paul Fraser
Tel: 0151 934 2068
Email: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection

Introduction/Background

1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) approved the 
establishment of a Working Group to review the topic of Housing Support Services 
to Vulnerable People by non-governmental organisations and charities and their 
links to statutory agencies covered by the Communities and Housing portfolio with 
the terms of reference and objectives set out below.

Page 68

Agenda Item 6



2. This was a wide-ranging topic and included looking at accommodation and support 
services provided to Asylum Seekers, Syrian Refugees, those fleeing domestic 
violence and vulnerable homeless households. The terms of reference and 
objectives of the Working Group were:

 The collation of information on the scale and location in Sefton of supported 
accommodation for vulnerable people that fall under the remit of the 
Communities and Housing portfolio

 How do we ensure that such services provided to vulnerable people are 
regulated and are being delivered in accordance with contract specification

3. Accordingly, the Working Group met on six occasions to undertake such review 
and its Final Report, together with associated recommendations, is attached. 

4. The Working Group’s methods of enquiry included analysis of current Sefton 
practice; desktop research into practice elsewhere; and witness interviews with 
officers, stakeholders, experts and other organisations

5. The Working Group’s recommendations were based on the assessment of 
evidence  gathered in the form of witness interviews with officers, statutory 
agencies, a selection of accommodation and support service agencies, 
stakeholders, experts and other relevant organisations and the acknowledgement 
that there was a significant range of housing and support services for vulnerable 
households located throughout the borough; that when the Council directly 
commissioned a housing and support service for vulnerable household there was 
consideration of the location of the housing, taking into account other services for 
similar groups in the area, the capacity of statutory and non-statutory services as 
well as local community and ward specific issues; and that there was a mature 
relationship between Council Officers and service providers and that issues were 
resolved quickly. 

However, it was also found that where a service was commissioned by an 
organisation external to Sefton more local issues were not taken into account and 
as such could cause issues. Because services were not based locally and were 
regionally centred services it could be difficult to resolve issues quickly and this 
frustrated local residents and communities. 

An example of this is the Postcode Checks that Serco carry out with regards to 
procurement of new asylum accommodation in the borough. Elected members felt 
they would like more involvement from a strategic oversight of the Postcode Check 
process and recommendations have been formulated accordingly. 

6. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills), Cabinet and 
Council are requested to support the contents of the Working Group Final Report 
and approve the recommendations contained therein. 

Page 69

Agenda Item 6



Page 70

Agenda Item 6



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
(REGENERATION AND SKILLS)

HOUSING SUPPORT SERVICES TO VULNERABLE PEOPLE 
WORKING GROUP

FINAL REPORT
SEPTEMBER 2021

Page 71

Agenda Item 6



‘Valuing
Improvement’
www.sefton.gov.uk

Page 72

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
1

CONTENTS PAGE

Paragraph 
and Title

Page 
No.

Lead Member’s Introduction 2

1. Background 3

2. Terms of Reference and Objectives 3

3. Methods of Enquiry 4

4. Working Group Meeting – 4 December 2020 4

5. Working Group Meeting – 22 January 2021 6

6. Working Group Meeting – 26 February 2021 15

7. Working Group Meeting – 23 April 2021 21

8. Working Group Meeting – 24 June 2021 30

9. Working Group Meeting – 27 July 2021 35

10. Recommendations 40

11. Documentation Considered by The Working Group 41

12. Acknowledgements and Membership Details 42

Page 73

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
2

LEAD MEMBER’S INTRODUCTION

I am very pleased to introduce this Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration 
and Skills) Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People Working Group report. 
 
The Working Group adhered to its established terms of reference and objectives 
(see paragraph 2 below) in the drafting of its recommendations. 

I wish to thank all those people who gave up their valuable time to be involved with 
the Working Group. The input and expertise of officers greatly helped the Working 
Group in the formulation of its recommendations. Finally, I am extremely grateful to 
my fellow Working Group Members for their commitment, ideas and contribution.

Councillor Dave Robinson
Lead Member, Housing Support 
Services to Vulnerable People 
Working Group

Page 74

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
3

1.0  BACKGROUND

1.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) established 
the Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People Working Group. 

1.2 Councillors Janis Blackburne, Mhairi Doyle, Paula Murphy, Dave Robinson 
and Anne Thompson were appointed to serve on the Working Group. 
Councillor Doyle, at the meeting of Council on 20 May 2021 was appointed as 
the Cabinet Member - Children’s Social Care. In accordance with the protocol 
that Cabinet Members should not serve on Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees Councillor Doyle therefore ceased to be a member of the Working 
Group on 20 May 2021.

1.3 At the first meeting of the Working Group Councillor Dave Robinson was 
appointed Lead Member. Details of Working Group meetings are set out 
below:

Date Activity
04.12.20 Scoping Document approved

Consideration given to initial documentation to be provided by officers 
22.01.21 Briefing notes on Information on the scale and location in Sefton of 

supported accommodation for vulnerable people and associated support 
service specifications; and details of the Serco contract specification 
with the Home Office; and profiles of service ssers in relation to age, 
gender, children

26.02.21 Interview of witnesses from Venus Charity, the Bosco Society, Liverpool 
City Region and former Asylum Seeker and Syrian Refugee; Briefing 
note on Serco postcode checks

23.04.21 Interview of witnesses from Serco, the Home Office and Migrant Help
24.06.21 Interview of witness from Migrant Help; consideration of information on 

asylum seeker/refugee children of school age accessing education; and 
asylum seeker children who lived with their families and information on 
performance data provided by Migrant Help that detailed their 
responsibilities under the AIRE Contract

27.07.21 Consideration of update on the 6 Monthly Asylum Procurement Report 
for the period 1 January to 30 June 2021; and approval of 
recommendations for submission to Cabinet and Council

2.0TERMS OF REFERENCE AND OBJECTIVES

2.1 The Terms of Reference and Objectives of the Working Group were approved 
as part of the scoping exercise at the first meeting and are set out below. 

2.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) has 
established the Working Group to review the topic of housing support services 
provided to vulnerable people by non-governmental organisations and 
charities and their links to statutory agencies covered by the Communities and 
Housing portfolio. This is a wide-ranging topic and will include looking at 

Page 75

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
4

accommodation and support services provided to Asylum Seekers, Syrian 
Refugees, those fleeing domestic violence and vulnerable homeless 
households. The terms of reference and objectives of the Working Group are:

 The collation of information on the scale and location in Sefton of 
supported accommodation for vulnerable people that fall under the 
remit of the Communities and Housing portfolio

 How do we ensure that such services provided to vulnerable people are 
regulated and are being delivered in accordance with contract 
specification

3.0    METHODS OF ENQUIRY

3.1 Dependent upon the refined scope of the review, to include:
 Analysis of current Sefton practice
 Desktop research into practise elsewhere
 Witness interviews with officers, stakeholders, experts and other 

organisations
 Possible site visits / conference calls with experts and other organisations

4.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 4 DECEMBER 2020

4.1 The Working Group considered and approved its Scoping Document. The 
Scoping Document’s terms of reference, objectives and methods of enquiry 
are referred to in paragraphs 2 and 3 above.   

4.2 In approving the Scoping Document  Working Group Members highlighted the 
following points:

 Difficulties experienced by members engaging with Serco Group PLC 
(Serco) to obtain information about their activities and future plans in 
Members’ wards

 A need to focus on private sector organisations operating in Sefton 
providing services covered by the Working Group’s scope

 To obtain information from other local authorities, particularly 
Liverpool City Region authorities, on the scale of problems 
experienced in their areas. This would help to gather evidence, build 
a bigger picture and strengthen the submissions to, for example, 
Government or the Local Government Association, seeking remedies 
to identified problems. It was acknowledged that it was vital to obtain 
such evidence in order to reach informed conclusions and 
recommendations 

 Concentration of accommodation provision in certain areas. There 
was a view that Serco, for example, procured properties in areas 
where property prices/rents were at the lowest. These areas often 

Page 76

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2766&ID=2766&RPID=27958491
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2766&ID=2766&RPID=27958491


Overview and Scrutiny
5

suffered from the worst socio-economic factors and the concentration 
in such areas compounded existing problems. On occasion this had 
resulted in unfavourable social media posts about vulnerable 
residents; and in some instances, activity by far-right groups trying to 
capitalise on the situation    

 The importance to be advised of the location of selected new 
accommodation before it was occupied  

  Did Serco consult with the Council prior to acquiring accommodation 
for use in Sefton? 

 A view was expressed that asylum seekers were not getting the 
support services they deserved due to poor service provision by 
Serco

 Complaints had been received from residents that properties in use 
by asylum seekers appeared to be occupied solely by males. 
Residents suggested that a mix of family accommodation would be 
beneficial 

 Details of the Serco contract with the Home Office would be helpful 
to understand fully their responsibilities 

 The possibility to obtain profiles of service users in relation to age, 
gender, children

 Information and views from Migrant Help and similar charities would 
be helpful for the Working Group to undertake its task
 

4.3 In response to the above points officers made the following comments:

 Prior to acquiring property for use, Serco would provide the Council 
with the postcodes of such property. This enabled officers to provide 
details of crime statistics (including hate crimes) in such areas, 
together with the availability of services, for example medical and 
educational provision. Serco would not commence with the 
procurement of a property if negative feedback was given by the 
Council. It was found that Serco would submit numerous postcode 
checks to the Council and they would be provided with 
positive/negative feedback on each property location. However, Serco 
were under no obligation to then advise the Council which properties 
they would secure for use. This was why the Council found out about 
the use of such property “after the event”. This was in contrast to the 
Syrian refugee programme which the Council had responsibility for. As 
the Council commissioned such services it was fully aware of the use 
of individual properties

 The profile of asylum seekers showed that 85% were male. This was 
the reason for the preponderance of males in accommodation provided 
by Serco

4.4 The Working Group also gave consideration as to what 
information/documentation would be beneficial at future meetings to help it 
complete its task. The Working Group requested that the following information 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
6

be presented at the next meeting:

 Information on the scale and location in Sefton of supported 
accommodation for the cohorts of vulnerable people within the scope 
of this review

 Information on the comments raised by Members in their deliberation 
on the Scoping Document (Paragraph 4.2 above) for example, details 
of the Serco contract specification with the home Office; and profiles of 
service users in relation to age, gender, children

 Information on the support services commissioned by the Council and 
the accommodation related to those services; and the associated 
support service specifications  

5.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 22 JANUARY 2021

5.1 The Working Group considered information requested at its previous meeting 
as set out below. 

5.2 Information on The Scale and Location in Sefton of Supported 
Accommodation for Vulnerable People and Associated Support Service 
Specifications

5.3 The briefing note of the Service Manager - Housing and Investment Services  
provided information on:

 the location in Sefton of supported accommodation for vulnerable 
people, commissioned by the Council

 Information on the support services commissioned by the Council and 
the accommodation related to those services; and

 the associated support service specifications relating to services within 
the Communities and Housing Cabinet Member portfolio.

The briefing note indicated that the provision of the above information was in 
accordance with one of the Terms of Reference for the Working Group; that 
the Council commissioned a number of accommodation and support services 
for Syrian Refugees, those fleeing domestic violence and vulnerable 
homeless households; and that the number of property locations, and the 
number of units of accommodation provided, by Ward, was as follows:

5.4 Ward Number of 
properties/locations

Sum of Units

Cambridge 2 32
Dukes 4 17
Norwood 2 19
Derby 19 36
Ford 1 11

Page 78

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2758&ID=2758&RPID=27958534


Overview and Scrutiny
7

Linacre 21 77
Litherland 5 6
St Oswald 2 2
Grand Total 56 200

5.5 Sum of Units          
Service

C
am

br
id

ge

D
er

by

D
uk

es

Fo
rd

Li
na

cr
e

Li
th

er
la

nd

N
or

w
oo

d

St
 O

sw
al

d

G
ra

nd
 

To
ta

l

Accommodation- 
generic homeless 
people 

32 20   40 2 9  103

Accommodation- 
offenders

    8    8

Accommodation- 
single women with 
complex needs

 4       4

Accommodation- 
substance misuse

  10      10

Domestic Abuse 
Refuge

    11    11

Homeless Families 
Hostel

   1
1

    11

Private Sector Leased 
properties funded 
through FHSG

 2 6  11  10  29

Syrian Refugee  10 1  7 4  2 24
Grand Total 32 36 17 1

1
77 6 19 2 200

5.6 The briefing note concluded by detailing the service specifications relating to 
the following services; advised that there currently wasn’t a service 
specification for Domestic Violence Refuge scheme, which was originally 
commissioned with SWACA under the historic Supporting People programme; 
and that the new statutory accommodation duty would provide commissioning 
responsibility on the Local Partnership Board and this would require some 
form of specification/performance management framework in the longer term 
to demonstrate success.

 Homeless Accommodation (including Move-On) tenancy support and 
Sit-Up service

 Substance Misuse Accommodation (including Move-On)
 Single Women with Complex Needs
 Offenders Accommodation

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
8

 Generic Floating Support (North)
 Targeted Intensive Floating Support Service  
 Floating Support Service- Offenders
 Rough Sleeper Outreach Service
 Rough Sleeper Community Services
 Syrian Family Accommodation and Housing support Services

5.7 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the following 
issues:

 What happened to service users who were excluded or evicted from 
services identified in the service specifications attached to the briefing 
note. Response – The aim was to keep such incidences to a minimum; 
exclusions and evictions normally resulted for non-compliance or 
misbehaviour from service users or for specific safeguarding reasons; 
and on occasions service users were moved to different 
accommodation. Any service users who were better suited to another 
service and moved would be managed into that other service in a 
planned manner 

 What were the legal implications to the Council and the service 
provider for excluding or evicting service users. Response - although 
regrettable this was a legal course of action to take. If the service user 
was non-compliant with rules, misbehaved or presented safeguarding 
issues then it could be deemed they had made themselves 
intentionally homeless. The function of supported accommodation 
however was for the provider to support service users and avoid such 
situations

 Does service provision supply meet demand. Response – No. During 
the Covid pandemic there was a surge in the numbers of clients; for 
example, lots of “sofa surfers” were asked to leave properties they 
were staying in due to isolation reasons and therefore demand 
increased; and to meet this increased demand work was currently 
being undertaken to commission 25 additional rooms across four 
properties

 Was a further surge in demand for homelessness services anticipated 
during the current Covid-19 lockdown. Response – Yes, most 
professional commentators expected this and there had been an 
increase in single homelessness. It was also anticipated that once the 
Coronavirus Act 2020 (Residential Tenancies: Protection from Eviction) 
Regulations were relaxed then there would be a further surge in 
homelessness. To obtain a clearer picture liaison would be undertaken 
with Courts to assess the number of eviction proceedings in the 
system. However, Court system information would not highlight 
evictions from unscrupulous landlords who did not comply with 
regulations 

 Were we coming the end of the supported housing service to Sefton’s 
homeless residents provided by the Bosco society. Response – Yes. 

Page 80

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
9

We were currently in year two of the 5 year plus 2-year extension 
contract. Regarding service provision to homeless persons emergency 
accommodation was being provided in the Prince of Wales Hotel, 
Southport and this service experienced very high demand

 Was there homeless service provision for couples. Response – No 
specific provision was made and service users would be placed in 
single person accommodation. Similarly, service users with pets 
experienced problems as accommodation providers generally did not 
allow pets 

 Reference was made to residents fleeing domestic abuse and violence 
and seeking accommodation in refuges; and information was sought 
on how children’s needs were catered for in such situations. Response 
– there were clear referral lines and wrap around support was provided 
by SWACA. Most of the children in Sefton based refuges were from out 
of borough due to families and victims leaving the areas from where 
they were subjected to abuse and violence. Similarly, lots of Sefton 
residents left the borough for the same safety reasons. Systems and 
processes were in place to support clients via Children’s Social Care, 
Early Help, and Housing Options. Liaison was also undertaken with the 
Courts Service in respect of prosecutions

 The tables on page 8 of the briefing note identified clusters of units in 
areas. Was this done deliberately. Response – No. It was the 
responsibility of service providers to source accommodation and 
support services; but the Council did try to discourage over-
concentration of accommodation in areas. The next time services were 
commissioned there was a potential to build into the contract 
specification a prohibition of clustering of units           

With regard to the last bullet point Members expressed a willingness to 
pursue this option as the clustering of supported units of accommodation was 
one of the reasons for the establishment of the Working Group; and that it 
was desirable for the Council to have an influence in determining locations of 
such units.   

5.8 Details of the Serco Contract Specification with the Home Office; and 
Profiles of Service Users in Relation to Age, Gender, Children

5.9 The briefing note of the Head of Communities detailed information the Council 
held about the accommodation and services provided to asylum seekers by 
the agency appointed by the Home Office (Serco) as set out below:

(1) Asylum Seekers, Refugees and Migrants

 Who was a refugee?
 Who was a vulnerable migrant?
 Section 95 support to asylum seekers whilst their asylum 

application was being processed

Page 81

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2759&ID=2759&RPID=27958585


Overview and Scrutiny
10

 Section 98 support was a form of temporary support that was 
provided to asylum seekers who appeared to be destitute and 
who were awaiting a decision on their application for s95 
asylum support

 Section 4 was the provision of support to refused asylum 
seekers

(2) The Home Office contract with Serco, who are the provider for the 
North West and Midlands, regarding the Housing of Asylum Seekers. 
This is known as the Asylum Accommodation and Support Contract 
(AASC).

 Migrant Help had been contracted to deliver the Advice, Issue 
Reporting and Eligibility Contract (AIRE). An appendix to the 
briefing note set out information on this matter.

 The AIRE contract covered the provision of advice and 
guidance, issue reporting, and eligibility assistance to people 
seeking asylum. It was predominantly a phone-based service  

 The AASC Contract covered accommodation services, 
transport services and support services. An appendix to the 
briefing note set out information on this matter.  

 
(3) Accommodation

 Initial accommodation for Section 98 asylum seekers was 
provided at 3 main sites in Liverpool

 During the Covid-19 pandemic a number of hotels across the 
country were utilised to provide additional bed spaces to act 
as initial accommodation. Serco had procured 5 hotels in the 
Liverpool City Region – 2 in Liverpool City Centre and one 
each in Wirral, Halton and Sefton

 Serco procured accommodation in local authority areas and 
this was usually in the form of a commercial agreement with a 
private landlord

 Each local authority operated an asylum seeker cluster limit 
(set by the Home Office) based on 1 asylum seeker for every 
200 head of population. The cluster limit could only be used 
boroughwide and not at ward level

 Serco’s property procurement arm would approach a Local 
Authority (LA) with the property address and postcode of the 
property they wished to procure, known as a postcode check 
(PCC)

 All LAs had seen a significant increase in the number of PCCs 
received from Serco since March 2020. This was Serco’s 
attempt to satisfy the demands of the Home Office to quickly 
cease the use of hotels

 An appendix to the briefing note showed the PCC activity from 

Page 82

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
11

March until the end of December 2020 across the Liverpool 
City Region

(4) Sefton Context

 An appendix to the briefing note showed the numbers of 
asylum seekers in Sefton and gave the LCR picture for 
context

 Details were also provided on the hotel accommodation (as at 
18 December 2020) and the approximate 50% split between  
Section 98 and Section 4 asylum seekers using such 
accommodation 

(5) Challenges for Asylum Seekers

 Legal Advice
 Employment
 Welfare advice
 Housing
 No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF)
 Education
 Language
 Health and wellbeing

(6) Governance

 Sefton Multi Agency Forum. All agencies involved with the 
provision and support of asylum seekers, refugees and 
migrants met on a quarterly basis to raise issues and jointly 
problem solve

 Migration lead for each Liverpool City Region local authority 
met on a 6-weekly basis

 Each area had a Regional Strategic Migration Partnership
 Politically each local authority had an elected member with 

responsibility around Asylum Seekers, Refugees and 
Migrants. In Sefton this responsibility rested with Councillor 
Hardy, Cabinet Member – Communities and Housing 

 
5.10 The briefing note concluded that the asylum world was a complex one and 

that Sefton played its part as a dispersal area and supported asylum seekers 
and refugees to ensure that the diverse nature of Sefton’s population was 
enriched;  it was noted that there were issues that local areas faced in 
managing asylum seekers and these were not exclusive to Sefton or any 
other local authority area, indeed they were common issues across many LAs 
in the North West; and that the governance mechanisms in place provided a 
route to escalate issues with Serco or the Home Office and this was done on 
a regular basis.

Page 83

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2759&ID=2759&RPID=27958585


Overview and Scrutiny
12

5.11 The following appendices were attached to the briefing note:

Appendix 1 - overview of the asylum process in the UK
Appendix 2 - detail in terms of the accommodation standards that is expected 
to be delivered
Appendix 3 - the different services Migrant Help deliver under the AIRE 
contract
Appendix 4  - the PCC activity from March until the end of December 2020 
across the Liverpool City Region.
Appendix 5 - the numbers of Asylum Seekers in Sefton and gives the LCR 
picture for context

5.12 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the following 
issues:

 How much influence did the Council have with Serco and the Home 
Office. Response – Issues are escalated and raised at a regional level 
at the Regional Strategic Migration Partnership. Anecdotally this was a 
one-way relationship

 The added responsibilities dealing with migrants cost money. Did 
Councils receive additional Government funding to achieve this. 
Response – No. As a dispersal the Council was expected to deal with 
the issues presented to it

 Regarding the Scarisbrick Hotel accommodation how many Serco staff 
were employed to help with the clients. Response – 2 during the day 
and 2 during the night. 78 clients, mainly male, were currently residing 
at the hotel and it was anticipated that all would have left by the end of 
February 2021 

 Concern was expressed that women may feel vulnerable in such a 
male dominated environment. Response – This was acknowledged 
and efforts were made to place women together at one particular north-
west site. Regarding safeguarding issues, Serco had clear Home 
Office guidelines that they had to adhere to. Two serious incidents at 
the Scarisbrick Hotel had occurred 

 Had asylum seekers experienced anti-social behaviour or hate crime. 
Response – Any form of anti-social behaviour of hate crime was not 
acceptable but generally, levels did not cause concern. On-going care 
and emotional support were offered at the Scarisbrick Hotel and there 
were also very good support services in place provided by the faith and 
community sector, for example, drop-in sessions at Christ Church

 Reference was made to the graphs and tables on pages 73 and 74 of 
the agenda relating to the PCC activity from March until the end of 
December 2020 across the Liverpool City Region. Explanation was 
given to a number of points such the data showing that Serco’s 
property procurement arm was looking to procure services across the 
LCR region rather than solely in Liverpool; and that the term 
“unsupported” in the table referred to those asylum seekers that had 

Page 84

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2759&ID=2759&RPID=27958585
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2760&ID=2760&RPID=27958588
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2761&ID=2761&RPID=27958617
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2763&ID=2763&RPID=27958622


Overview and Scrutiny
13

sufficient assets that they didn’t require support    
 If a local authority indicated that a property was not suitable as part of 

PCC could the procurement of that property still proceed. Response – 
No. If a local authority provided valid reasons then it could not. 
However, on occasion Serco would escalate the refusal to the Home 
Office who would in turn request further evidence and reasons for the 
local authority decision

 Therefore, all procured properties in Sefton had received approval from 
the Council. Response – Yes. 

 Did the Council have to give specific reasons for a PCC refusal. 
Response – Yes. Valid reasons related to crime, hate crime and anti-
social behaviour levels; capacity with local GPs and health services; 
capacity with local schools for additional pupils; and a concentration of 
asylum properties

 Regarding dispersal issues across the north-west, was there a 
connection between the availability of cheaper property in this area of 
the country than others; and in a similar fashion locally, the 
procurement of properties predominantly in the south pf the borough. 
Response – Yes. The Home Office rather than Serco determine 
dispersal ratios

 Could elected Members have access to responses to PCC enquiries. 
Response – Before information was released consideration would have 
to be given as to its commercially sensitive nature. Checks would be 
made to see if such information could be released

 Why couldn’t elected Members be involved in the PCC consultation 
process. Elected Members had good local knowledge of, for example, 
anti-social behaviour issues in their wards and could provide a valuable 
input into the process. Response – The Council did refuse PCC’s on 
the grounds mentioned above and as could be seen from the graph on 
page 73 of the agenda 38 such PCC’s had been refused in Sefton. 
Regarding elected Member involvement in the consultation process, 
there was a very short 3-day turnaround for the provision of information 
and this could be problematic to receive responses in the short 
timeframe. Furthermore, qualitative information from elected Members 
was different to quantitative information provided by statutory bodies 
such as the Police who could detailed statistical evidence for use in the 
PCC

 It was appreciated that there was a short response turnaround for PCC 
checks but a number of Members suggested that they should 
nonetheless be consulted as part of the PCC application process. 
Response – Investigations would be undertaken to find out if such 
consultation could be introduced  

 Was the dispersal of asylum seekers considered at the Regional 
Strategic Migration Partnership. Response – Yes and also at a national 
level. A case was being made to the Home Office that there was a 
disproportionate number of asylum seekers being placed in the LCR 
and north-west region      

Page 85

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
14

 What voice did asylum seekers have to raise complaints or grievances. 
Response – Complaints about Serco would be raised with Migrant 
Help. Other avenues were also available via Venus or Bosco and 
community groups

 Were there any complaints about Migrant Help. Response – Significant 
waiting times of up to 45 minutes were frequently experienced by 
asylum seekers using the Migrant Help telephone line. However, 
service improvements had been implemented and waiting times were 
now down to 3 or 4 minutes. It was generally accepted that Migrant 
Help performed a good service

 It was good to receive assurances about the quality of services 
provided by Migrant Help. Could information/feedback be provided to 
the Working Group on services offered by Venus and Bosco. 
Response – This should be possible. It may also be helpful to invite 
representatives of Venus and Bosco, along with service users, to a 
meeting of the Working Group so that they can provide information and 
share their experiences with members  

 How could elected Members feed into the Sefton Multi Agency Forum. 
Response – The terms of reference would be checked to ascertain 
elected Member representation on the Forum and how input could be 
facilitated. Politically each LA had an elected member with 
responsibility around asylum seekers, refugees and migrants and 
Councillor Hardy was Sefton’s lead. These lead members across LCR 
met twice a year and Councillors could contact Councillor Hardy with a 
request that she raise issues of concern

 Reference was made to the delivery the Advice, Issue Reporting and 
Eligibility Contract (AIRE) and what was the Council’s involvement with 
this. Response – The Council would only become involved if there was 
a complaint about housing standards issues. Generally, Migrant Help 
would escalate issues and complaints to the Home Office and there 
was a potential that Serco would incur financial penalties. It was 
agreed that information/data be sought on the complaints made in 
respect of AIRE

 A suggestion was made that an invite be extended to a 
representative(s) of the Liverpool City Region to attend a meeting of 
the Working Group to obtain the views of LCR in respect of the 
management of issues associated with asylum seekers, refugees and 
migrants                    

5.13 To further progress and help the Working Group with its review it was agreed 
that:

(1) the Head of Communities be requested to investigate and report to 
the next meeting of the Working Group on:

(a) providing elected Members with access to responses to Post 
Code Check (PCC) enquiries; 

Page 86

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
15

(b) enabling elected Members to be included as consultees as 
part of the PCC’s within their wards; and
 

(c) how elected Members could feed into the Sefton Multi 
Agency Forum.

(2) arrangements be made to invite representatives of Venus and 
Bosco, along with service users, to a meeting of the Working Group 
so that they can provide information and share their experiences 
with Members; and
  

(3) arrangements be made to invite a representative(s) of the Liverpool 
City Region to attend a meeting of the Working Group to obtain the 
views of LCR in respect of the management of issues associated 
with asylum seekers, refugees and migrants

6.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 26 FEBRUARY 2021

6.1 Witness Interviews - Venus Charity, former Asylum Seeker, Syrian 
Refugee, the Bosco Society and Liverpool City Region

6.2 The Working Group interviewed the following witnesses:

Carlie Machell and Lorraine Webb from Venus Charity
Atheer Abbas – former Asylum Seeker
Tahsen Abbar – Syrian Refugee 
Sheila Howard from the Bosco Society and service users; 
Julie Kashirahamwe from the Liverpool City Region.

6.3 Councillor Robinson, Lead Member, advised the interviewees that the 
Working Group was established following concerns about the perceived lack 
of management by Serco of their properties and the poor service provision to 
their service users; and that the purpose of the witness interviews was to 
obtain information from the Venus Charity and the Bosco Society and learn 
about the experiences of their service users; and to obtain the views of LCR 
in respect of the management of issues associated with asylum seekers, 
refugees and migrants.

6.4 To set the context, it was explained that the Venus Charity and the Bosco 
Society were part of the Sefton Supported Housing Network (SSHG) a 
consortium of four organisations that had joined forces to tackle 
homelessness in the borough. 

Regarding work with Refugees SSHG were commissioned by Sefton to 
implement the Syrian refugee resettlement programme.  This was an intense 
piece of support work provided to families that were resettled into the UK via 
UNHCRs refugee resettlement programme.  Service user families fell into 
groups of vulnerability such as "women and girls at risk", "victims of violence 

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
16

and torture", and "unaccompanied minors", and would have different needs as 
individual families.  Work commenced before a family arrived to secure 
appropriate accommodation, and property was procured from "available now" 
lists or private landlord properties, so from a transparency point of view the 
families were not being "given" a property that could have gone to a local 
family.  Pre-arrival work included furnishing the properties to a basic standard 
(again, ensuring local people could access these furnishings as well should 
they need it, by using the same supplier as local the Emergency Limited 
Assistance Scheme (ELAS) provision), and a basic food shop was provided to 
ensure families had everything they needed on immediate arrival (baby milk, 
bread etc). One of the unique pieces of pre-arrival work was liaising with 
Sefton to ensure a school place was secured and ready and schools would 
usually provide service users with uniforms meaning children could usually 
begin school within week one. On arrival service user families were met at the 
airport and settled into their home. Over the next week intensive support was 
provided on a daily basis, with local induction, and also in respect of applying 
for benefits, attending GP, dentist, and any other immediate issues service 
users faced.  Within 2 weeks parents started English for speakers of other 
languages (ESOL) at a local centre and again the administration for this was 
completed pre-arrival, and once the children were in school parents were free 
to attend ESOL to help to begin language work. 

Venus work with Asylum seekers was different and was in response to what 
the Charity was met with in their international cafe.  This session was 
developed in response to recognising how important it was for new speakers 
of English to be able to practice in a more informal setting, and to foster peer 
support. Word of mouth increased the amount of people attending this 
session and quickly it became apparent that many local asylum seekers also 
needed assistance.  Some of the issues faced were asylum seekers not being 
aware of local services, so they may be housed in the area, but were unaware 
of where the GP was, or how they could access money, food, clothing.  This 
local orientation was very important to people in needing to feel settled into an 
area, and local information, such as "bin day" may not feel very important to 
people, but these were issues that if left unchecked could become important 
quickly to the local community.  Venus had worked with many individuals who 
had no idea how to access cash points or had needed safeguarding referrals 
completing. Venus had informal links to many people who spoke different 
languages who could help to convey information and support to people as 
often quite simple things could make a big difference.  These sessions were 
attended by local community police officers and other professionals such as 
local libraries, Red Cross, women’s refugee connect, so that service users 
could be signposted to other support where needed.

6.5 Members of the Working Group and witnesses asked questions/commented 
on the following issues:

 Migrant Help – the consensus of witnesses was that rather than using 
Migrant Help, support was sought from the community and voluntary 

Page 88

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
17

sector services such as Venus or Bosco. The only way to contact 
Migrant Help was via telephone and experience had shown that it was 
difficult to get through on the phone line; and that they could not offer 
the wide-ranging support on matters such as mental health issues, 
finances, energy providers and the provision of local area knowledge. 
An opinion was expressed that the Home Office relied on charities and 
local authorities to pick up the pieces of the inadequate Migrant Help 
service provision and that this situation was replicated across the 
Country and not only in LCR  

 Language barriers – further to a number of different languages spoken, 
dialects within the same language could also hinder effective 
communication with asylum seekers and refugees. Methods to resolve 
such problems included not only the use of translators but the use of 
Google translate and matching service users with same 
language/dialect speakers   

 Home Office Contracts – these are in place for 10 years and local 
authorities, voluntary and charity sector had little influence over how 
changes could be implemented. However, a structure was in place to 
challenge the contracts, the North West Regional Strategic Migration 
Partnership, and local authorities had a voice at this Partnership. At a 
political level Councillor Liz Parsons from Liverpool City Council 
represented the LCR Lead Members on the Partnership. Quarterly 
meetings were held and data was provided on the Asylum 
Accommodation and Support Services Contract (AASC) but no 
performance data was given on the Advice, Issue Reporting and 
Eligibility Assistance services (AIRE) contract despite regular requests 
for such information. It was therefore difficult to know whether 
outcomes were being achieved and contract 
specifications/performance targets were being met. It would be helpful 
to this information/performance data     

 Serco – service user experience was that a poor service was provided 
by Serco; after the initial contact relating to the allocation of the 
property little contact was made by Serco; service users relied on help 
and support from other agencies; when contact was again made by 
Serco it was to inspect the property rather than to offer help and 
advice. It was noted that SERCO are only contracted to ensure that the 
housing provided is of a sufficient standard and are not required 
through the contract with the Home Office to do anything additional in 
terms of support. 

 Mental Health - it was acknowledged that service users had left their 
home countries either as political refugees and were seeking asylum in 
the UK or had been forced to leave their country in order to escape 
war, persecution, or natural disaster; and that some service users had 
experienced horrendous and traumatic experiences in the process. 
This had a negative impact on mental health. Specialist mental health 
services were available but could not meet the demand; and some 
services were now only being provided via telephone or online which 
was inadequate. Universal mental health services in the UK are often 

Page 89

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2791&ID=2791&RPID=28178188
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2791&ID=2791&RPID=28178188


Overview and Scrutiny
18

not equipped to deal with these types of trauma related issues and 
often don’t have the necessary language skills.

 Education – a comment was made that the allocation of school places 
for refugees ran much more smoothly than for asylum seekers. Social 
workers assigned to refugees and asylum seekers were involved in 
seeking education provision for their service users and it was 
considered that this was a resource that could be better managed. 
Outreach provision could be linked to the Talbot Street Southport 
Family Wellbeing Centre for those Asylum seekers living the 
Scarisbrick Hotel 
It was noted that Serco should provide service users with information 
on how to access school places. A scheme was referred to, run 
between LCR and Liverpool City Council, whereby a process was 
being established to identify refugee/asylum seeker families moving 
into areas so that appropriate educational services could be accessed

 Geographic location of asylum seekers in UK – It was noted that 24% 
of the UK’s asylum seekers were in the north-west region when on a 
nationwide proportionate basis the north-west should accommodate 
12%. The reason suggested for this was that Serco, who had been 
commissioned by the Home Office to provide such services, took 
decisions based on market forces and purchased properties where 
they were less expensive, for example in the north-west. At a national 
level north-west local authority Chief Executives were striving to 
achieve a reduction in asylum seeker numbers to 12%. To achieve a 
more even distribution nationwide the Home Office would have to 
provide additional resources to secure the procurement of properties in 
the south-east.

 Geographic location of asylum seekers in Sefton - on a Sefton basis, it 
was acknowledged that a 1:200 ratio of asylum seekers across the 
local authority area was acceptable. However, it was stated that 
asylum seekers were often concentrated in a small number of wards 
and the reasons for this were recognised as a result of Serco procuring 
properties in areas where they were less expensive. It was also 
recognised that as part of the postcode check (PPC) local authorities 
could only refuse approval for the procurement of a property on 
evidence-based grounds relating to crime, hate crime and anti-social 
behaviour levels, capacity with local GPs and health services for 
additional population, capacity with local schools for additional pupils 
and a concentration of asylum properties. It was noted that elected 
Members were a valuable source of local knowledge but were not 
consulted as part of PCC and that consideration should be given to 
their involvement in this process. It may also be helpful to engage with 
Serco to influence them to target procurement of properties in 
particular areas.  

6.6 The Working Group agreed that it would be beneficial if the following 
information could be sought:

Page 90

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
19

(1) the processes in place to ensure that asylum seekers and refugees 
received appropriate educational provision;  
 

(2) in respect of Migrant Help, the number of calls from service users 
received by the organisation; the average time taken for calls to be 
answered; the average time taken to resolve issues raised by 
service users; the number and nature of complaints received about 
the organisation; the number of staff employed to deal with service 
users calls; the languages in which staff could respond to service 
users calls; and the mechanisms in place to monitor the 
performance of the organisation against the contract service 
specification; and 
      

(3) Partnership managers from Migrant Health and Serco, together with 
a representative from the Home Office to attend a meeting of the 
Working Group to answer Members’ questions.

6.7 Serco Postcode Checks Details 

6.8 The Working Group considered the report of the Locality Services Manager 
that provided information on access by elected Members to responses to 
postcode checks (PCC) enquiries; how elected Members could be included 
as consultees as part of the PCC’s within their wards; and how elected 
Members could feed into the Sefton Multi Agency Forum. 

In respect of PCC’s the report indicated that Serco’s property procurement 
arm would approach the Local Authority with the property address and 
postcode of the property they wished to procure (known as the postcode 
check); that LA had 3 days to reply as to whether to grant approval for the 
procurement or not; and that the checks that the LA would make to determine 
whether a request could go ahead were:

 Crime, Hate Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour levels – the Police 
consulted 

 Capacity with local GPs and Health Services for additional 
population – the CCG consulted

 Capacity with local schools for additional pupils – Schools 
Regulatory Services consulted

 Concentration of Asylum Properties – Housing Strategy consulted

Given the high number of PCCs that the LA received and the time required to 
turn around the responses to these requests; and given the number that in 
reality followed through and became asylum accommodation, the report 
suggested that it would not be feasible to provide elected members with 
access to each response and that there was also the sensitivity of sharing 

Page 91

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2806&ID=2806&RPID=28292501


Overview and Scrutiny
20

potential commercial arrangements between Serco and private landlords. 
However, a potential solution could be to ask Serco to provide a quarterly 
report giving the total number of PCCs they had requested in that quarter, the 
number that the Council had refused and the reasons why, and the number of 
properties that actually culminated in becoming asylum accommodation. 

Furthermore, elected Members’ opinions could be sought, on a quarterly 
basis, on suitable areas for procurement, where Members felt there were 
significant numbers of properties already and any other issues they felt should 
be taken into account of in local communities. 

In respect of the Sefton Multi Agency Forum (MAF) the report indicated that 
this hadn’t met in over 12 months due to the Covid-19 pandemic but that 
arrangements were being taken to restart the MAF in Spring 2021. In respect 
of elected Member involvement in MAF it was suggested that the views of 
Councillor Hardy, Cabinet Member – Community and Housing be sought; and 
that an alternative solution for elected member involvement to input their 
experiences into the system could be to do so via Councillor Hardy’s 
attendance at the 6 monthly meeting with other LCR Lead Members chaired 
by Councillor Liz Parsons from Liverpool City Council. To facilitate this input 
the Head of Communities could, 4 weeks prior to the meeting, seek the views 
of elected Members on any issues they were experiencing and thereafter 
Councillor Hardy could be provided with a briefing note enabling her to raise 
these issues at LCR level.

6.9 Members of the Working Group asked questions/commented on the following 
issues:

 The involvement of elected Members in the Sefton Multi Agency 
Forum

 Ward Councillors being included as consultees as part of the 
consultation postcode check associated with Serco’s property 
procurement    

6.10 The Working Group agreed that the Head of Communities:

(1) submit quarterly reports to Members, following the receipt of 
information from Serco, on the total number of postcode checks they 
had requested in that quarter, the number that the Council had 
refused and the reasons why, and the number of properties that 
actually culminated in becoming asylum accommodation; 

(2) seek the views of elected Members, on a quarterly basis, on suitable 
areas for procurement, where Members felt there were significant 
numbers of properties already and any other issues they felt should 
be taken into account of in local communities; 

(3) seek the approval of the Cabinet Member – Communities and 

Page 92

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
21

Housing;

(a) for the inclusion of Ward Councillors as consultees as part 
of the consultation postcode check associated with Serco’s 
property procurement; and

(b) for elected Member involvement in the Sefton Multi Agency 
Forum; and
  

(4) provide 6 monthly updates to Councillor Hardy, containing the views 
of elected Members, in advance of her meeting with LCR Lead 
Members chaired by Councillor Liz Parsons.

7.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 23 APRIL 2021

7.1 The Working Group had been arranged to interview witnesses from Serco 
and the Home Office. Accordingly, Ben Rodgers and Ged Swanson (Serco) 
and Jonathan Blackburn (Home Office) attended the meeting. Members of the 
Working Group then asked the organisations listed below questions or 
commented on the following:

7.2 SERCO

1. Please can you describe your obligations under the Asylum 
Accommodation and Support Contract (AASC) to provide housing 
and support to Asylum Seekers in Sefton?

Answer - Under the contract, Serco are required to have proactive 
maintenance plans, to make sure that they regularly inspect 
properties and report back to the Home Office on the findings of 
these inspections. When issues are identified they are expected to 
be resolved within set timescales. Induction support is also provided 
to service users to ensure that they are aware of key services in the 
local area, for example signposting to GP and other support 
services; and how requests for, or complaints about, Serco’s 
housing services can be made.     
To facilitate the above Serco has Housing, Repair and Maintenance 
and Business Support teams. 
Welfare visits are also undertaken but such visits have been 
affected due to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

A Member referred to a problem occurring in a small cul-de-sac 
whereby service users regularly put their bins out for collection on 
the wrong day. This resulted in local residents complaining.   
It was stated that service users were advised about local Council 
services as part of the induction process. However, if problems 
continued in particular locations then if information is forwarded on 

Page 93

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
22

to Serco measures would be taken to resolve the matter. 

A Member asked was there a high turnover of service users in 
properties; as such a high turnover resulted in continuous problems 
as they did not have time to become accustomed to local services 
etc.
As mentioned earlier it was restated that all new service users had 
an induction; that inspection of the premises would be undertaken 
prior to a service user moving in; and then monthly inspections 
thereafter. This provide an opportunity to resolve issue on an 
ongoing basis.  

A Member asked how long a service user would stay in a Serco 
property. 
This would depend on the legal processes associated with the 
service user’s asylum application. 

2. How many staff do you employ and what is the staff to 
property/service user ratio?

Answer – Across the north-west regional contract about 400.  
Safeguarding work is undertaken on a north-west regional basis. 
Staff to property/service user ratio can differ due to types of 
property and how large the geographical area is. In Sefton, there 
are 2/3 frontline housing officer staff assisted by 2/3 maintenance 
staff. The target operating model for housing and maintenance 
services is one officer covering 50 properties. On average there are 
2/3 service users per property so each housing officer could have 
responsibility for 100/150 service users. A Field Operation manager 
oversees work and for this purpose Sefton is included with areas of 
north Liverpool.  

A Member asked how much time was spent with a service user. 
This was based on inspection times built into the Inspection Model 
in respect of housing matters or accessing services. The 
Safeguarding Partnership Team would deal with more problematic 
service user problems. Migrant Help also worked very closely with 
Serco and if a service user had an identified additional need then 
extra support would be provided by outreach teams and the 
voluntary sector.   

3. How is your performance against your contractual obligations 
monitored?

Answer - Performance and Compliance Teams within Serco would 
do this internally; and information was also reported to the Home 
Office. Serco was also accountable to local authorities in respect of 
environmental health/licensing regimes. The Home Office kept a 
close check on Serco’s performance in relation to contractual 

Page 94

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
23

obligations. It was explained that each contract region had a 
dedicated Home Office Service Delivery Manager who checked 
adherence to key performance indicators. Commercial Managers 
were also assigned to contract regions to ensure client service 
delivery. Dialogue between Serco and the Home Office in respect of 
this matter was undertaken daily. 
At a local level there was a well-established Multi-Agency Forum 
and monthly Liverpool City Region meetings where issues could be 
raised. Any specific concerns regarding the contract could made 
direct to Ged Swanson at Serco.

A Member referred to an issue raised at a previous meeting of the 
Working Group whereby a representative of Venus detailed 
problems experienced by service users using Language Line. 
Serco considered that their system did work well but acknowledged 
that it was not perfect. It was difficult to have every officer fluent in 
every language. On occasions there was a need to engage a 
representative of the service users’ community to help with 
translation issues. It was acknowledged that part of the Serco 
contract was to enable service users to raise issues in their own 
language. It was also noted that Migrant Help had access to Clear 
Voice interpreting services covering 20 languages. 

A Member asked what contractual obligations there were in respect 
of service users’ children accessing education services. 
It was stated that Serco’s main role was as a housing provider. 
However, this would form part of the service users’ induction 
process. Service users received two inductions and the second one 
related to access to health and education services and referrals 
were made where necessary. The general view was that service 
users genuinely engaged with educational provision. Ged Swanson 
agreed that he would be happy to make links and explore with 
Sefton education service a point of contact to resolve issues such 
as access to educational services.        
   

4. How are issues raised by service users living in accommodation 
you manage?

Answer – Initially issues are raised via Migrant Help, cases are 
logged and the Key Performance Indicator process begins. Contact 
with Migrant Help can be made via a live webchat, email or a 
freephone number. Complaints can also be raised directly with 
housing officers or escalated via advocates or colleagues in the 
voluntary or community sectors. 
Most service users have access to mobile devices but in instances 
where they do not help can be obtained from the Red Cross or 
other voluntary organisations.
Collaborative work is also undertaken by our Safeguarding 

Page 95

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
24

Partnership Team with organisations to address issues relating to 
early intervention and health; and to ensure the wellbeing of service 
users, with the Red Cross, Refugee Action and the Multi-Agency 
Forum.
Information sharing with other organisations is also used to address 
problems. However, such information sharing with voluntary sector 
organisations can be problematic due to General Data Protection 
Regulation (GDPR) issues. 
To overcome language barriers when service users wish to make 
complaints the Language Line as part of the Advice, Issue 
Reporting and Eligibility Contract (AIRE) can be utilised. Mediation 
measures would always be used to resolve language barriers.     

5. How do service users make a complaint about your service and 
how many complaints have you received in the past 12 months? 
Are there any particular themes in complaints that you see 
repeatedly?

Answer - Service users making complaints had been referred to in 
previous questions; and the Serco representatives did not have the 
numbers of complaints made to hand at the meeting. Service users 
could make complaints covering many aspects such as property 
maintenance issues, other service users or a desire to move to 
another property/location. No particular trends had been observed. 
It was stated that all complaints via the Advice, Issue Reporting and 
Eligibility Contract were dealt with by Migrant Help; and that this 
was part of the escalation process and provided transparency. 
Monthly management board meetings were held and there was 
always an item on the agenda regarding complaints.
Jon Blackburn (Home Office) indicated that customer service 
surveys were undertaken and that the results of feedback could be 
shared with the Working Group; together with details of complaints 
received.  

A Member asked how neighbours of service users could report 
complaints. 
Complaints could be directed through the local authority or direct to 
Ged Swanson at Serco.     

6. In your view are there any gaps in the service you provide that 
could be easily rectified?

Answer - There was always a potential for gaps to appear in service 
provision over the course of time. However, it was considered that 
Serco adhered to the Advice, Issue Reporting and Eligibility 
Contract. 

A Member referred to her membership of the Council’s Mental 

Page 96

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
25

Health Issues Working Group and the worrying trend that mental 
health issues being experienced were on the increase; and asked 
how service users could get referrals for mental health problems. 
The Member would welcome Serco, Migrant Help and Home Office 
involvement in the Working Group. 
It was stated that Serco had a low-level intervention regarding 
service user mental health issues and that this could be perceived 
as a gap in the service; although there was no mandatory 
requirement for medical issues of service users to be resolved by 
Serco. Service user mental health issues could be referred to the 
local Adult Social Care teams.

A Member asked about suicide incidents of service users. 
Unfortunately, some service user suicides had been experienced. In 
such cases the Home Office undertook in-depth case reviews. As 
mentioned above, there was no distinct mental health service user 
service provision; but a NHS Task and Finish Working Group was 
referred to which was currently looking at the medical service 
provision for service users. This brought into focus the need for 
services users to register with a local GP.  

A Member asked about service user links with the local community 
and how the Council could be involved to help with this process. 
Ged Swanson, Serco was currently undertaking a piece of work on 
this matter and any contact or assistance with the Council would be 
greatly appreciated. 
From a Home Office perspective there was a desire to encourage 
service users to integrate into their local communities. Post code 
checks helped with cohesion; and it was considered that generally, 
there had been successful resettlement and integration of service 
users into communities.   

A Member indicated that although the Council were made aware of 
Serco property searches via post code checks, the Council was 
unaware what properties had been purchased and service users 
accommodated in. 
This was acknowledged and it was now the case that local 
authorities were advised when Serco would not be pursuing the 
procurement of properties following post code check enquiries. 

Steven Martlew, Interim Head of Communities suggested that this 
should be built into the post code check process so that a strategic 
overview could be obtained and to provide due diligence for elected 
Members.         

7.3 HOME OFFICE

1. Can you describe the Home Office roles in the procurement and 

Page 97

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
26

monitoring of both the ASSC and AIRE contracts?

Answer – The procurement process was initiated in 2017 to replace 
the former COMPASS contracts for the provision of accommodation 
for asylum seekers; the contracts were designed following 
engagement with local authorities, potential providers and non-
governmental organisations; following an open and transparent 
procurement process the contracts were awarded in March 2019 
and took effect from August 2019; and the contracts were for a 
period of 10 years with the potential for a review after 7 years. 

A Member asked why Sefton did not take part in the procurement 
process. 
It was noted that local authorities could have bid for the contracts. 
However, a consortium of local authorities would have had to 
submit a joint bid as the contract was awarded on a regional basis 
rather than by local authority geographical area.   

2. What opportunities are there for amending the contracts to include 
things that are clearly a common issue for Service Users?

Answer – There is the ability to amend or change the contracts by 
use of formal contract change notes. 

A Member asked could a contract change be implemented if a local 
authority raised a particular issue. 
It was stated that in theory this could be done but that it would be 
very unusual for changes to be made at a local level rather than at a 
regional level. Issues of concern should be raised with the Strategic 
Migration Partnership Lead.    
 
A Member asked about the potential changes to the property 
procurement processes contained in the contract. 
It was stated that changes could be made to the operating 
processes and that these were regularly reviewed. 

A Members asked who attended Multi-Agency Forum meetings.
It was reported that representatives of the Home Office, Serco, local 
authorities, Police, Health Services and the voluntary sector 
attended the Forum. However, the membership was “fluid” and 
invites could be extended to any person or service if deemed 
appropriate. 

A Member asked how the Home Office heard of service users’ 
concerns. 
It was stated that the Advice, Issue Reporting and Eligibility 
Contract was established for this purpose; and that Migrant Help 
was the first point of contact for complaint escalation. Also, the 

Page 98

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
27

Home undertook customer satisfaction surveys, on a sample basis, 
and these were used to inform changes to service provision.

A Member asked what level of feedback was generated by the 
customer satisfaction survey.
It was reported that often, service users viewed the surveys with 
cynicism as they considered there may be an ulterior motive for the 
survey; also, the outcome of the service users asylum claim could 
have a bearing on the perception of the service they received. It 
was stressed however that service users were not mandated to 
undertake the survey.  

It was also noted that Serco were working on a Customer Insight 
survey. All service user responses to the survey would be 
anonymous and hopefully a true picture of service user views could 
be obtained. 

A Member asked what happened when a service user had failed the 
five appeal stages and lost their right to asylum but could not be 
returned to their country of origin due to personal safety issues; but 
were left with no access to public funds. 
It was stated that the Home Office had a Voluntary Returns 
Programme and could undertake enforced removals. Since the UK 
left the EU problems were being experienced with the Dublin 
Agreement. Failed applicants could apply to stay in the UK using 
Section 4.    

3. What form does your contract monitoring of both Serco and Migrant 
Help take and where do you report this?

Answer – This was undertaken by a full Governance Board. 
Reporting of information could be to Chief Inspectors, the Home 
Affairs Select Committee and ultimately the Home Secretary. 
If any system failures were identified then an action plan would be 
put into place. If the service failure was deemed to be severe then 
then the service provider could be removed from the contract.   

4. What performance information does the Home Office publish 
around contract monitoring assurance meetings?

Answer - Information in this regard is deemed confidential and 
commercially sensitive. However, the terms of the contract itself 
was in the public domain.

A Member queried why performance data was deemed 
commercially sensitive and suggested that scrutiny of performance 
data of a Government contract would ensure transparency.  
It was stated that information would be sought on the reasons for 

Page 99

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
28

confidentiality in this regard. 

5. Who holds the Home Office to account in terms of their granting and 
monitoring of the AIRE and AASC contract? How do we know the 
Home Office is holding Serco and Migrant Help to account 
appropriately?

Answer – the Home Affairs Select Committee and the Home 
Secretary. Independent Chief Inspectors also ensured that the 
contracts were managed correctly. It was also stated that there 
could be significant financial penalties if contractors did not perform 
adequately; and that a sanction could lead to the removal of a 
contractor from the contract. Key performance indicators were 
publicly available on the Government website and a link to such 
information would be provided to the Working Group. Home Office 
inspectors also undertook inspections of Serco properties to ensure 
service providers were providing the service they should. In 
conclusion, it was stated that the Home Office would be happy to be 
involved in collaborative property inspection work with both Serco 
and Sefton.       

6. In your view are there any gaps in the services that both Serco and 
Migrant Help deliver that you feel should be included in an 
immediate contract change or included in future contract 
procurement processes?

Answer – No pressing issues at present.
Appropriate data sharing across statutory bodies was required to 
ensure adequate services are provided. The sharing of health data 
would be beneficial but it was acknowledged that health service 
providers were not mandated to provide such information.   
A change in planning of service user placements could be helpful to 
ensure an equitable distribution of asylum seekers not only across 
the north-west but across the UK regions.  
The discontinuance of the use of hotel accommodation.

A Member asked how realistic was it that the distribution of asylum 
seekers would be equitable across the UK bearing in mind the 
widely varying house prices from region to region. 
This difficulty was acknowledged and that Serco were working in an 
environment of high demand. Rurality was a barrier due to poor 
service provision for service users. A balance also needed to be 
taken regarding the potential negative views of the public to placing 
service users in affluent, expensive property areas. To balance 
distribution more equitably there needed to be % shift towards the 
Midlands and the south-east and south-west. At the end of the day 
the situation was dictated to by the availability of suitable properties 
that could provide a minimum set of standards for service users. 

Page 100

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
29

A Member asked whether local authorities who had signed up to be 
part of the programme could back out. 
No this could not be done. Furthermore, the Home Office had a 
statutory duty to provide accommodation and support services to 
asylum seekers so a situation could arise whereby service users 
could be located in a local authority area without any consultation. 

A Member stated that the poorest wards in Sefton accommodated a 
disproportionate number of asylum seekers and that this could lead 
to local community resentment or at worse, right wing extremism. 
It was stated that a “hot mapping” exercise could be undertaken but 
that Serco had to use properties available to them and which met 
the requirements of the post code check. If specific problems were 
being experienced in Sefton then Serco should be contacted in an 
effort to resolve them. Across the UK there were 8000 asylum 
seekers in hotel accommodation who needed to be decanted to 
residential property. Numbers of migrants may also increase with 
the relaxation of Covid-19 restrictions. There was therefore a need 
for more accommodation to be sourced across the UK. Sefton could 
engage with Serco to specify areas in which they deemed it most 
suitable for the housing of service users. The post code checks 
were really important because service users needed to be placed in 
areas where there was no risk to their safety. This would help to 
ensure service users were successfully integrated into communities. 
A Serco representative indicated that they were actively procuring 
property in Sefton and that a small cluster of properties would soon 
be utilised in the Southport area. 

A Member indicated that a number of Syrian refugee families had 
been housed in Derby ward and on the whole, there were very few 
complaints. One issue of concern however related to refuse sacks 
being put out on the wrong days which local residents construed as 
fly-tipping. 

A Member asked when asylum seekers would be moved out of the 
Scarisbrick Hotel in Southport; and reference was made to a recent 
incident whereby a far-right group demonstrated at the hotel. 
The plan was to decant the asylum seekers shortly and work was 
being undertaken with the local MP on this. Hotel accommodation 
was only used as temporary facility. 
Local authorities often highlighted areas where they did not want to 
see asylum seeker accommodation but rarely specified areas in 
which they would be happy to accommodate it. 

Steven Martlew, Interim Head of Communities assured Members 
that work on the “hot mapping” exercise referred to earlier in the 
meeting had already started in liaison with Serco.

Page 101

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
30

    
           

8.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 24 JUNE 2021

8.1 The Working Group had been arranged to interview the witness Florence Le 
Gal from Migrant Help. Accordingly, Florence Le Gal attended the meeting 
and Members of the Working Group asked the Ms. Le Gal questions or 
commented on the following:

8.2 1. Can you describe your obligations under the AIRE contract to
provide support to Asylum Seekers living in initial and dispersed 
accommodation?

Answer – When Migrant Help are notified that a new arrival has 
made themselves know to the Home Office and claim asylum, the 
key performance indicator (KPI) provides that within 24 hours 
Migrant Help should contact the client and complete an induction 
leaflet. Migrant Help also have to comply with a KPI to complete the 
application for support and send it to the Home Office for decision. 
During the application process, advisers can identify extra support 
needed and will signpost to appropriate services. Migrant Help give 
out a handbook in service users own language regarding the asylum 
process, support and rights. A solicitors list is also provided, a 
national and local list of services and Migrant Help’s contact number 
and other ways to contact the organisation. Pre pandemic, the Home 
Office would take 21 days to respond to the clients regarding the 
support. If accepted, clients will receive a Grant letter of support 
which they can use to access medical, educational and legal services 
and they will be dispersed to a more permanent accommodation. If 
refused, Migrant Help signpost clients to various partners to lodge an 
appeal.
Clients can contact Migrant Help if they are having issues with: 
payments, repairs, change of circumstances, re-location, signposting, 
safeguarding issues, complaints and feedback. During this time 
clients will receive their asylum claim decision, either positive or 
negative and Migrant Help will make contact with the clients to speak 
about their options and referral to partners for extra support. Migrant 
Help also have an outreach team that partners can refer clients to 
and this is for vulnerable clients. The team has no KPI and will offer 
support as long as the client is in need.
Migrant Help are working very closely with the Home Office, housing 
providers, Local Authorities and the Voluntary Sector and a monthly 
report is sent to all referred to. Regular meetings are attended, 
information shared, feedback taken and issues solved when they 
arise.

A Member asked who funded legal representation for migrants. 
The Working Group was advised that funding was provided by Legal 

Page 102

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
31

Aid.

A Member asked how initial contact was made with migrants. 
The Working Group was advised that before the pandemic, all clients 
would have been seen face to face and seen by the medical team in 
place. Now the induction and application process had to be 
completed by telephone. If the service user does have phone access, 
provision is made and are appointments for applications are also 
made with the support of Serco staff.
For hotel use the local CCG medical team have a presence in the 
hotels. 

2. How many calls from service users to do you receive?

Answer – The Working Group was advised that this number 
fluctuated; and that Migrant Help monthly reports would show the 
different trend each month. 
The Working Group was advised that the exact data would have to 
be sought from the Home Office as they are the data owner.

A Member asked for details about the Aspen Card. 
The Working Group was advised that an 'Aspen Card' was a debit 
payment card, issued by the UK Home Office to asylum seekers. 
Asylum seekers with ongoing applications (called 'Section 95') could 
withdraw cash on their card, whilst people with failed applications 
(known as 'Section 4') could only use it as a debit card. The Home 
Office could see exactly what had been purchased, and where and 
when it was purchased.

A Member asked about recent problems with the Aspen Cards.
The Working Group was advised that in May 2021 the current Aspen 
Cards were de-activated and new cards sent to service users. 
However, problems occurred and in circumstances cards stopped 
working. Migrant Help had to deal with numerous calls from service 
users to resolve problems they were experiencing. 

A Member asked if any statistics were available, relating solely to 
Sefton, about the problems experienced with Aspen Cards.
The Working Group was advised that such information would have to 
be sought from the Home Office.        

A Member asked who was responsible for emergency payments to 
migrants. 
The Working Group was advised that Migrant Help and Serco, the 
Home Office’s approved housing provider could make the payments.

A Member asked whether statistics could be provided to the Working 
Group detailing the numbers of calls from service users and the 

Page 103

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
32

average waiting times for such calls to be answered.
Migrant Help collected such data but did not “own” it. The data was 
sent to the Home Office as the commissioner of the service. The 
information would therefore need to be requested from the Home 
Office.   

3. What is the average time taken for calls to be answered?

Answer – This changed depending on the time of the year. As 
referred to above, Migrant Help collected such data but did not “own” 
it. The data was sent to the Home Office as the commissioner of the 
service. The information would therefore need to be requested from 
the Home Office.   
(Note: As an example, information provided by Migrant Health on 
25/06/21 showed that on that day, the helpline waiting time was 
under 20 minutes for the first responder and under 10 minutes for the 
EAGL team (the more experienced advisers).

4. How many staff do you employ to deal with service user calls?

Answer – the number of nationwide helpline staff fluctuated between 
100/200 depending on periods of demand. Higher numbers of staff 
worked between 9.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m. and reduced numbers 
outside of normal hours and at weekends. 

A Member asked what training was provided for Migrant help staff. 
The Working Group was advised that training was provided by the 
Home Office suitable to the levels of responsibility. For example, 
there were 2 helpline teams. The first team dealt with standard 
queries whilst the second team dealt with more complicated issues.   

A Member asked what was the ratio of staff to service users.
The Working Group was provided with details of client advisor and 
outreach teams roles; and it was stressed that the north-west region 
received more asylum seekers than any other region. Migrant Help 
fulfilled the terms of the Home Office contract and adhered to the key 
performance indicators within it. It was stated that the Home Office 
would not allow the publication of Migrant Health client numbers. 
However, some north-west statistical information was collated by 
Colin Parker, Asylum Lead at Manchester City Council.   

A Member asked could the Working Group have sight of the key 
performance indicators.
The Working Group was advised that this matter would be looked 
into to find out whether the helpline key performance indicators could 
be provided.  

5. What is the average time taken to resolve issues raised by service 

Page 104

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
33

users?

Answer – Migrant Help had various KPI’s for different issues set by 
the Home Office. If targets have failed the Home Office will penalise 
Migrant Help.
For maintenance issues, the housing providers have their own KPI’s 
but Migrant Help have 30 minutes to send the notification.

6. What are the common themes raised by service users in their calls?

Answer – The trend will be detailed in Migrant Help’s monthly report 
but common themes mainly related to repairs, payments issues, a 
change of situation (adding a child/family members), re-location 
requests, welfare calls needed for extra health support or clothes.

7. How is your performance against your contractual obligations 
monitored?

Answer – Migrant Help had internal processes in place, key 
performance indicators to adhere to as part of the Home Office 
contract and the submission of monthly reports to the Home Office. 

A Member asked could the Working Group have sight of this 
information.
The Working Group was advised that the information would need to 
be requested from the Home Office.

8. In your view are there any gaps in the service that you provide that 
could be easily rectified?

Answer - it would have made sense if Migrant Help could still 
complete Asylum Support Appeals for clients when the support had 
been declined. Migrant Help were currently signposting clients to 
external partners as Asylum Support Appeals were not covered 
under the AIRE Contract.
Migrant Help would like to support clients and the external agencies 
by providing additional support. Migrant Help have now recruited 
more staff to launch a new strategy to support local projects and are 
also looking at involving more service users to hear their feedback 
and ideas.
Migrant Help are always looking at improving communication with all 
involved in the region and would welcome any questions. 
Migrant Help encouraged Working Group Members to visit their 
website, which  had many translated materials; and the use of an 
App which can translate and speak different languages and provide 
information on Covid updates, asylum support changes, videos about 
Home Office interviews and many more topics.

Page 105

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
34

A Member referred to the change to the 2019 Advice, Issue 
Reporting and Eligibility Assistance services (AIRE) contract that 
prevented Migrant Help from helping service users to complete 
documentation; and asked how would service users now get help 
with, for example, appeals issues.
The Working Group was advised that each region had different 
methods and as referred to above signposted service users to 
organisations who could offer help and support.

A Member stated that one of the reasons the Working Group was 
established was to understand the issues affecting migrants in 
Sefton; but to do so, it was apparent that information had to be 
provided to the Working Group by the Homer Office. Concern was 
expressed that information may be difficult to obtain because the 
Home Office would cite commercially confidential reasons for 
refusing to release such information. 

A Member asked whether Migrant Help considered that they could 
adequately support migrants under the terms of the new AIRE 
contract.  
The Working Group was advised that Migrant Help’s outreach 
workers aimed to ensure that migrants had financial support, 
accommodation, medical care and access to legal advice. 
Furthermore, in addition to the AIRE contract Migrant Help had an 
involvement with the Home Office Modern Slavery Victim Care 
Contract. 
Migrant Help also had very good working relationships with local 
authorities and voluntary sector organisations who helped service 
users out with, for example, the provision of meals and clothing.      

A Member asked whether Migrant Help would be advised of the 
potential homelessness of service users. 
The Working Group was advised that service users in this position 
should contact Migrant Help for assistance. 

A Member asked what happened when a service user had no further 
recourse to public funds. 
The Working Group was advised that this related to people with 
failed applications (known as 'Section 4') (known as 'Section 4'). 
Often in these circumstances people with failed applications 
“disappeared” into society. 

Florence Le Gal concluded by indicating that she would welcome 
being invited to any multi-agency forums to have the chance to 
highlight issues effecting migrants; and that the Migrant Help website 
was a useful source of information which provided monthly reports.

8.3 The Working Group also considered information on performance data 

Page 106

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
35

provided by Migrant Help that detailed their responsibilities under the AIRE 
Contract. The following information was provided and links to the information 
can be obtained from the “Documentation considered by the Working Group 
section” of the Final Report:

 Migrant Help Monthly Update – March 2021
 Migrant Help North West Regional Update - March 2021
 AIRE Outreach Overview
 Outreach Referral Form
 UKVI Asylum Operations – Update on Remote Interviewing - 

15/02/2021
 Migrant Help Asylum Services Consent Form – Third Party
 Migrant Help Services
 Clear Voice Information

8.4 The Working Group also considered a briefing note of the Head of 
Communities that provided information on asylum seeker/refugee children of 
school age accessing education; and asylum seeker children who lived with 
their families. 

The briefing note indicated that once Sefton had been notified about children 
of Asylum Seekers moving into the borough, the children missing education 
processes were followed and an admissions form was sent to the family to 
complete; that there was a dedicated Children Missing Education Co-
ordinator who would also arrange to engage a translator if required to 
complete the forms and that a home visit was undertaken if required; and that 
if the family were placed with an accommodation provider, for example 
SERCO, Sefton liaised directly with them, and often this involved a home visit 
to complete the application form for a place at the school/education setting.

In the case of unaccompanied asylum seekers who were in the care of the 
local authority, the briefing note indicated that when the application form for a 
school was received it was passed to the Principal Admissions Officer to 
process; that  the Principal Admissions Officer had specific responsibility to 
oversee the admission of looked after children into school; and that this 
function was added to the role to align to care planning and education 
processes. 

In respect of support for Refugee families under the UK's Resettlement 
Scheme, children who came into Sefton through the scheme were allocated 
school places prior to their arrival; and that this was a partnership between 
Community Safety, School Admissions, VENUS (voluntary and community 
sector) and schools.

9.0 WORKING GROUP MEETING – 27 JULY 2021

9.1 The Working Group considered the briefing note  of the Interim Head of 

Page 107

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2868&ID=2868&RPI
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2870&ID=2870&RPID=30716404


Overview and Scrutiny
36

Communities that updated on the 6 Monthly Asylum Procurement Report for 
the period 1 January to 30 June 2021.

9.2 The briefing note indicated that Working Group had requested that elected 
Members had more input into the strategic planning, location and distribution 
of Housing and Support Services for vulnerable households; that one such 
vulnerable group were Asylum Seekers; that Asylum Seekers were housed in 
dispersed accommodation whilst they awaited a decision as to their asylum 
application; that each local authority operated an asylum seeker cluster limit 
that was based on 1 asylum seeker for every 200 head of population; that the 
cluster limit could only be used boroughwide and not at ward level; that the 
cluster limit in terms of actual numbers of Asylum Seekers in Sefton would be 
1382; and that Sefton currently had 241 dispersed Asylum Seekers.

The briefing note also detailed Serco’s property procurement process and the 
postcode check (PCC) they undertook with local authorities which required a 
response within three days; and provided information on the 6 Month PCC 
activity in respect of:

 PCCs received by Ward from 1 January to 30 June 2021
 the total number of PCCs received since Sefton became a dispersal 

area in 2016
 the decisions made on the 85 PCCs submitted by Serco from 1 

January to 30 June 2021 by ward
 detail with regards to reasons for refusal of PCCs

The evidence showed that the conversion rates of PCCs into actual dispersed 
accommodation was very low; that out of the 460 total PCCs received since 
1/1/2016 only 57 had progressed into actual dispersed accommodation – a 
12% conversion rate; and that in the period 1 January to 30 June 2021 only 2 
additional properties became dispersed accommodation as the number of 
dispersed accommodation. 

Looking forward to the next 6-month period the briefing note provided 
information on Operation Oak, a strategic approach by the Home Office 
towards procurement of asylum accommodation which encouraged providers   
to focus their procurement activity in the right areas. In support of this 
operation Sefton had begun conversations with Serco as to the areas of the 
borough they should be focussing their procurement activity in. Discussions 
had not yet been finalised but it was hoped that the operation would enable a 
more sensible, strategic view of the procurement of asylum accommodation.

The briefing note concluded by recognising the intelligence and local 
knowledge Elected Members possessed about their communities; that there 
should be an opportunity for Elected Members to feed this intelligence and 
local knowledge as to which areas within their wards that maybe suffering 
issues that should be taken into account when considering future 
procurement; but stressed that any recommendations for refusal would need 

Page 108

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
37

to be evidence based. It was vital therefore that Elected Members reported 
instances of crime, including hate crime, anti-social behaviour and any 
community tensions into the right channels so that the evidence used to make 
informed decisions was accurate and reflective of the situation.

9.3 Members of the Working Group acknowledged that any comments on PCCs 
should be evidence based and that comments had to be submitted within a 
very tight timescale. Notwithstanding this, Members considered that 
appropriate Ward Councillors should be consulted as part of the PCC process 
as they could provide a valuable source of local knowledge; and that this 
should form part of the recommendations in the Working Group’s Final 
Report. 

9.4 Accordingly, the Working Group resolved that in order:  

(1) that elected Members can provide a local insight into the Postcode 
Check process, appropriate Ward Councillors views be sought as 
part of the consultation process; 

(2) to provide as much evidence base as possible as part of the 
Postcode Check process the Chief Legal and Democratic Officer be 
requested to write to all elected Members urging them to contact the 
Head of Communities as to which areas within their wards maybe 
suffering issues that should be taken into account, such as instances 
of crime, including hate crime, anti-social behaviour and any 
community tensions, when considering future asylum 
accommodation procurement; and  

(3) that elected Members are aware of the strategic planning, location 
and distribution of Housing and Support Services for vulnerable 
households the Interim Head of Communities be requested to 
provide 6-monthly updates to all Councillors.

9.5 The Working Group also considered the briefing note of the Interim Head of 
Communities that provided potential recommendations for inclusion in the 
Working Group’s Final Report. 

9.6 The briefing note indicated that following the assessment of evidence  
gathered in the form of Witness interviews with officers, statutory agencies, a 
selection of accommodation and support service agencies, stakeholders, 
experts and other relevant organisations there was a significant range of 
housing and support services for vulnerable households located throughout 
the borough; that when the Council directly commissioned a housing and 
support service for vulnerable household there was consideration of the 
location of the housing, taking into account other services for similar groups in 
the area, the capacity of statutory and non-statutory services as well as local 
community and ward specific issues; and that there was a mature relationship 

Page 109

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
38

between Council Officers and service providers and that issues were resolved 
quickly. 

However it was also found that where a service was commissioned by an 
organisation external to Sefton more local issues were not taken into account 
and as such can cause issues. Because services were not based locally and 
were regionally centred services it could be difficult to resolve issues quickly 
and this frustrated local residents and communities.

Members commented on the letter submitted by a number of Liverpool City 
Region MP’s to the Home Secretary regarding the impending eviction of up to 
275 people from asylum accommodation in the region. 
Steve Martlew, Interim Head of Communities provide background information 
and stated that the Home Office would be resuming the cessation of support 
for those cases who had received negative decision to their asylum claims, 
starting on Monday 19th July, in line with the removal of most Covid-19 
restrictions; that local authorities had already been advised of the number of 
negative cases to be processed, and the split between s95 and s4; and that 
as the review of s4 cases would result in the continuation of support, these 
numbers represented a maximum; that the Home Office intended to deal with 
the s95 cases first, as they were more straightforward. 
The review would be undertaken as a desk-top exercise, as it was a matter of 
fact that these cases had had negative decisions.  Service users would be 
issued the notices of discontinuation of support, and Serco would issue 28- 
day notices to quit.  The service users may, during the 28-day grace period, 
appeal against the decision, apply for s4 support, and provide evidence in 
support, or make a fresh claim (further submissions) if their circumstances 
permitted.  If they did not do any of the above, or their circumstances did not 
allow, they were likely to be evicted.  Serco's normal procedure was to serve 
a 7-day "lock change" notice on day 21 of the grace period.
When the s95 cases had been processed, the Home Office would start to 
review the s4 cases; and they would write to service users inviting them to 
submit evidence that they had a continuing right to receive support under s4.  
Emphasis needed to be put on the need to submit evidence. After 14 days 
(allowing for postage), if the Home Office were not satisfied of a continuing 
right to s4, they would serve discontinuation notices, and Serco would issue 
21-day notices to quit.  "Lock change" notices would be served on day 14 of 
the 21-day grace period, on the expiry of which service users were likely to be 
evicted.

The Regional Strategic Migration Partnership had asked for the cessations to 
be phased, so that local authorities and third sector organisations would not 
be inundated with requests for support.  The Home Office response was to 
say that they did not have the capacity to deal with all cases at the same time, 
and it would take a few weeks to deal with them all, but there would be no 
phasing related to local authorities/third sector's capacity. The Home Office 
were to restart the negative decision and cessation process. 

Page 110

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2869&ID=2869&RPID=30716407


Overview and Scrutiny
39

The numbers for Sefton were low – with less than 10 s95 cases and less than 
20 s4 cases. The numbers in Liverpool were high hence the letter from Paula 
Barker’s (MP for Liverpool Wavertree) office.  

9.7 The Working Group resolved that: 

 (1) when commissioning specific housing and support services for 
vulnerable groups, the Council should continue to adopt a strategic 
approach that is cognisant of other such services, the capacity of 
wider statutory, community and voluntary services and reflects
issues at a local community level within each ward as to the location 
of the housing element; 

(2) the Syrian Refugee scheme is a great example of a support service 
working right. The Council have commissioned South Sefton 
Housing Group (Bosco, Venus and Excel Housing) to provide the 
housing and support for a particularly vulnerable group of people; 
and the Working Group have heard from Bosco and Venus about 
how they are local organisations delivering local services and also 
from service users who were extremely complimentary of the 
services they received, how they have helped them integrate into 
their local community as well as how they supported them when they 
had issues or problems.

Therefore, it is recommended that any support services that are 
commissioned by the Council to support vulnerable households 
should be tailored to the target group with specialist provision and 
the ability to flex up and flex down as and when required. Local, 
Sefton based services, often run by the Community and Voluntary 
sector based in our communities should always be the preferred 
option wherever possible. The longer term aim of self-reliance for the 
service user and longer term sustainability of the project should 
always be the aim with a focus on reducing demand on demand-led 
services.

(3) Where housing and support services that are not commissioned by 
the Council are locating in the borough the Council needs to liaise 
with the relevant responsible government department to ensure that 
any services bring added value and are not to the detriment of the 
Communities in Sefton.

An example of this is the Postcode Checks that Serco carry out with 
regards to procurement of new asylum accommodation in the 
borough. Elected members felt they would like more involvement 
from a strategic oversight of the Postcode Check process. 

Therefore, it is recommended that a system of 6 monthly updates on 
Postcode Check activity be shared with elected members to increase 

Page 111

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
40

their awareness of activity within their wards; and 
.

(4) Where housing and support services that are not commissioned by 
the Council fail then officers should use the governance structures in 
place to escalate issues.

An example of this is where officers have used the Liverpool City 
Region Officers network and the Regional Strategic Migration 
Partnership so that issues can be escalated by elected members to 
the Lead Member for the Liverpool City Region group.

10.0 RECOMMENDATIONS

10.1 That Cabinet and Council be recommended to approve that:
 
1. in order for elected Members to provide a local insight

into the Postcode Check process, appropriate Ward Councillors
views be sought as part of the Postcode Check consultation
process; 

2. to provide as much evidence base as possible as part
of the Postcode Check process the Chief Legal and Democratic
Officer be requested to write to all elected Members urging them to 
contact the Head of Communities as to which areas within their 
wards maybe suffering issues that should be taken into account, 
such as instances of crime, including hate crime, anti-social 
behaviour and any community tensions, when considering future 
asylum accommodation procurement; 

3. in order that elected Members are aware of the strategic planning, 
location and distribution of Housing and Support Services for 
vulnerable households the Head of Communities be requested to 
provide 6-monthly updates to all Councillors; 

4. when commissioning specific housing and support services for 
vulnerable groups, the Council should continue to adopt a strategic 
approach that is cognisant of other such services, the capacity of 
wider statutory, community and voluntary services and reflects
issues at a local community level within each ward as to the location
of the housing element; 

5. any support services that are commissioned by the Council to 
support vulnerable households should be tailored to the target group 
with specialist provision and the ability to flex up and flex down as 
and when required. Local, Sefton based services, often run by the 
Community and Voluntary sector based in our communities should 
always be the preferred option wherever possible. The longer-term 
aim of self-reliance for the service user and longer-term sustainability 

Page 112

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
41

of the project should always be the aim with a focus on reducing 
demand on demand-led services; and

6. where housing and support services that are not commissioned by 
the Council fail then officers should use the governance structures in 
place to escalate issues.

An example of this is where officers have used the Liverpool City 
Region Officers network and the Regional Strategic Migration 
Partnership so that issues can be escalated by elected members to 
the Lead Member for the Liverpool City Region group.

11.0 DOCUMENTATION CONSIDERED BY THE WORKING GROUP

11.1 Scoping Document approved by the Working Group on 4 December 2020
11.2 briefing note of the Service Manager - Housing and Investment Services on 

the location in Sefton of supported accommodation for vulnerable people, 
commissioned by the Council; Information on the support services 
commissioned by the Council and the accommodation related to those 
services; and the associated support service specifications relating to 
services within the Communities and Housing Cabinet Member portfolio 
considered at the meeting of the Working Group held on 22 January 2021

11.3 briefing note of the Head of Communities detailing information the Council 
held about the accommodation and services provided to asylum seekers by 
the agency appointed by the Home Office (Serco) considered at the meeting 
of the Working Group held on 22 January 2021

11.4 Appendix 1 - overview of the asylum process in the UK considered at the 
meeting of the Working Group held on 22 January 2021

11.5 Appendix 2 - detail in terms of the accommodation standards that is expected 
to be delivered considered at the meeting of the Working Group held on 22 
January 2021

11.6 Appendix 4  - the PCC activity from March until the end of December 2020 
across the Liverpool City Region considered at the meeting of the Working 
Group held on 22 January 2021

11.7 North West Regional Strategic Migration Partnership considered at the 
meeting of the Working Group held on 26 February 2021

11.8 report of the Locality Services Manager that provided information on access 
by elected Members to responses to postcode checks (PCC) enquiries; how 
elected Members could be included as consultees as part of the PCC’s within 
their wards; and how elected Members could feed into the Sefton Multi 
Agency Forum considered at the meeting of the Working Group held on 26 
February 2021

11.9 Migrant Help Monthly Update – March 2021 considered at the meeting of the 
Working Group held on 24 June 2021

11.10 Migrant Help North West Regional Update - March 2021 considered at the 
meeting of the Working Group held on 24 June 2021

11.11 AIRE Outreach Overview considered at the meeting of the Working Group 
held on 24 June 2021

Page 113

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2766&ID=2766&RPID=27958491
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2758&ID=2758&RPID=27958534
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2759&ID=2759&RPID=27958585
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2760&ID=2760&RPID=27958588
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2761&ID=2761&RPID=27958617
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2763&ID=2763&RPID=27958622
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2791&ID=2791&RPID=28178188
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2806&ID=2806&RPID=28292501
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2860&ID=2860&RPID=30716070
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2861&ID=2861&RPID=30716077
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2862&ID=2862&RPID=30716089


Overview and Scrutiny
42

11.12 Outreach Referral Form considered at the meeting of the Working Group held 
on 24 June 2021

11.13 UKVI Asylum Operations – Update on Remote Interviewing - 15/02/2021 
considered at the meeting of the Working Group held on 24 June 2021

11.14 Migrant Help Asylum Services Consent Form – Third Party considered at the 
meeting of the Working Group held on 24 June 2021

11.15 Migrant Help Services considered at the meeting of the Working Group held 
on 24 June 2021 

11.16 Clear Voice Information considered at the meeting of the Working Group held 
on 24 June 2021

11.17 briefing note of the Head of Communities that provided information on asylum 
seeker/refugee children of school age accessing education; and asylum 
seeker children who lived with their families considered at the meeting of the 
Working Group held on 24 June 2021 

11.18 briefing note  of the Interim Head of Communities that updated on the 6 
Monthly Asylum Procurement Report for the period 1 January to 30 June 
2021 considered at the meeting of the Working Group held on 27 July 2021

11.19 letter referred to at the meeting of the Working Group held on 27 July 2021 by 
a number of Liverpool City Region MP’s to the Home Secretary regarding the 
impending eviction of asylum seekers

12. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND THANKS

In producing the Council’s Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People Working 
Group Final Report the acknowledgements and thanks are attributed to the following 
individuals and organisations for their time and input:

Tanya Wilcock, former Head of Communities, Sefton MBC
Steve Martlew, Locality Service Manager, Communities Service, Sefton MBC
Neil Davies, former Service Manager - Housing and Investment Services, Economic 
Growth and Housing Service, Sefton MBC
Graham Parry, Strategic Housing Officer, Economic Growth and Housing Service, 
Sefton MBC
Carlie Machell and Lorraine Webb, Venus Charity
Sheila Howard, the Bosco Society
Julie Kashirahamwe, Liverpool City Region
Atheer Abbas, former Asylum Seeker 
Tahsen Abbar, Syrian Refugee
Ben Rodgers, Serco
Ged Swanson, Serco
Jonathan Blackburn, Home Office
Florence Le Gal, Migrant Help

Page 114

Agenda Item 6

https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2863&ID=2863&RPID=30716094
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2864&ID=2864&RPID=30716098
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2865&ID=2865&RPID=30716105
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2866&ID=2866&RPID=30716107
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2867&ID=2867&RPID=30716109
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2868&ID=2868&RPI
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2870&ID=2870&RPID=30716404
https://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=SD2869&ID=2869&RPID=30716407


Overview and Scrutiny
43

Thanks must also go to the Members of the Working Group who have worked hard 
and dedicated a great deal of time to this review, namely:

Councillor Dave Robinson Lead Member, 
Housing Support Services to Vulnerable 
People Working Group

Councillor Janis Blackburne

Councillor Mhairi Doyle Councillor Paula Murphy

Councillor Anne Thompson

Page 115

Agenda Item 6



Overview and Scrutiny
44

For further Information please contact:

Paul Fraser

Senior Democratic Services Officer

Telephone: 0151 934 2068

E-Mail: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk
 

Page 116

Agenda Item 6

mailto:paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk


Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Regulatory, 
Compliance and 
Corporate Services

Date of Meeting:  14 September 2021

Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Regeneration and 
Skills)

21 September 2021

Subject: Digital Inclusion 
Working Group – 
Update on 
Recommendations

Wards Affected: (All Wards);

Cabinet Portfolio: Cabinet Member – Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate 
Services
Cabinet Member – Regeneration and Skills

Report of: Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer 

Is this a Key 
Decision?

No Is it included in the Forward Plan? No

Exempt/Confidential  No 

Purpose/Summary

To provide a monitoring report setting out progress made against each of the 
recommendations formulated by the Digital Inclusion Working Group and approved by 
Cabinet.

Recommendation: 

That the report setting out progress made against each of the recommendations 
formulated by the Digital Inclusion Working Group and approved by Cabinet be noted.

Reasons for the Recommendation:
To comply with a decision of Cabinet to submit monitoring reports on a six-monthly basis 
setting out progress made against each of the recommendations.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 
No alternative options were considered. Cabinet has requested the submission of 
monitoring reports. 

What will it cost and how will it be financed?
Page 117

Agenda Item 7



(A) Revenue Costs
There are no financial implications arising for the Council as a direct result of this 
report. The implementation of recommendations that result in efficiency savings 
and any necessary financial investment will be the subject of separate reports. 

(B) Capital Costs
There are no financial implications arising for the Council as a direct result of this 
report. The implementation of recommendations that result in efficiency savings 
and any necessary financial investment will be the subject of separate reports.

Implications:

The following implications of this proposal have been considered and where there are 
specific implications, these are set out below:

Financial

Legal

Human Resources

Equality
1. No Equality Implication

2. Equality Implications identified and mitigated

3. Equality Implication identified and risk remains

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

There are no direct climate emergency implications arising from this report. 
Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose
Protect the most vulnerable: 
Digital inclusion is a principal and approach that aims to ensure that people have the 
capability to use the internet to do things that benefit them on a day to day basis - 
whether they be individuals, businesses or other entities e.g. the voluntary sector.
Likewise digital inclusion aims to reduce digital exclusion and the digital divide that can 
exist within society for a variety of reasons
The government’s Information Economy Strategy called for greater focus on digital 
inclusion in order to:
• help businesses make smart use of information technology and data;
• ensure citizens benefit from the digital age; and



Page 118

Agenda Item 7



• underpin economic growth
Digital inclusion will be one of the areas that the Council will seek to contribute to and 
enable within the Borough of Sefton and as such help residents to improve their 
chances to gain employment.  
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: As above
Commission, broker and provide core services: As above
Place – leadership and influencer: As above
Drivers of change and reform: As above
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: As above
Greater income for social investment: As above 
Cleaner Greener: None directly associated with this report

Impact of the Proposals on Service Delivery:

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

The Executive Director of Corporate Resources and Customer Services (FD 6480/21) 
has no comments on the report   
The Chief Legal and Democratic Officer (LD 4681/21) is the author of this report
The Head of Economic Growth and Housing
Sefton CVS
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Following the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 

Contact Officer:  Paul Fraser
Tel: 0151 934 2068
Email: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 At its meeting held on 13 June 2017 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services) approved the establishment of 
a Joint Working Group. The commencement of the Working Group was deferred 
to enable the objectives of the ICT Development Programme to be progressed 
and thereafter aspects of the Programme to be included in the Working Group’s 
Scoping Document to review the topic of Digital Inclusion. The objectives of the 
Working Group were as follows:

 Identify the opportunity for the Council in supporting and enabling Digital 
Inclusion within the Borough of Sefton and the wider City Region;

 Identify how this can feed into the Councils future ICT and Digital 
Strategies;

 Confirm the strategic themes that should be addressed as part of this work 
e.g. connectivity and skills; 

Page 119

Agenda Item 7



 Identify potential council activities that could be provided on a more digital 
basis and the enabling activity that will be required to support this; and

 proactively engaging with the Combined Authority and their 
advisors/consultants to ensure that opportunities identified for Sefton are 
incorporated in to the Liverpool City Region Digital Infrastructure Action 
Plan to ensure positive outcomes for the borough and its constituent 
communities

it was noted that all proposals would need to take account of resource 
requirements and be within the parameters of the current Medium Term Financial 
Plan.

1.2 Accordingly, the Working Group met on numerous occasions to gather evidence 
and produce its Final Report Because of the cross-cutting nature of the Working 
Group the Final Report was also considered by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Regeneration and Skills). Approval of the Final Report and 
associated recommendations was given by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services), Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) and Cabinet at their meetings held 
on 11 September 2018, 6 November 2018 and 6 December 2018 respectively. 
The approved recommendations are set out below: 

1. The Working Group was impressed with the Visitor Economy (VE) 
‘Passport to Success’ scheme aimed at college students across the 
Liverpool City Region coming into the tourism industry; whereby students 
are able to achieve a bronze, silver or gold passport standard to provide 
them with a range of opportunities to either gain quality work experience, 
an interview, apprenticeship or a full-time job. 

The Working Group, at its meeting held on 23 May 2018 acknowledged 
that literary and numeracy skills should be embedded as a priority along 
with digital skills. 

Accordingly, it is recommended that: 

(A) The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Employment 
and Skills Board be requested to consider the development of 
a Digital Skills Passport Scheme (incorporating numeracy, 
literacy and communication skills) to help Sefton residents to 
gain future employment, via the Learning and Skills budget to 
be devolved from 2019; and

(B) Sefton Council, via Sefton@Work, in conjunction with local 
organisations such as Sefton Community Learning Service, 
work with the Liverpool City Region with the aim of exploring 
the application of such a Skills Passport for the benefit of 
Sefton employers and residents;

2. Using the Poverty Modelling and Digital Inclusion “Mosaic” data, areas of 
high unemployment be targeted to enable those Sefton residents 
excluded from the labour market to develop their ICT skills to improve 
their opportunities for gaining future employment;  

Page 120

Agenda Item 7

http://modgov.sefton.gov.uk/moderngov/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Digital%20Inclusion%20Working%20Group%20-%20October%202018&ID=2564&RPID=23588411


 
3. To facilitate the above the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority be 

requested to devolve sufficient funding to Sefton Council to appoint a 
project worker with the clear objectives of: 

(A) Working with local employers to map ICT/digital skills;

(B) Working with local partners such as Sefton Community 
Learning Service to develop and deliver bespoke training 
programmes to target residents in the areas identified in the 
Poverty Modelling and Digital Inclusion “Mosaic” data; 

(C) Identifying, using the data from the Poverty Modelling and 
Digital Inclusion “Mosaic”, a number of residents who would 
benefit from and be able to undertake training as referred to in 
3. (B) above; and

(D) Working with local employers to develop a compact agreement 
to enable those residents who successfully complete the 
bespoke training programme(s) to gain relevant employment;  
 

4. If further opportunities arise for a roll out of the Include-IT project and to 
support the objectives of recommendation 2 then Sefton CVS be 
requested to consider such roll out to the priority areas identified within 
the Poverty Modelling and Digital Exclusion document; and

5. the Head of Regulation and Compliance be requested to submit a 
monitoring report to the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee (Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Resources to be 
held on 5 March 2019, setting out progress made against each of the 
recommendations set out in the report and that thereafter, monitoring 
reports be submitted to the Committee on a six-monthly basis.

1.3 In accordance with recommendation (5) above the table attached to the report 
sets out progress made against each of the recommendations.

2. Update

2.1 Two update reports have previously been submitted to both Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees (Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Services) and 
(Regeneration and Skills) at meetings held in 2019 and 2020. 

2.2 The table below details responses to the recommendations reported to the 
meetings in 2019 and 2020 together with updates received following recent 
consultations with Liverpool City Region Combined Authority, Sefton CVS and 
the Head of Economic Growth and Housing.

Page 121

Agenda Item 7



PROGRESS ON RECOMMENDATIONS ARISING FROM THE DIGITAL INCLUSION WORKING GROUP

Recommendation Progress Made at September 
2019

Progress Made at 
October 2020

Progress Made at September 
2021

The Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority Employment 
and Skills Board be requested to 
consider the development of a 
Digital Skills Passport Scheme 
(incorporating numeracy, literacy 
and communication skills) to help 
Sefton residents to gain future 
employment, via the Learning and 
Skills budget to be devolved from 
2019

Correspondence has been 
received from Frank Rogers, 
Chief Executive of the Liverpool 
City Region Combined 
Authority. The following 
comments have been made:

“I am pleased to report that the 
we have now published an 
updated Liverpool City Region 
Digital & Creative Skills for 
Growth Action Plan, a key 
element of which is a 
commitment for the Combined 
Authority to establish a Digital 
Skills Partnership to enhance 
collaboration and agree a Digital 
Skills Passport for the whole 
City Region.

We look forward to Sefton 
Council’s engagement with this 
Liverpool City Region Digital 
Skills Partnership, which will 
also focus on:
• Map provision using LCR 

Learn as basis.
• Promoting diverse role 

models in the tech. sector

The Policy Lead: 
Employment and Skills at 
the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority has 
advised that LCR has 
nothing further to update

The following information has 
been received from the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority:

“Improving digital skills at all ages 
and levels remains a priority as 
highlighted within the recently 
approved Liverpool City Region 
Digital Strategy and Action Plan 
2021-2023 and we are grateful to 
Sefton Council for their 
contribution to its development. 
 
The action plan builds on the LCR 
Digital & Creative Skills for 
Growth Action Plan and retains 
the commitment to establish a 
Digital Skills Partnership to 
enhance collaborative 
approaches and progress the 
concept of a Digital Skills 
Passport. 
 
Unfortunately, COVID-19 has 
impacted on the establishment of 
the Digital Skills Partnership.  
However, recent events have 
highlighted the need for enhanced 
digital skills and this is set out in 

P
age 122

A
genda Item

 7



• Better promoting 
engagement within digital 
inclusion provision

• Evaluating existing 
engagement delivery, and 
identifying both targeting and 
progression gaps

• Considering how to ensure 
tutors and teachers are kept 
up to date with tech 
development

• Working with the National 
Digital Skills Partnership to 
ensure that curricula and 
apprenticeship standards 
required by employers are in 
place.

• Developing future digital 
trends labour market 
information for all sectors

• Developing Careers 
Education, Information, 
Advice and Guidance to 
include digital fusion job 
roles.

Linked to the above, we are 
looking at collective and 
collaborative City Region wide 
skills development solutions, 
rather than by devolving funding 
to individual Local Authorities. In 
this regard, I would also draw 
your attention to the positive 

more detail in the Local Skills 
Action Plan 2021/22.  
 
Partners across LCR also remain 
actively engaged in innovative 
pilot approaches to the delivery of 
digital skills. The digital Test & 
Learn pilots such as those 
delivered by Sefton’s Adult 
Community Learning Service and 
Sefton@work have been 
evaluated across the City Region, 
the outcomes of which are 
feeding through to future skills 
planning.
 
The LCR Digital Skills Bootcamps 
have also commenced, which are 
expected to deliver £1.5m of 
employer led digital skills training 
for 1,000 people across the City 
Region, linked to specific job roles 
such as coding and cyber 
security”.

P
age 123

A
genda Item

 7



recent extension of the Big 
Lottery and ESF-funded 
Include-IT Mersey project 
delivered by a consortium led by 
Sefton CVS. This will be able to 
use the information generated 
by the Poverty Modelling and 
Digital Inclusion “Mosaic” data 
in order to identify need across 
Liverpool City Region, and 
target digital inclusion activities 
accordingly.

Please also note that Sefton 
Council has been represented 
form its outset on the CA-
convened “Core Group” that 
brings together representatives 
from all the LCR Local 
Authorities. This has hitherto 
focused on development of the 
pan-LCR core fibre network 
project, however its remit may 
be extended in the future to look 
at the wider digital agenda”.

Sefton Council, via Sefton@Work, 
in conjunction with local 
organisations such as Sefton 
Community Learning Service, work 
with the Liverpool City Region with 
the aim of exploring the application 
of such a Skills Passport for the 
benefit of Sefton employers and 

The Head of Economic Growth 
and Housing has advised that 
“Sefton Council is a recipient of 
Adult Education Budget which is 
used to support the Sefton Adult 
Community Learning Service. 
With effect from August 2019, 
this funding has been 

The Head of Economic 
Growth and Housing has 
advised that following a 
recent IT specific workshop 
organised by Corporate 
Services and Agilisys, 
there may be some new 
opportunities for supporting 

P
age 124

A
genda Item

 7



residents incorporated into the LCR 
Devolution deal on employment 
and skills, and therefore the 
accountability lead for this 
function will sit with the LCR 
Combined Authority from this 
year. 

In this context, Sefton has been 
successful in securing pilot 
funding from the LCR Combined 
Authority to develop a new 
project which will focus on the 
development of English, maths 
and digital skills featuring a 
partnership approach between 
the Adult Community Learning 
Service and Sefton@work. The 
aim of this pilot is to flag up 
alternative delivery mechanisms 
to promote the digital inclusion 
of learners and enhance their 
employability, working with 
employers across a number of 
different occupational sectors to 
progress the concept of the 
“digital passport” identified by 
the working Group. 
The outcomes of the pilot will be 
learning points which will be 
evaluated by the Combined 
Authority as part of the wider 
development on digital inclusion 
and will be fed into the 

businesses which can be 
explored.
The Test and Learn 
funding for digital skills 
pilots has been deployed 
but unfortunately the 
scheme was interrupted as 
a result of COVID. 
However, after negotiation 
with the LCR CA, the 
funding has extended to 
allow the Community 
Learning Service to 
undertake the pilot fully in 
2020/21. Plans are in place 
to re-start delivery and 
build upon the early 
actions. One of the first 
activities was a specific 
employability-related 
intervention which was 
successfully co-designed 
and delivered for clients of 
Sefton@work prior to 
lockdown. Furthermore, 
additional test and learn 
pilot resource has also now 
been secured from the 
LCR CA. This will fund the 
design, delivery and 
implementation of 
interactive technology 
programmes which will be 
installed at the Cambridge 

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 7



architecture of future skills 
programming.

Furthermore, InvestSefton, as 
part of its ongoing business 
support activities, have 
delivered workshops to 
businesses to help them 
maximise the benefits of digital 
technology including:

• Facebook advertising
• Google advertising 
platforms
• Video production
• Social media branding 
and marketing”.

Road Community Learning 
Hub as part of the 
renovations of this centre 
during 2020/21. 

The Community Learning 
Service has embraced a 
variety of new technologies 
in order to continue its 
delivery during the 
lockdown period. Many of 
these have enabled 
learners to have greater 
choice over their means of 
engagement with learning 
and have been 
transformative for many in 
their approach to 
understanding the benefits 
of digital skills. The 
delivery of blended 
learning using a bespoke 
learning platform where 
learners can attend in 
person and /or attend 
online wherever they are at 
home or work has been 
very well received by 
leaners who have given 
feedback that this change 
has boosted digital 
confidence and access to a 
wider range of 
applications.  The rapid 

P
age 126

A
genda Item

 7



rise in job losses in Sefton 
is expected to boost 
demand for learning new 
digital skills and the 
Service is currently 
devising new content to 
respond to his demand.
Furthermore, InvestSefton, 
as part of its ongoing 
Covid-19 business support 
activities, are delivering 
webinars to businesses to 
help them maximise the 
benefits of digital 
technology including:

How to Facilitate Business 
Gains, through Stress 
Management; Covid-19: 
Starting Your Business Up 
Again Safely; Digital 
Marketing Tools for Small 
Businesses; HR for Small 
Business Managers; 
Mental Health and 
Wellbeing for Business 
Managers and Teams; 
Maintaining an Effective 
Virtual Office; 
Managing Business 
Finance and Cashflow for 
SMEs; and Promoting Your 
Business Online

P
age 127

A
genda Item

 7



Using the Poverty Modelling and 
Digital Inclusion “Mosaic” data, 
areas of high unemployment be 
targeted to enable those Sefton 
residents excluded from the labour 
market to develop their ICT skills 
to improve their opportunities for 
gaining future employment

Correspondence has been 
received from the Chief 
Executive of Sefton CVS which 
states that:

“Sefton CVS have just recently 
received notification that the 
Building Better Opportunities 
Digital Inclusion programme for 
the LCR Region has been 
extended until June 2021. We 
have been awaiting confirmation 
of this news for a number of 
weeks. 

Further to your correspondence, 
I can confirm that Sefton CVs 
has included Ravenmeols, Ford 
and Derby Wards in the 
proposed delivery going forward 
focused on the eligible targeted 
recipients in the overall 
programme and in line with the 
Poverty Modelling and Digital 
Exclusion document referred to 
in your letter”

The Chief Executive of 
Sefton CVS has advised 
that Include-IT Mersey, the 
LCR Building Better 
Opportunities Digital 
Inclusion programme, has 
further been extended, with 
active delivery to 
participants now planned 
to continue until 
September 2022.  Sefton 
participants have mostly 
been from the high 
unemployment Wards of 
Bootle, Litherland and 
Netherton, with a smaller 
proportion from other 
South Sefton Wards and 
Southport.  To date, 144 
unemployed Sefton 
residents have attended 
courses run through the 
project and improved their 
basic IT skills. Over 100 
have received a free tablet 
and some also provided 
with mobile data bundles to 
enable them to get online 
at home.

Hundreds of Sefton 
residents have also 
benefited from the support 
of the project’s volunteer 

The Chief Executive of Sefton 
CVS has advised as follows:

Support to get online

Include-IT Mersey project
Following the National Lottery 
Community Fund’s recent 
confirmation of the extension of 
the Building Better Opportunities 
programme, due the consistent 
good performance of the Include-
IT Mersey project, the Lottery has 
increased investment to enable its 
extension until March 2023, which 
is very positive news.

Face to face delivery of basic 
digital and employability skills 
courses has now restarted having 
temporarily been paused or 
moved to remote delivery due to 
the various Covid lockdowns and 
social distancing restrictions over 
the last 16 months.  The WEA is 
now delivering in Sefton following 
3tc’s closure in 2020, currently 
delivering out of the Feelgood 
Factory in Netherton, with other 
courses to be planned in other 
parts of the borough over the 
coming months.

During the pandemic, all 

P
age 128

A
genda Item

 7



Digital Champions who, 
prior to the Coronavirus 
lockdown operated a 
network of digital drop-ins 
in Bootle (Library, 
Liferooms and Akenside 
Supported 
Accommodation), 
Netherton (Feelgood 
Factory) and Southport 
(The Atkinson & Southport 
Community Centre).

The drop-ins unfortunately 
had to be suspended in 
March and are unlikely to 
reopen this year due to the 
prolonged social distancing 
restrictions that remain in 
place.  However, the 
project quickly developed 
an alternative approach to 
supporting people’s 
requests for digital advice 
and support during the 
lockdown.  The remote 
telephone support service 
was rolled out in April, with 
four Digital Champions still 
active in assisting people 
remotely. 

Although a city region wide 
service, uptake in Sefton 

participants have been provided 
with a free tablet and mobile data 
bundles to enable them to get 
online at home in order to support 
their continued engagement and 
learning during the periods of 
lockdown and social distancing.  
New participants will continue to 
receive a free tablet when they 
enrol on a course.

In total, 173 Sefton residents have 
been supported through the 
project to date, with 26 having 
progressed to work, 41 to further 
training and 12 in to active job 
search.  The majority of Sefton 
participants have been from the 
high unemployment Wards of 
Bootle, Litherland and Netherton, 
with a smaller proportion from 
other South Sefton Wards and 
Southport.

Volunteer-led face-to-face digital 
drop-ins have been suspended 
since the April 2020 and are yet to 
reopen. Our aim is to gradually 
start to reopen them from 
September, adhering to Public 
Health Covid-safe guidance.  
While the face-to-face drop-ins 
have been on hold, we have 
rolled out a telephone support 

P
age 129

A
genda Item

 7



has been much higher than 
in the other five boroughs, 
with 71 Sefton residents 
supported to date.  Initially, 
the majority of enquiries 
were for help with online 
shopping but since then, 
there has been a mixture 
of enquiries relating to 
shopping, video calls (e.g. 
Zoom), connection issues 
and getting online in 
general, including using 
emails and internet search 
engines.

In partnership with VOLA, 
Sefton CVS also secured 
LCR Cares funding to help 
get socially and digitally 
excluded Sefton residents 
online, providing 32 tablets 
and a short-term mobile 
data allowance to Sefton 
Households.  A further 3 
households received kit 
that we secured through 
another digital initiative.  All 
35 devices were set up 
prior to distribution and all 
recipients provided with 
remote support to help 
them learn the basics of 
how to use them.  

service, run by Digital Champion 
volunteers, who have supported 
174 people since it was first 
launched in during the first 
national lockdown in April 2020, 
with a range of advice and 
support provided around the use 
of IT and getting online. 95 of 
these were Sefton residents, 
where take up has been stronger 
than other boroughs.

Get Yourself Online project
Alongside the Include-IT Mersey 
project, Sefton CVS also took part 
in another Digital Inclusion project 
in the summer of 2020, funded by 
the Community Foundation for 
Merseyside through the LCR 
Cares Fund, which was 
established by the Combined 
Authority in response to the 
Coronavirus pandemic.

The project was developed to 
benefit the most excluded and 
vulnerable in society, with no 
internet access at home and who 
cannot afford to buy a device 
and/or connectivity.  

Sefton CVS distributed 32 free 
tablets with four-month internet 
access and technical support to 

P
age 130

A
genda Item

 7



Information packs were 
also provided including a 
dos & don’ts guide, staying 
safe online, and financial 
awareness.

Sefton households, as part of the 
wider project which, in total, 
supported 320 households (600 
people) to get online across the 
Liverpool City Region.

To facilitate the above the 
Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority be requested to devolve 
sufficient funding to Sefton Council 
to appoint a project worker with the 
clear objectives of: 

(A) Working with local 
employers to map 
ICT/digital skills;

(B) Working with local 
partners such as Sefton 
Community Learning 
Service to develop and 
deliver bespoke training 
programmes to target 
residents in the areas 
identified in the Poverty 
Modelling and Digital 
Inclusion “Mosaic” data; 

(C) Identifying, using the data 
from the Poverty Modelling 
and Digital Inclusion 
“Mosaic”, a number of 
residents who would 
benefit from and be able to 

As referred to above in the 
response of Frank Rogers, 
Chief Executive of the Liverpool 
City Region Combined 
Authority, the following 
comments were made:

“Linked to the above, we are 
looking at collective and 
collaborative City Region wide 
skills development solutions, 
rather than by devolving funding 
to individual Local Authorities. In 
this regard, I would also draw 
your attention to the positive 
recent extension of the Big 
Lottery and ESF-funded 
Include-IT Mersey project 
delivered by a consortium led by 
Sefton CVS. This will be able to 
use the information generated 
by the Poverty Modelling and 
Digital Inclusion “Mosaic” data 
in order to identify need across 
Liverpool City Region, and 
target digital inclusion activities 
accordingly.

The Policy Lead: 
Employment and Skills at 
the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority has 
advised that LCR has 
nothing further to update

The following information has 
been received from the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority:

“LCRCA commissioned bespoke 
Digital Inclusion research to 
establish a baseline of current 
digital skills and use across the 
City Region, enhancing the local 
evidence base to inform the 
development of digital inclusion 
and digital poverty initiatives. 
 Between November 2020 and 
January 2021, fieldwork was 
undertaken than resulted in over 
800 detailed responses (including 
148 from Sefton) across a 
representative sample of 
respondents based on age and 
location. 
 
Whilst the Mosaic profiles have 
been useful, the research 
approach aims to deepen our 
understanding by asking a set of 
themed questions drawing on 
what we already know about 
digital exclusion. The conclusions 

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 7



undertake training as 
referred to in 3. (B) above; 
and

(D) Working with local 
employers to develop a 
compact agreement to 
enable those residents 
who successfully complete 
the bespoke training 
programme(s) to gain 
relevant employment;  
 

Please also note that Sefton 
Council has been represented 
form its outset on the CA-
convened “Core Group” that 
brings together representatives 
from all the LCR Local 
Authorities. This has hitherto 
focused on development of the 
pan-LCR core fibre network 
project, however its remit may 
be extended in the future to look 
at the wider digital agenda”.

set out a range of demographic 
factors that should be considered 
in targeting digital initiatives, 
including age, working status, 
housing type, education, disability 
and ethnicity.
 
We are now looking to test our 
analysis with key partners, 
including Sefton MBC before 
sharing more widely. 

If further opportunities arise for a 
roll out of the Include-IT project 
and to support the objectives of 
recommendation 2 then Sefton 
CVS be requested to consider 
such roll out to the priority areas 
identified within the Poverty 
Modelling and Digital Exclusion 
document

Correspondence has been 
received from the Chief 
Executive of Sefton CVS which 
states that:

“Sefton CVS have just recently 
received notification that the 
Building Better Opportunities 
Digital Inclusion programme for 
the LCR Region has been 
extended until June 2021. We 
have been awaiting confirmation 
of this news for a number of 
weeks. 

Further to your correspondence, 
I can confirm that Sefton CVs 
has included Ravenmeols, Ford 
and Derby Wards in the 
proposed delivery going forward 
focused on the eligible targeted 

The Chief Executive of 
Sefton CVS has advised 
that most courses/ 
participants and digital 
drop-ins to date have taken 
place in Bootle.  Delivery 
has taken place from 
Community By Nature and 
the Swan Women’s 
Centre, based in Linacre 
and Litherland, which 
border the Derby Ward and 
are both easily accessible 
to its residents.  As soon 
as we are able to resume 
face-to-face delivery, we 
intend to return to these 
venues as they have 
worked well to date.

Prior to the Coronavirus 

See information provided by the 
Chief Executive of Sefton CVS in 
this column above

P
age 132

A
genda Item

 7



recipients in the overall 
programme and in line with the 
Poverty Modelling and Digital 
Exclusion document referred to 
in your letter”

lockdown the project had 
been planning towards 
delivering courses in the 
Feelgood Factory to 
capture Ford and 
Netherton residents.  Long-
term closure of community 
settings and subsequent 
prolonged social distancing 
measures post lockdown, 
coupled with the 
subsequent closure of our 
Sefton project delivery 
partner, 3tc, who 
unfortunately ceased 
trading earlier this year 
have all contributed to 
delays in implementing 
these plans.  Contingency 
plans are currently being 
progressed to revive 
Sefton delivery in the 
coming months, if 
considered feasible and 
safe to do so in the context 
of recently increased local 
social distancing 
restrictions.

Following initial 
investigation, the project 
has been unable to target 
the central Ward of 
Ravenmeols due to its 

P
age 133

A
genda Item

 7



population demographics 
not having a fit with the 
target groups of the 
Building Better 
Opportunities programme, 
on which the project is 
closely monitored and 
funded.  Digital skill 
provision in this Ward 
might be better catered for 
through other training 
providers with more flexible 
funding regimes, such as 
Adult and Community 
Learning and/or the Adult 
Education Budget.

P
age 134

A
genda Item

 7



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee      
(Regeneration and 
Skills)

Date of Meeting: 21 September 2021

Subject: Work Programme 2021/22, Scrutiny Review Topics and Key 
Decision Forward Plan

Report of: Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer

Wards Affected: All

Cabinet Portfolio: Communities and Housing;
Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element)
Locality Services;
Planning and Building Control; and
Regeneration and Skills

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No

Summary:

To seek the views of the Committee on the Work Programme for 2021/22; to identify 
potential topics for scrutiny reviews to be undertaken by a Working Group(s) appointed 
by the Committee; to identify any items for pre-scrutiny scrutiny by the Committee from 
the Key Decision Forward Plan; and to update Members on the progress of items that 
have previously been considered by the Committee

Recommendation: That: 

(1) the Work Programme for 2021/22, as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, be 
considered, along with any additional items to be included and thereon be agreed;

(2) the up to date position regarding the Committee’s two Working Groups relating to 
Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity; and Housing Support Services 
to Vulnerable People be noted; 

(3) consideration be given to the selection of a topic for a Working Group review; and 
appoint at least 3 Members of the Committee to serve on such Working Group; 

(4) the Committee considers items for pre-scrutiny from the Key Decision Forward 
Plan as set out in Appendix 3 to the report, which fall under the remit of the 
Committee and any agreed items be included in the work programme referred to in 
(1) above; 

(5) the update on the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee be noted.

Page 135

Agenda Item 8



Reasons for the Recommendation(s):

To determine the Work Programme of items to be considered during the Municipal Year 
2021/22 and identify scrutiny review topics which would demonstrate that the work of the 
Overview and Scrutiny ‘adds value’ to the Council.

The pre-scrutiny process assists Cabinet Members to make effective decisions by 
examining issues before making formal decisions. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: (including any Risk Implications)

No alternative options have been considered as the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
needs to approve its Work Programme and identify scrutiny review topics.

What will it cost and how will it be financed?

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. Any financial 
implications arising from the consideration of a key decision or relating to a 
recommendation arising from a Working Group review will be reported to Members at the 
appropriate time.

(A) Revenue Costs – see above

(B) Capital Costs – see above

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets): None

Legal Implications: None

Equality Implications: There are no equality implications. 
Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

There are no direct climate emergency implications arising from this report. Any climate 
emergency implications arising from the consideration of reports referred to in the Work 
Programme will be contained in such reports when they are presented to Members at 
the appropriate time.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: None directly applicable to this report. 
Facilitate confident and resilient communities: None directly applicable to this report.
Commission, broker and provide core services: None directly applicable to this report 

Page 136

Agenda Item 8



but the Committee would be made aware of such issues via the receipt of reports, as 
referenced in the Work Programme, relating to the review of Winter Service and 
Operational Plan; the Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority – Service Delivery 
Plan 2019/20; the Update on Operational Activities delivered via Locality Services; and 
Green Sefton 2019/20 Annual Report, Service Vision 2030, and Service Plan 2020/21.
Place – leadership and influencer: None directly applicable to this report.
Drivers of change and reform: None directly applicable to this report but reports would 
be submitted to the Committee detailing how the Council is leading on beneficial 
changes to be made with reference to United Utilities charging policies and new houses 
being sold as leasehold.
Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: None directly applicable to this report but the 
Committee would be made aware of such issues via the receipt of a report in the Work 
Programme relating to the Sefton Economic Strategy for Growth
Greater income for social investment: None directly applicable to this report. 
Cleaner Greener: None directly applicable to this report but the Committee would be 
made aware of such issues via the receipt of reports, as referenced in the Work 
Programme, relating to the review of Winter Service and Operational Plan; the 
Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority – Service Delivery Plan 2019/20; the Update 
on Operational Activities delivered via Locality Services; Green Sefton 2019/20 Annual 
Report, Service Vision 2030, and Service Plan 2020/21 together with the 
implementation of recommendations arising from the Shale Gas Working Group.

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

This report is not subject to LD and FD comments. Any specific financial and legal 
implications associated with any subsequent reports arising from this report will be 
included in those reports as appropriate. 

(B) External Consultations 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
 
Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: Paul Fraser
Telephone Number: 0151 934 2068
Email Address: Paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk 

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 
 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Work Programme for 2021/2022
 Criteria Checklist for Selecting Topics for Review 

Page 137

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk


 Latest Key Decision Forward Plan items relating to this Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

Introduction/Background

1. WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22

1.1 The proposed Work Programme of items to be submitted to the Committee for 
consideration during the Municipal Year 2021/22 is set out in Appendix 1 to the 
report. The programme has been produced in liaison with the appropriate Heads 
of Service, whose roles fall under the remit of the Committee. The Work 
Programme was approved by the Committee on 29 June 2021.

1.2 The Work Programme has been produced based on items included in last year’s 
Programme. 

1.4 Members are requested to consider whether there are any other items that they 
wish the Committee to consider, that fall within the terms of reference of the 
Committee. The Work Programme will be submitted to each meeting of the 
Committee during 2021/22 and updated, as appropriate.

2.1 It is usual practise for the Committee to appoint a Working Group(s) to undertake 
a scrutiny review of services during the Municipal Year.

2.2 The Committee has previously agreed to establish a Working Group to review 
the topic of the Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity. Councillors 
John Sayers (Lead Member) Dowd, Robinson and Roche are members of the 
Working Group. 

The Working Group has now agreed a set of recommendations and the Working 
Group’s Final Report is elsewhere on this agenda for approval.    

2.3 The Committee, at its meeting held on 5 November 2019 agreed to establish a 
Working Group to review the topic of housing support services provided to 
vulnerable people. Councillors Blackburne, Doyle, Murphy, Robinson (Lead 
Member) and Anne Thompson are members of the Working Group. The last 
meeting of the Working Group was held on 23 April and interviewed witnesses 
from the Home Office and their contractor Serco, to undertake obligations under 
the Asylum Accommodation and Support Contract (AASC) to provide housing 
and support to Asylum Seekers in Sefton.  

The Working Group, at its meeting held on 27 July 2021 agreed a set of 
recommendations and the Working Group’s Final Report is elsewhere on this 
agenda for approval.    

2.4 For the information of Members, a criteria checklist for selecting and rejecting 
potential topics to review is attached at Appendix 2. This is used to assist the 
Committee in selecting topics and appointing Working Group(s) for the Municipal 

Page 138

Agenda Item 8



Year.
 

2.5 Members will recall that at its meeting held on 15 September 2020 the 
Committee agreed that no new Working Groups be established until the 
completion of one of the current Working Groups referred to in 2.2 and 2.3 
above. As the Working Groups have now completed their tasks the Committee 
can identify potential topics for scrutiny reviews to be undertaken by a Working 
Group(s). 

3. PRE-SCRUTINY OF ITEMS IN THE KEY DECISION FORWARD PLAN

3.1 Members may request to pre-scrutinise items from the Key Decision Forward 
Plan which fall under the remit (terms of reference) of this Committee. The 
Forward Plan which is updated each month, sets out the list of items to be 
submitted to the Cabinet for consideration during the next four-month period.

3.2 The pre-scrutiny process assists the Cabinet Members to make effective 
decisions by examining issues beforehand and making recommendations prior to 
a determination being made.

3.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board has requested that only those 
key decisions that fall under the remit of each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
should be included on the agenda for consideration.

3.4 The latest Forward Plan is attached at Appendix 3 for this purpose. For ease of 
identification, items listed on the Forward Plan for the first time appear as 
shaded. 

3.5 Should Members require further information in relation to any item on the Key 
Decision Forward Plan, would they please contact the relevant Officer named 
against the item in the Plan, prior to the Meeting.

3.6 The Committee is invited to consider items for pre-scrutiny from the Key Decision 
Forward Plan as set out in Appendix 3 to the report, which fall under the remit of 
the Committee and any agreed items be included in the Work Programme 
referred to in (1) above.

4. LIVERPOOL CITY REGION COMBINED AUTHORITY OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

4.1 As Members will be aware, the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and 
the four Overview and Scrutiny Committees considered a report on the guidance 
produced by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
relating to Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities following on 
from the Communities and Local Government Select Committee’s inquiry into 
Overview and Scrutiny. This Committee considered the matter at its meeting held 
on 22 October 2019 (Minute No. 20). 
  

4.2 The Overview and Scrutiny Management Board and the four Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees all agreed the recommendations contained in the report, 
one of which being that updates on Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (LCRCAO&S) be included in the Work 

Page 139

Agenda Item 8



Programme report considered at each Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meeting.
 

4.3 In accordance with the above decision, information on the LCRCAO&S is set out 
below.

4.4 Role

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee was established by the Combined 
Authority in May 2017 in accordance with the Combined Authorities Order 2017. 

The role of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee is to:

 Scrutinise the decision and actions taken by the Combined Authority or 
the Metro Mayor;

 Provide a ‘critical friend to policy and strategy development;
 Undertake scrutiny reviews into areas of strategic importance for the 

people of the Liverpool City Region; and
 Monitor the delivery of the Combined Authority’s strategic plan.

4.5 Membership

The Committee is made up of 3 elected Members from each of the constituent 
Local Authorities of the LCR Combined Authority, along with one elected Member 
from both the Liverpool City Region Liberal Democrat Group and the Liverpool 
City Region Conservative Group.

Sefton’s appointed Members are Councillors Hansen, Howard and Waterfield. 
Councillor Howard is Sefton’s Scrutiny Link.

Councillor Sir Ron Watson is the representative of the Liverpool City Region 
Conservative Group.

4.6 Chair

The Chair of the LCRCAO&S cannot be a Member of the majority group. 
Councillor Steve Radford, a Liberal Party and Independent Group Councillor 
serving on Liverpool City Council has been appointed Chair for the 20212/22 
Municipal Year. 

4.7 Quoracy Issues

In the past a high number of meetings of the LCRCAO&S have been inquorate. 

The quorum for meetings of the LCRCAO&S is 14, two-thirds of the total number 
of members, 20. This high threshold is not set by the Combined Authority but is 
set out in legislation. 

Following an update request to the LCRCA the positive news is that last year 
(20/21) was the most successful yet as only one meeting had been inquorate. A 
potential reason is that the remote meetings provided greater flexibility for 

Page 140

Agenda Item 8



Members and so supported increased attendance. 

The membership for this year’s LCRCAO&S has seen quite a big change, with 
only five of the 20 Members returning. An introductory session for Members has 
been held and the importance was stressed about attending the Committee so 
that business could be transacted.  

The M9 Group is the collective body for the Mayoral CA’s who meet frequently 
with representatives from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MCHLG). The quoracy issue was raised by the M9 Group with 
MHCLG back in March 2020. However, since then other matters including the 
Covid-19 pandemic have become more pressing.  
  

4.8 Meetings

Information on all meetings and membership of the LCRCAO&S can be obtained 
using the following link 
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=365&Year=0

Since the last meeting of the Committee one meeting of the LCRCAO&S has 
been held on 14 July 2021 and matters considered at the meeting related to:

 Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair
 Metro Mayor S Rotheram's Update
 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

Corporate Plan 2021-24
 Work Programme 2021/22
 Appointment of Scrutiny Members to the Audit And Governance

Committee 2021/22

A meeting of the Committee was scheduled to be held on 8 September 2021 and 
the matters to be considered related to:

 Verbal Update from Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram
 Liverpool City Region - Bus Service Improvement Plan
 Work Programme 2021/22

Unfortunately, this meeting did not take place as a number of Members indicated 
prior to the meeting that they could not attend and it became apparent that the 
meeting would be inquorate. Accordingly, the meeting had to be cancelled. 
   

4.9 The next meeting of the LCRCAO&S will be held on 3 November 2021.

4.10 The Committee is requested to note the update on the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

Page 141

Agenda Item 8

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=365&Year=0


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (REGENERATION AND SKILLS)
WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22

Date of Meeting 29 JUNE 2021 21 SEPTEMBER 2021 9 NOVEMBER 2021 18 JANUARY 2022 8 MARCH 2022
Cabinet Member Update Report 
Paul Fraser

x x x x x

Work Programme Update 
Paul Fraser

x x x x x

Service Operational Reports:

Flood & Coastal Risk – Annual Report 
Peter Moore/Michelle Williams

X

Review of Winter Service and 
Operational Plan 
Peter Moore/Michelle Williams

X

Merseyside Recycling and Waste 
Authority – Service Delivery Plan 
2019/20 
Peter Moore/Michelle Williams

X

Sefton Economic Strategy for Growth  
Stuart Barnes

X

Update on the progression of the 
Liverpool City Region Digital Inclusion 
Strategy 
Stuart Barnes

X

Update on Operational Activities 
delivered via Locality Services 
Peter Moore/Michelle Williams

X

Leasehold House Sales  
Stuart Barnes

X

Green Sefton 2019/20 Annual Report, 
Service Vision 2030, and Service 
Plan 2020/21 

X

P
age 143

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX 1

Peter Moore/Michelle Williams
Procurement of 120 litre Blue 
Wheeled Bins for Glass Recycling – 
Update on progress
Peter Moore/Michelle Williams

X X X X X

Scrutiny Review Progress Reports:

Housing Licensing Performance 
Framework Working Group Update on 
Recommendations 
Paul Fraser

X

Digital Inclusion Working Group 
Update on Recommendations 
Paul Fraser 

X

Effectiveness of the Council’s 
Enforcement Activity - Approval of 
Working Group Final Report 
Paul Fraser

X

Post-16 SEND Provision Working 
Group 
Debbie Campbell

X

Housing Support Services to 
Vulnerable People Final Report
Paul Fraser

X

P
age 144

A
genda Item

 8



APPENDIX 2

CRITERIA CHECKLIST FOR SELECTING TOPICS FOR REVIEW

Criteria for Selecting Items
 Issue identified by members as key issue for public (through member 

surgeries, other contact with constituents or volume of complaints)
 Poor performing service (evidence from performance 

indicators/benchmarking)
 Service ranked as important by the community (e.g. through market 

surveys/citizens panels)
 High level of user/general public dissatisfaction with service (e.g. through 

market surveys/citizens panels/complaints)
 Public interest issue covered in local media
 High level of budgetary commitment to the service/policy area (as 

percentage of total expenditure)
 Pattern of budgetary overspends
 Council corporate priority area
 Central government priority area
 Issues raised by External Audit Management Letter/External audit reports
 New government guidance or legislation
 Reports or new evidence provided by external organisations on key issue
 Others

CRITERIA FOR REJECTION

Potential Criteria for Rejecting Items
 Issue being examined by the Cabinet
 Issue being examined by an Officer Group : changes imminent 
 Issue being examined by another internal body
 Issue will be addressed as part of a Service Review within the next year 
 New legislation or guidance expected within the next year
 Other reasons specific to the particular issues.

Page 145

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 2

SCRUTINY CHECKLIST
DO'S AND DON'TS

DO
 Remember that Scrutiny

 Is about learning and being a "critical friend"; it should be a positive 
process

 Is not opposition
 Remember that Scrutiny should result in improved value, enhanced 

performance or greater public satisfaction
 Take an overview and keep an eye on the wider picture
 Check performance against local standards and targets and national 

standards, and compare results with other authorities 
 Benchmark performance against local and national performance 

indicators, using the results to ask more informed questions 
 Use Working Groups to get underneath performance information
 Take account of local needs, priorities and policies
 Be persistent and inquisitive
 Ask effective questions - be constructive not judgmental
 Be open-minded and self aware - encourage openness and self criticism in 

services
 Listen to users and the public, seek the voices that are often not heard, 

seek the views of others - and balance all of these
 Praise good practice and best value - and seek to spread this throughout 

the authority
 Provide feedback to those who have been involved in the review and to 

stakeholders
 Anticipate difficulties in Members challenging colleagues from their own 

party 
 Take time to review your own performance

 DON'T
 Witch-hunt or use performance review as punishment
 Be party political/partisan
 Blame valid risk taking or stifle initiative or creativity
 Treat scrutiny as an add-on
 Get bogged down in detail
 Be frightened of asking basic questions
 Undertake too many issues in insufficient depth
 Start without a clear brief and remit
 Underestimate the task
 Lose track of the main purpose of scrutiny
 Lack sensitivity to other stakeholders
 Succumb to organisational inertia
 Duck facing failure - learn from it and support change and development
 Be driven by data or be paralysed by analysis - keep strategic overview, 

and expect officers to provide high level information and analysis to help.

Page 146

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 2

KEY QUESTIONS

Overview and Scrutiny Committees should keep in mind some of the 
fundamental questions:-

Are we doing what users/non users/local residents want? 
Are users' needs central to the service?
Why are we doing this?
What are we trying to achieve?
How well are we doing?
How do we compare with others?
Are we delivering value for money?
How do we know?
What can we improve?

INVESTIGATIONS:-

To what extent are service users' expectations and needs being met?
To what extent is the service achieving what the policy intended?
To what extent is the service meeting any statutory obligations or national 
standards and targets?
Are there any unexpected results/side effects of the policy?
Is the performance improving, steady or deteriorating?
Is the service able to be honest and open about its current performance and 
the reasons behind it?
Are areas of achievement and weakness fairly and accurately identified?
How has performance been assessed?  What is the evidence?
How does performance compare with that of others?  Are there learning 
points from others' experiences?
Is the service capable of meeting planned targets/standards?  What change to 
capability is needed.
Are local performance indicators relevant, helpful, meaningful to Members, 
staff and service users?

Page 147

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 3

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

FOR THE FOUR MONTH PERIOD 1 OCTOBER 2021 - 31 JANUARY 2022

This Forward Plan sets out the details of the key decisions which the Cabinet, individual Cabinet 
Members or Officers expect to take during the next four month period.  The Plan is rolled forward 
every month and is available to the public at least 28 days before the beginning of each month.

A Key Decision is defined in the Council's Constitution as:

1. any Executive decision that is not in the Annual Revenue Budget and Capital Programme 
approved by the Council and which requires a gross budget expenditure, saving or virement 
of more than £100,000 or more than 2% of a Departmental budget, whichever is the 
greater;

2. any Executive decision where the outcome will have a significant impact on a significant 
number of people living or working in two or more Wards

Anyone wishing to make representations about any of the matters listed below may do so by 
contacting the relevant officer listed against each Key Decision, within the time period indicated.

Under the Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in the Council's Constitution, a Key 
Decision may not be taken, unless:

 it is published in the Forward Plan;
 5 clear days have lapsed since the publication of the Forward Plan; and
 if the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet, 5 clear days notice of the meeting 

has been given.

The law and the Council's Constitution provide for urgent key decisions to be made, even though 
they have not been included in the Forward Plan in accordance with Rule 26 (General Exception) 
and Rule 28 (Special Urgency) of the Access to Information Procedure Rules.

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle L20 
7AE or accessed from the Council's website: www.sefton.gov.uk 

 Council Constitution
 Forward Plan
 Reports on the Key Decisions to be taken
 Other documents relating to the proposed decision may be submitted to the decision making 

meeting and these too will be made available by the contact officer named in the Plan
 The minutes for each Key Decision, which will normally be published within 5 working days 

after having been made

Some reports to be considered by the Cabinet/Council may contain exempt information and will 
not be made available to the public. The specific reasons (Paragraph No(s)) why such reports are 
exempt are detailed in the Plan and the Paragraph No(s) and descriptions are set out below:-

Page 149

Agenda Item 8

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/


APPENDIX 3

1. Information relating to any individual
2. Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 

 authority holding that information)
4. Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or        
negotiations in connection with any labour relations matter  arising between the authority or a 
Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the Authority
5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings
6. Information which reveals that the authority proposes a) to give under any enactment a notice 
under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed  on a person; or b) to make an order or 
direction under any enactment
7. Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime
8. Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by virtue of that 
paragraph if it is required to be registered under—

(a) the Companies Act 1985;
(b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974;
(c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992;
(d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978;
(e) the Building Societies Act 1986; or
(f) the Charities Act 1993.

9.Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which the local 
planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to regulation 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning General Regulations 1992
10. Information which—

(a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and
(b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of paragraph 8 or 9 above,is exempt 

information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Cabinet and Council which are held 
at the Town Hall, Oriel Road, Bootle or the Town Hall, Lord Street, Southport.  The dates and 
times of the meetings are published on www.sefton.gov.uk or you may contact the Democratic 
Services Section on telephone number 0151 934 2068.

NOTE:  
For ease of identification, items listed within the document for the first time will appear shaded.

Dwayne Johnson
Chief Executive

Page 150

Agenda Item 8

http://www.sefton.gov.uk/


APPENDIX 3

FORWARD PLAN INDEX OF ITEMS

Item Heading Officer Contact
Green Sefton – Southport Golf 
Links Investment Opportunities

Martin Sarbutts martin.sarbutts@sefton.gov.uk

Customer Experience Training 
- Business Case

Claire Maguire claire.maguire@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
2684

Bootle Levelling Up Fund - Bid Heather Jago heather.jago@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
4619

Crosby Levelling Up Fund Bid keith molloy
Bootle Regeneration Strategy Heather Jago heather.jago@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 

4619
Housing Support Services to 
Vulnerable People Working 
Group Final Report

Paul Fraser paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 2068

Effectiveness of the Council’s 
Enforcement Activity Working 
Group Final Report

Paul Fraser paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 2068

Bootle Canalside - Business 
Plan

Garry Lewis garry.lewis@sefton.gov.uk

Bootle Area Action Plan - 
Issues and Options 
Consultation paper

Ian Loughlin ian.loughlin@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
3558

Enterprise Arcade Project Rebecca Johnstone Rebecca.Johnstone@sefton.gov.uk 
Tel: 0151 934 4138

Social Housing Allocations 
Scheme

Graham Parry graham.parry@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
3446

Sandway Homes Limited-
Business Plan

Stephan Van Arendsen 
stephan.vanarendsen@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 4081

Strategic Guidance for 
Highway Safety Inspections

Graham Lymbery graham.lymbery@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4175

Transformations de Southport - 
Business Case

Stephen Birch stephen.birch@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
4225

Southport Events Centre 
Business Case

Mark Catherall mark.catherall@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
2315

Award of North West 
Topographic Coastline 
Surveys

Andrew Martin andrew.martin@sefton.gov.uk

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Page 151

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Details of Decision to be taken Green Sefton – Southport Golf Links Investment 
Opportunities  
To seek Cabinet approval to support the concept of seeking 
investment in Southport Golf Links based on previous Soft 
Market Test and Consultation. This could come from private 
sector partnership, and the investment would look to 
improve the playing offer for golfers and enhance the visitor 
experience for both golfers and non-golfers alike. As such, 
the project will include the course itself, the Whitehouse 
Café and/ or both.

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected All Wards

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Cabinet Member - Health and Wellbeing; Executive Director 
Place; Growth Board; Members of the Public

Method(s) of Consultation Briefing meetings; emails; public consultation exercise; soft 
market test

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Green Sefton – Southport Golf Links Investment 
Opportunities

Contact Officer(s)  details Martin Sarbutts martin.sarbutts@sefton.gov.uk

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Customer Experience Training - Business Case  
Approval of Customer Experience Training Business Case 
(part of Town Deal projects).

Decision Maker Cabinet

Page 152

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
07/10/2021.  Reason: The funding deadlines of the partners 
and stakeholder involved in the project have been shifted. 
The report is dependent upon reflecting these resources 
from third parties, so it is necessary to delay until such time 
as these can be confirmed

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected Cambridge; Dukes; Kew; Meols

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Members, Ward Councillors and local communities

Method(s) of Consultation Briefings, meetings and Town Deal consultation process.

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Customer Experience Training - Business Case

Contact Officer(s)  details Claire Maguire claire.maguire@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
2684

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Bootle Levelling Up Fund - Bid  
Acceptance of Bootle Levelling Up Fund

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
07/10/2021.  Reason: A decision is awaited on the Levelling 
Up Fund bid following which the report can be submitted to 
Cabinet. A decision is anticipated in Autumn 2021.

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Page 153

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Wards Affected Derby; Linacre

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Members

Method(s) of Consultation Via Briefings and meetings

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Bootle Levelling Up Fund - Bid

Contact Officer(s)  details Heather Jago heather.jago@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
4619

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Crosby Levelling Up Fund Bid  
Acceptance of Crosby Levelling Up Fund, submitted June 
2021

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
07/10/2021.  Reason: A decision is awaited on the Levelling 
Up Fund bid following which the report can be submitted to 
Cabinet. A decision is anticipated in Autumn 2021.

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected Blundellsands; Church; Manor; Victoria

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Members and Ward Councillors, Local community

Method(s) of Consultation Briefings and meetings

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Crosby Leveling Up Fund Bid

Page 154

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Contact Officer(s)  details keith molloy

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Bootle Regeneration Strategy  
Update and review Bootle Regeneration Strategy (Strand 
transformation related).

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
07/10/2021.  Reason: The report on this matter needs to be 
considered alongside the Bootle Levelling Up Fund bid. A 
decision is anticipated in Autumn 2021.

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected Derby; Linacre

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Members, Ward Councillors

Method(s) of Consultation Via briefings and meetings (e.g. Members Reference 
Group).

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Bootle Regeneration Strategy

Contact Officer(s)  details Heather Jago heather.jago@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
4619

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People 
Working Group Final Report  
To present formally the final report of the Housing Support 
Services to Vulnerable People Working Group.

Page 155

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Decision Maker Cabinet

Council

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021

18 Nov 2021 

Key Decision Criteria Financial No Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected All Wards

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Head of Communities; Head of Economic Growth and 
Housing; Venus Charity; the Bosco Society; Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority; a former Asylum Seeker; a 
Syrian Refugee; Migrant Help; Serco; Home Office

Method(s) of Consultation Meetings; Interviews; Emails; Briefing Papers

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People Working 
Group Final Report

Contact Officer(s)  details Paul Fraser paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 2068

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity 
Working Group Final Report  
To present formally the Effectiveness of the Council’s 
Enforcement Activity Working Group Final Report

Decision Maker Cabinet

Council

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021

18 Nov 2021 

Page 156

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected All Wards

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Head of Highways and Public Protection; former Head of 
Locality Services; Chief Planning Officer; NSL Client 
Account Manager and a NSL Sefton Civil Enforcement 
Officer 

Method(s) of Consultation Meetings; Interviews; Emails; Briefing papers

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity Working 
Group Final Report

Contact Officer(s)  details Paul Fraser paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 2068

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Bootle Canalside - Business Plan  
To seek approval of the Bootle Canalside Business Plan.

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
07/10/2021.  Reason: Data is still being gathered to finalise 
the Business Plan including engagement at an upcoming 
August temporary “Pop-Up” event

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected Derby; Linacre

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be Sefton Communities and Sefton CVS, Cabinet Members & 

Page 157

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Consulted Ward Councillors

Method(s) of Consultation Informal Engagement Event.

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Bootle Canalside - Business Plan

Contact Officer(s)  details Garry Lewis garry.lewis@sefton.gov.uk

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Bootle Area Action Plan - Issues and Options 
Consultation paper  
Approval is sought for approval to publish the Bootle Area 
Action Plan - Issues and Options Paper for public 
consultation.

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
07/10/2021.  Reason: Further work is needed to fully 
explore the range of issues that will be included in the 
Issues and Options consultation paper. The short delay will 
enable officers to undertake further work and gather 
relevant evidence to inform the Bootle AAP.

Key Decision Criteria Financial No Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected Derby; Linacre; Litherland; Netherton and Orrell

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Officers through an officer steering group; Cabinet Member 
– Planning and Building Control

Method(s) of Consultation Meetings and email

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Bootle Area Action - Issues and Options Consultation paper

Contact Officer(s)  details Ian Loughlin ian.loughlin@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 3558

Page 158

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Enterprise Arcade Project  
Enterprise Arcade - Business Case (part of the Town Deal 
project group).

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
07/10/2021.  Reason: Business case work is ongoing and 
will not be completed in time to report to the September 
Meeting of the Cabinet

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected Cambridge; Dukes

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Members and community (Town Deal Board)

Method(s) of Consultation Briefings, Meetings including Town Deal consultation and 
Town Deal Board

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Enterprise Arcade Project

Contact Officer(s)  details Rebecca Johnstone Rebecca.Johnstone@sefton.gov.uk 
Tel: 0151 934 4138

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Social Housing Allocations Scheme  
To seek approval to Sefton’s continued participation in a 
Merseyside sub regional social housing allocations scheme, 
to approve the final revised Allocations Policy following 
consultations, and agree the arrangements for the 

Page 159

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

introduction of a new IT system to support the operation of 
the new policy and scheme.

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 

Key Decision Criteria Financial No Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected All Wards

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

The consultation and survey was aimed at as many 
residents within the borough of Sefton as possible and 
specifically those residents currently on the Housing 
Register for social housing with Property Pool Plus, 
Participating Registered Social Landlords, other referring 
agencies, and other key public sector agencies. The 
consultation ran for 12 weeks between 18th November 2020 
and 10th February 2021.

Method(s) of Consultation Council’s Public Engagement & Consultation Panel. The 
consultation was open to any member of the public, asking 
a number of questions in a set survey questionnaire, 
including an easy read version of the survey. These 
questions were accessed via a Survey Monkey link from the 
Property Pool Plus website and each Local Authorities 
respective websites. The draft Allocations Policy scheme 
was provided for reference. 

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Social Housing Allocations scheme

Contact Officer(s)  details Graham Parry graham.parry@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
3446

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Sandway Homes Limited-Business Plan  
This report will provide an update on the delivery of the 
Phase 1 Business Plan for the Company and will seek 
approval of the key elements that are proposed within 
Phase 2

Page 160

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected All Wards

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Not applicable

Method(s) of Consultation Not applicable

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Sandway Homes Limited-Business Plan

Contact Officer(s)  details Stephan Van Arendsen 
stephan.vanarendsen@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 4081

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Strategic Guidance for Highway Safety Inspections  
Approval is requested for the adoption of this guidance for 
all highway inspections undertaken on the Council highway 
network.

Decision Maker Cabinet

Council

Decision Expected 2 Dec 2021

20 Jan 2022 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Page 161

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Wards Affected All Wards

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Not applicable

Method(s) of Consultation Not applicable

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Strategic Guidance for Highway Safety Inspections

Contact Officer(s)  details Graham Lymbery graham.lymbery@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 
934 4175

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Transformations de Southport - Business Case  
Business Case for public realm enhancements in Southport 
(linkage to Town Deal)

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 4 Nov 2021 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
04/11/2021.  Reason: Business case work is ongoing and 
will not be completed in time to report to the September or 
October Meetings of the Cabinet

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected Cambridge; Dukes

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Members and public (Town Deal consultation).

Method(s) of Consultation Briefings and meetings.

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Transformations de Southport - Business Case.

Page 162

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Contact Officer(s)  details Stephen Birch stephen.birch@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
4225

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Southport Events Centre Business Case  
Seeking approval of the Events Centre Business Case

Decision Maker Cabinet

Decision Expected 6 Jan 2022 
Decision due date for Cabinet changed from 02/09/2021 to 
06/01/2022.  Reason: Business case work is ongoing and 
will not be completed until the end of 2021

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Fully exempt

Wards Affected Cambridge; Dukes

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Cabinet Members

Method(s) of Consultation Briefings and various meetings.

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Southport Events Centre Business Case

Contact Officer(s)  details Mark Catherall mark.catherall@sefton.gov.uk Tel: 0151 934 
2315

SEFTON METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
FORWARD PLAN

Details of Decision to be taken Award of North West Topographic Coastline Surveys  
A procurement exercise has been conducted via the Chest 
and the outcome was in excess of the approval level officers 
had got (Cabinet Member).

Decision Maker Cabinet

Page 163

Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX 3

Decision Expected 7 Oct 2021 

Key Decision Criteria Financial Yes Community 
Impact

Yes

Exempt Report Open

Wards Affected Ainsdale; Birkdale; Blundellsands; Cambridge; Church; 
Dukes; Harington; Linacre; Meols; Ravenmeols

Scrutiny Committee Area Regeneration and Skills

Persons/Organisations to be 
Consulted 

Chris Magee - Corporate Procurement Unit 
Dafydd Williams - Corporate Resources, Regulation and 
Compliance
Michelle Williams - Hof Operational Services
Cllr Ian Moncur

Method(s) of Consultation Emails

List of Background Documents 
to be Considered by Decision-
maker

Award of North West Topographic Coastline Surveys
Award of North West Topographic Coastline Surveys

Contact Officer(s)  details Andrew Martin andrew.martin@sefton.gov.uk

Page 164

Agenda Item 8



Report to: Overview and 
Scrutiny 
Committee -
(Regeneration and 
Skills)

Date of Meeting: 21 September 
2021

Subject: Cabinet Member Reports – September 2021

Report of: Chief Legal and 
Democratic Officer

Wards Affected: All

Cabinet 
Portfolio:

Communities and Housing;
Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element)
Locality Services;
Planning and Building Control; and
Regeneration and Skills

Is this a Key 
Decision:

No Included in 
Forward Plan:

 No

Exempt / 
Confidential 
Report:

No 

Summary:
To submit the Cabinet Member - Communities and Housing; Locality Services; 
Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element); Planning and Building Control; and 
Regeneration and Skills reports relating to the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee for the period June to September 2021.

Recommendation:

That the Cabinet Member - Communities and Housing; Locality Services; Health 
and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element); Planning and Building Control; and 
Regeneration and Skills reports relating to the remit of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee be noted.

Reasons for the Recommendation:

In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to be 
submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected: 

No alternative options have been considered because the Overview and Scrutiny 
Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member Reports to be 
submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Page 165

Agenda Item 9



What will it cost and how will it be financed?

Any financial implications associated with the Cabinet Member report that are 
referred to in this update are contained within the respective reports.

(A) Revenue Costs – see above

(B) Capital Costs – see above

Implications of the Proposals:

Resource Implications (Financial, IT, Staffing and Assets):

Legal Implications:

Equality Implications:
There are no equality implications. 

Climate Emergency Implications:

The recommendations within this report will 
Have a positive impact No
Have a neutral impact Yes
Have a negative impact No
The Author has undertaken the Climate Emergency training for 
report authors

Yes

There are no direct climate emergency implications arising from this report. Any 
climate emergency implications arising from matters referred to in the Cabinet 
Member reports will be contained in reports when they are presented to Members 
at the appropriate time.

Contribution to the Council’s Core Purpose:

Protect the most vulnerable: None directly applicable to this report. The Cabinet 
Member update provides information on activity within Councillor Atkinson’s, 
Fairclough’s, Hardy’s, Moncur’s (relating to Green Sefton) and Veidman’s 
portfolios during a previous two/three-month period. Any reports relevant to their 
portfolio considered by the Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Committees during this 
period would contain information as to how such reports contributed to the 
Council’s Core Purpose. 

Facilitate confident and resilient communities: As above

Commission, broker and provide core services: As above

Page 166

Agenda Item 9



Place – leadership and influencer: As above

Drivers of change and reform: As above

Facilitate sustainable economic prosperity: As above

Greater income for social investment: As above

Cleaner Greener: As above

What consultations have taken place on the proposals and when?

(A) Internal Consultations

The Cabinet Member Update Report is not subject to FD/LD consultation.  Any 
specific financial and legal implications associated with any subsequent reports 
arising from the attached Cabinet Member update report will be included in those 
reports as appropriate

(B) External Consultations 

Not applicable 

Implementation Date for the Decision

Immediately following the Committee meeting.

Contact Officer: Paul Fraser
Telephone Number: 0151 934 2068
Email Address: paul.fraser@sefton.gov.uk

Appendices:

The following appendices are attached to this report: 

Cabinet Member – Communities and Housing
Cabinet Member – Health and Wellbeing (Green Sefton element)
Cabinet Member - Locality Services 
Cabinet Member – Planning and Building Control 
Cabinet Member - Regeneration and Skills 

Page 167

Agenda Item 9



Background Papers:

There are no background papers available for inspection.

1. Introduction/Background

1.1 In order to keep Overview and Scrutiny Members informed, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Management Board has agreed for relevant Cabinet Member 
Reports to be submitted to appropriate Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

1.2 Attached to this report, for information, are the most recent Cabinet 
Member reports for the Communities and Housing; Health and Wellbeing 
(Green Sefton element); Locality Services; Planning and Building Control; 
and Regeneration and Skills portfolios. 

Page 168

Agenda Item 9



CABINET MEMBER UPDATE REPORT
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills – 21st September 2021) 

COUNCILLOR PORTFOLIO DATE
Trish Hardy Communities and Housing September 2021

NEIGHBOURHOODS AND PARTNERSHIPS

The Mike O`Brien Community Hut in South Park was opened by the Mayor of Sefton on Tuesday 31st 
August. Friends of South Park are negotiating the building lease with Green Sefton which will allow them to 
deliver community-based projects in the future.

Planning has started for the NAC firework Display. The event will take place if the COVID test centre is 
removed and there are no restrictions in place.

Neighbourhood officers supported the second youth market that was held in the Marion Square shopping 
centre on Thursday 26th August. There were 10 stalls at this month’s events offering a wide range of items 
from wall art, homemade fudge and brownies, jewellery, clothing and bath bombs. The series of 3 youth 
markets in the area is supported by Primadonna School Wear.

Two planters have been installed at Bispham Road Shops in Norwood Ward. Resident and Business 
feedback has been positive. It is planned that a further two planters will be installed by the end of September.  
The works were undertaken in partnership with the High Park Project, Green Sefton, Natural Alternatives 
and community volunteers.

A successful event was held by LFC in the Community and Active Sefton in Duke Street Park on Sunday 
1st August.  A knife crime presentation and football tournament took place.  

The first meeting of the Crosby Area Operational Group was well attended by both Councillors and council 
officers and an action plan around the themes of Cleaner, Green, Safer, Stronger is being developed. Cllr 
Clare Carragher was voted in as Chair and two further meetings are scheduled for 22nd September and 
24th November

Covid Community Engagement officers 

The team have been focusing their attention on the areas that are of concern for Public Health Colleagues. 
They have been engaging with the community at Care Homes, the data we are generating is helping the 
wider Public Health teams research into Vaccine hesitancy and take up.

Welfare Reform

 Food bank 

1st April 2021 – 1st July 
2021

South Sefton Southport

Total Vouchers received 1616 428
Adults Fed 2002 542

Children Fed 1063 333
Total Fed 3065 875

Crisis Type Low income – 1137 vouchers 
presented 219 people fed

Low income – 230 vouchers 
presented 480 people fed

Family Type Single 1009 vouchers presented 
64.79%

Single 250 vouchers presented 
58.41%

Age group 25-64: 1789 25 – 64: 453
Page 169

Agenda Item 9



Hate Crime
 
The Hate Crime JAG (formerly MARAC) meeting in September will take place via MS Teams and will consider ongoing 
cases and new referrals. JAG members have stated that the online meetings have been working well with partners 
able to attend who might not have attended a face to face meeting due to travel time.

The Hate Crime Coordinator has developed an online training presentation and the first session took place on the 8th 
September with attendees from Sefton Council and local partners. The training is being delivered in partnership with 
Merseyside Police.

The officer has also attended a hate crime webinar hosted by Merseyside Police and a meeting with the Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner to look at hate crime training across Merseyside.

Equalities
 
Online training on Equality Impact Assessments has started and further sessions have been arranged for the rest of 
the year. Sessions have been booked for elected members in November.

The Sefton Council BAME staff group has continued to meet and some staff attended the leadership course delivered 
by LJMU. Extra places became available and were funded by Learning and development so all staff who applied were 
able to take part. Feedback has been excellent.

Sefton will be hosting a meeting of the LCR BAME staff group in September.

The Navajo charter mark reassessment took place on the 24th and 25th August. Outcome awaited.

Integrated Youth Service

Performance
This information relates to Sefton’s Youth Offending Team’s performance in relation to nationally and locally 
set key performance indicators.  National data is sourced via Police National Computer (PNC) and is the 
latest available.  Sefton’s results continue to be pleasing.

Reoffending  -  During April 2018 to March 2019 compared to the same time period the previous year there 
was a decrease in reoffending by 6.02%.  Sefton YOT had the third highest decrease in re-offending rates 
within the YOT family. YOT families are YOTs that appear similar in terms of the socio-demographic 
characteristics of their area. 

First Time Entrants - This information relates to those young people who receive a criminal record for the 
first time. During January to December 2019 compared with the previous year, there was a reduction from 
51 to 41 young people. Sefton is listed as the fifth YOT as having the lowest number of first-time entrant 
numbers out of 11 similar YOT’s in that time period.

Young People in Custody - Custody Rate is the number of young people receiving a custodial sentence. 
There are no Sefton children currently serving a custodial sentence. There is one young person who is 
remanded on bail into the care of the local authority rather than in custody, they are currently placed with 
their parent. 

Boys Group – Help for Young People Programme
This programme focused on healthy relationships for boys who have been identified as experiencing 
relationship difficulties with parents or guardians has concluded with success. The course leaders noted a 
significant improvement in young people’s presentation, engagement and understanding. Initially, the boys 
talked about being excluded from school, smoking cannabis, that they didn’t see the point in having a job 
and for those that attended further education they didn’t recognise the value. 

All boys had experienced relationship difficulties with families and peers. By the end of the programme, the 
course leaders reported much greater levels of engagement through participation, eye contact, taking 
responsibility for group arrangements, and building aspirations for their future. Page 170

Agenda Item 9



There were notable changes in how the young people recognised the value of education and the importance 
of family. Many talked about how they understood how they can influence relationships through positive 
contributions and their behaviour. They talked about developing trust in others and understood the meaning 
of empathy.

Operational Planning Group
The Operational Partnership Group reports to the YOT Management Board and is composed of practitioners 
and line managers across the partnership. Following the initial findings of a case mapping exercise,  key 
themes were identified  including opportunities to develop the team around the school and increasing worker 
resilience and skills to address embedded family issues that create chaotic conditions, which can be difficult 
to challenge. These themes have been discussed with the Early Help Partnership Board Chair and work will 
continue to improve these areas.

We Are With You (WAWY) 
Sefton YOT works closely with WAWY, the drugs and alcohol advice and support service for under 18’s. 
Representatives from the service sit on the YOT Out of Court Disposal decision making panel each week to 
discuss cases referred in by police for diversionary intervention. YOTs are now able to divert young people 
who have been referred in for certain minor offences under Outcome 22 which offers an opportunity for 
educative work to be delivered by a partner agency negating the need for direct YOT involvement. Since 
January this year YOT has referred 41 young people who have admitted to being in possession of cannabis 
when stopped by police, via Outcome 22 to WAWY. Out of this number, 40 have engaged with the service 
and 1 refused which is a pleasing response.
          
Youth Service
The Youth Service  outreach teams  continue to support Anti -Social Behaviour Hot Spot areas utilising the 
Youth Bus and have concentrated on Bowersdale Park engaging with young people in attempts to prevent 
further problematic Anti -Social Behaviour. This work has been carried out in partnership with Merseyside 
Police and Merseyside Fire and Rescue teams. The teams have also been in the local parks to offer support 
and diversion for young people who have moved from Bowersdale to other parks such as Caradoc Park and 
Pottersbarn Skate Park
           
Southport Detached Work
The team has been supporting the Parenting 2000 staff in Southport with a new project designed to educate 
young people around Criminal Exploitation, County Lines and Grooming. There are plans for Youth Outreach 
Workers to deliver this in the King’s Gardens area of the town. The Southport youth work team is also 
continuing to travel around the area engaging young people and handing out information on local services.

Reading Project
The Youth Service has been supporting Cllr Atkinson at Aintree Community Centre with the Summer 
Reading project. This project has also provided opportunities for young people to engage in various 
confidence building activities throughout the summer period.  At the end of August, the project will celebrate 
the young people’s “graduation”

Operation Banger
Planning is now underway for Operation Banger, where Youth Workers will join up with relevant Council 
Departments as well as Merseyside Police and Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service to work with children 
and young people in preparation for the period between Halloween and Bonfire Night. The aim is to provide 
as many diversionary activities during this period as possible via the Youth Bus and commissioned 
organisations. It is hoped that a firework display can go ahead this year and if this is the case, Youth Workers 
will be present to engage with children and young people on the night. The aim will be to keep everyone 
safe whilst ensuring that the community enjoy a night to remember.

Page 171

Agenda Item 9



Symbol

Following the last SYMBOL meeting, staff are working with Sefton CVS to consider ways young people can 
be better encouraged to engage with Youth Provision across the borough, particularly in terms of SYMBOL 
and Youth Voice. A Task and Finish group has been set up to explore the issue, this will also consider how 
staff can utilise social media to communicate with young people. It is hoped that school Police Officers will 
join Youth Workers to broaden their knowledge about youth provision in the borough so that children and 
young people with whom they work, will be encouraged by the school Police Officer engage in Sefton’s youth 
provision. 

Drugs and Mental Health Support 
Youth Work staff in consultation with We Are with You are planning some training for workers around 
substance misuse and young people. This is to encourage staff confidence in discussing referrals to the 
service and to plan some joint work using the Youth Bus in the community. 

The Youth Service use of Social Media Platforms to highlight services and opportunities open to both young 
people and parents. To support mental health the youth service have highlighted Kooth to heighten 
awareness of the online counselling service available. The Kooth Engagement worker will offer training to 
schools and providers on the benefits and how to access the service.

LIBRARY AND INFORMATION SERVICES

New apprentices appointed
During lockdown, all of the library apprentices finished their apprenticeships with two securing distinctions. 
Working with the Apprentice Team a new group of apprentices have been recruited and will be starting work 
over the next 4 weeks. This will significantly alleviate the staffing pressures the library service is currently 
operating under. Now lasting 15 months, the library apprenticeships give the candidates a wide range of 
work experiences which will help them gain future employment.

Summer Reading Challenge
This year it will indeed be a challenge to run the Summer Reading Challenge. In normal years, library staff 
attend school assemblies to promote the challenge, which aims to keep small children reading during the 
summer holidays. This year staff are not being allowed into schools. To overcome this a fun film has been 
put together by library staff all about theme of this year’s challenge which is ‘Wild World Heroes’. The film 
will be played at school assemblies and teachers have been briefed to answer any immediate questions 
from their children. Although we expect numbers taking part this year to be lower than previous years, we 
hope to maintain our successful completion rate which is usually the highest in the North West.

E-Books and E-audio during restrictions
Restricted access to normal library services has had a positive knock-on effect to our E-Books and E-audio 
services. During lockdown purchase of e-titles increased and our holdings have increased by 700 items 
more than the normal number of titles on offer. As you would expect, loans of e-titles have been buoyant 
over the last year with on average 2600 monthly loans of e-audio and 3000 monthly loans of e-books. This 
constitutes on a huge leap in take up of the e-offer over the last year.  We’ve also welcomed 370 new users 
signed up since the beginning of the year which is a healthy growth compared to previous years. While we 
expect the end of restrictions to lead to a fall in e-content loans once normality returns, e-books have proved 
themselves as an adequate substitute to books in times of lockdown. While there have been some issues 
with library members accessing content in lockdown, staff have been available to assist them in connecting 
to the service.

Reaching Communities funding progress
In 2019 Sefton libraries were awarded £240,482, from the National Lottery Reaching Communities fund to 
continue and expand the Human Libraries project. Human Libraries is a programme of artist-led workshops, 
projects, commissions and happenings in the community libraries of Bootle and Crosby. 

Page 172

Agenda Item 9



The project is built around the premise that everyone has “gifts of the heart, the head and the hand” to offer 
to their community. Through artist-led activity, the Human Library creates ways for people, living in poor 
mental health or those who are socially isolated to share these gifts.

During the first year £72,749 was spent on two freelance project workers and programme of ‘in person’, 
digital and blended activities. The end of year activity and financial reports were approved by the NLRC team 
and our relationship manager.

During the first two quarters of this financial year we have spent £20,367 on two freelance project workers 
and a range of in person and blended activities including: 

Chopping club – a monthly community cooking project, where everyone cooks and eats together. This can 
be something as simple as making soup, to a lavish 3 course meal and a foraging walk.

The kitchen collective – a ceramic making project led by artist Aliyah Hussain. 

Stitch Club - a fortnightly get together; part sewing circle, part skill sharing, part textile making creative 
space. 

The Soft Sanctuary Season, where disabled artist Bella Milroy shared her experiences of finding care and 
wellbeing, celebrating the sanctuary nature of the library as a place to relax and feel safe.

As with all aspects of life, this project has been affected by lockdown. However, by working flexibly and 
shifting the delivery of online and blended activities, the project has still reached key individuals. Project 
workers reached out to isolated residents taking part in the project to make sure ok and arranged regular 
keeping in touch calls. The Reaching Communities Regional Rep has commented that she is pleased with 
how we have responded to lockdown and is happy with progress to date.

The Atkinson

Theatre Programme
Ongoing Covid concerns are causing uncertainty in the theatre sector and have led to several producers 
deciding to cancel their tours out of fear of financial risk.  The Atkinson has reviewed its programme and has 
taken the decision to reschedule some of the performances booked for September.  Whilst it is disheartening, 
the priority must be to safeguard safety standards of our performance spaces.  The August performances of 
SONG’s Footloose production were delivered within the socially distanced model that worked so effectively 
for the Atkinson’s panto season last year.  The period of uncertainty for theatres is likely to continue for some 
time and we will continue to monitor the situation to ensure that all events are delivered with appropriate 
consideration to health and safety protocols.

Museum and Galleries
Atkinson visitors can now join Captain Pugwash and his motley crew in the Discovery Box for some pirate 
fun over the summer.  Captain Pugwash’s ship The Black Pig first set sail from Southport.  The bumbling 
pirate captain and his arch-enemy Cut-Throat Jake first crossed swords in the earliest editions of the Eagle 
comic, when it was being written and illustrated in a small studio in Churchtown.  Captain Pugwash went on 
to become a popular children’s TV animation in the 1950s and early ‘60s as well as being revived in colour 
in the 1970s and 1990s. Its creator John Ryan also contributed other Eagle favourites including ‘Harris 
Tweed, Special Agent’ as well as ‘Lettice Leefe’ for Eagle’s companion paper Girl, and ‘Sir Boldasbrass’ for 
Swift.  The exhibition includes examples of John Ryan’s artwork for the Eagle as well as graphics for other 
successful TV animations including ‘The Adventures of Sir Prancelot’ and ‘Mary, Mungo and Midge’.  The 
exhibition is curated by John’s daughter Isabel who provided the voice for Mary in ‘Mary, Mungo and Midge’.

The Museum has launched a set of new Augmented Reality trails for the Summer. After the success of the 
animated BA Bird Tour created by Dot Rogers, she has created a new Local Legends Tour for our Between 
Land and Sea Gallery. They showcase The Mekon, the amazing war efforts of May Logan and give an 
account of Mexico Disaster survivor John Jackson’s experience.  

Page 173

Agenda Item 9



The British Museum has complimented the Atkinson on the support we have provided to their digital trainee 
Jenny Cope. She is now over half way through her placement and she is set to complete her diploma 
requirement on schedule. The ‘BM’ have noted the wide range of opportunities that Jenny has enjoyed so 
far which has helped her to develop her professional skills and learning.

Communications 
Events promoted via the Council website, The Atkinson website, The Atkinson social 
media, through the press and Liverpool City Region 

HOUSING

Rough Sleepers and Homeless services

In my previous report I outlined that the Council had submitted a further Rough Sleeper Initiative funding bid 
for 2021-22, to try to sustain the initiatives we have already put in place and introduce some further initiatives. 
A formal offer of grant in the amount of £466,664 Rough Sleeper Initiative 2021/22 funding from the Ministry 
of Housing, Communities and Local Government was received in May 2021. In consultation with Cabinet 
Member for Regulatory, Compliance and Corporate Service and the Section 151 Officer, a supplementary 
revenue estimate of £466,664 for inclusion within the Councils revenue budget to be funded by the Rough 
Sleeper Initiative was ring-fenced & approved.

Dispersed Temporary Accommodation pilot project with Riverside HA 

In July 2019, I approved the delivery of a service by Riverside HA to provide dispersed temporary 
accommodation and support services for vulnerable households, particularly for those who struggle to 
access tenancies. The service was designed as a 2-year pilot and funded through the Flexible 
Homelessness Support Grant. This scheme became active in December 2019. I have supported a further 
6-month extension to this scheme from the end of the current contract until 1st June 2022. The extension 
would continue the positive work (re)housing families presenting to Sefton Housing Options aiming to provide 
longer term, more permanent accommodation within the Sefton area.

Private Rented Sector 

Our 3 private landlord licensing schemes went live on the 1st of March 2018- focusing on the licensing of all 
private landlords in Bootle but developing stronger ‘Additional HMO’ licensing schemes to cover more types 
of HMO properties for Southport and Waterloo.  

Over the Covid period officers have not undertaken License compliance visits unless necessary to address 
serious concerns. Instead officers have focused on undertaking desktop street surveys to identify potential 
unlicensed properties in the selective licensing areas. In total 1410 unlicensed properties have potentially 
been identified and have been sent final warning letters (allowing 21 days to make an application, if 
applicable). This work is identifying significant number of unlicensed premises each week and has led to an 
increase in new license applications of 978. There has also been a focus on processing license applications. 
Since lockdown began 1507 new licenses have been issued and the backlog of license applications at the 
start of the Covid lockdown has also reduced by 1491.

The actual numbers of license applications received exceeds the number of private rented sector properties 
we estimated at the start of the Licensing schemes by 15%.

The Housing Licensing team have begun working in collaboration with several Registered Providers and 
Environmental Health and Cleansing on a joint project to tackle fly-tipping in the POETs streets area of Bootle. 
As this area falls within the selective licensing area, the licensing team have been involved in engaging with 
Private Sector Landlords and Tenants to ensure they are not breaching licensing conditions in relation to 
refuse storage and disposal. Page 174

Agenda Item 9



The licensing team has also: -

 Removed 1038 hazards under the Housing Health and Safety System from properties where licensing 
compliance visits had been undertaken, mainly before Covid restrictions. Of the 29 hazards that can 
be identified, Fire safety, Damp and Mould and Electrical hazards were the hazards most commonly 
removed. 

 Out of 450 properties found to be non-compliant on the first visit, 286 were then compliant on the 
second visit following the licensing team’s intervention

 Served 63  Final Civil Penalty Notices on landlords for “operating an unlicensed, licensable property” 
a number of these are awaiting appeal, which due to the Coronavirus restrictions has been delayed.        

 Revoked 1 Selective licence due to the proposed licence holder being determined as not being fit and 
proper to hold a licence

 Continued to work with the ASB Team and Merseyside Police, several landlords have been contacted 
about the behaviour of their tenants and positive engagement and co-operation with the landlords led 
to a decrease in complaints about those properties.

 Preparation of several prosecution files against 1 managing agent  for failure to licence properties.

Our 3 private landlord licensing schemes went live on the 1st of March 2018- focusing on the licensing of 
all private landlords in Bootle but developing stronger ‘Additional HMO’ licensing schemes to cover more 
types of HMO properties for Southport and Waterloo.  

Over the Covid period officers have not undertaken License compliance visits unless necessary to address 
serious concerns. Instead officers have focused on undertaking desktop street surveys to identify potential 
unlicensed properties in the selective licensing areas. In total 1410 unlicensed properties have potentially 
been identified and have been sent final warning letters (allowing 21 days to make an application, if 
applicable). This work is identifying significant number of unlicensed premises each week and has led to 
an increase in new license applications of 978. There has also been a focus on processing license 
applications. Since lockdown began 1507 new licenses have been issued and the backlog of license 
applications at the start of the Covid lockdown has also reduced by 1491.

The actual numbers of license applications received exceeds the number of private rented sector properties 
we estimated at the start of the Licensing schemes by 15%.

The Housing Licensing team have begun working in collaboration with several Registered Providers and 
Environmental Health and Cleansing on a joint project to tackle fly-tipping in the POETs streets area of 
Bootle. As this area falls within the selective licensing area, the licensing team have been involved in 
engaging with Private Sector Landlords and Tenants to ensure they are not breaching licensing conditions 
in relation to refuse storage and disposal.

The licensing team has also: -

 Removed 1038 hazards under the Housing Health and Safety System from properties where 
licensing compliance visits had been undertaken, mainly before Covid restrictions. Of the 29 
hazards that can be identified, Fire safety, Damp and Mould and Electrical hazards were the 
hazards most commonly removed. 

 Out of 450 properties found to be non-compliant on the first visit, 286 were then compliant on the 
second visit following the licensing team’s intervention

 Served 63  Final Civil Penalty Notices on landlords for “operating an unlicensed, licensable 
property” a number of these are awaiting appeal, which due to the Coronavirus restrictions has 
been delayed.     

Page 175

Agenda Item 9



   
 Revoked 1 Selective licence due to the proposed licence holder being determined as not being fit 

and proper to hold a licence
 Continued to work with the ASB Team and Merseyside Police, several landlords have been 

contacted about the behaviour of their tenants and positive engagement and co-operation with the 
landlords led to a decrease in complaints about those properties.

 Preparation of several prosecution files against 1 managing agent  for failure to licence properties.

Other Enforcement activities carried out by the Housing Standards Team since 1/3/2020 has included: -

 Successfully won a housing enforcement case at the First Tier Tribunal, who have upheld the 
decision of our Housing Standards team to issue a Civil Penalty Notice on a landlord for “failure to 
supply an electrical safety certificate for an HMO”

 Two Rent Repayment Orders were granted, and the team successfully won an appeal to the Upper 
Tier Housing Tribunal against a Rent Repayment Order to which a Landlord must repay 12 months 
housing benefit received from operating an HMO without a licence.

 Completed 1 successful prosecution under Section 16 (2)(a) of Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976

 5 properties have been prohibited from use due to serious defects,
 1 property had its prohibition lifted, following resale and full refurbishment              
 11 landlords were served a Smoke & Co Alarm Regs Remedial Notice   
 A further 105 Notices were served including to provide Notice of Entry, Hazard Awareness, 

Statutory Nuisance, Requests for information/documentation  

  Other Enforcement activities carried out by the Housing Standards Team since 1/7/2021 has included
 The team have completed 3 Enforced Sales on long term vacant premises.
 3 Prohibition Orders on properties have been removed and the premises can be used once again 

for habitation after all remedial works have been completed19 Notices of Entry have been served to 
allow officers to access premises that are deemed to have serious hazards present.

Empty properties

The current total proportion of vacant homes in Sefton (at April 2021) stands at 4.21%. This equates to 5,421 
properties in the Borough. The total proportion of vacant homes in the borough has remained virtually static 
over the past few years.  The 6-year average figure is 4.28%.

The current total proportion of properties empty for 6 months or longer stands at 2.55% equating to 3329 
properties. This is slightly greater than the 6-year average figure of 2.43%. However, the trend in Longer-
term vacant homes appears to be reducing this will continue to be monitored on a bi-annual basis and 
reported back to this group as required. Bootle and Southport continue to experience areas of lower demand 
and higher turnover, and therefore suffer greater problems associated with empty properties.  

Social Housing Allocations (Property Pool Plus)

Sefton participates in the Property Pool Plus scheme along with Liverpool, Wirral, Knowsley and Halton 
Councils, as well as the participating housing associations. As previously reported the Local Authorities have 
reviewed the current Policy and associated service arrangements, supported by external consultant Neil 
Morland & Co. A new draft Policy and Procedure has been produced and was subject to a 12-week 
consultation period which ended in February. 

The results of the consultation are being considered, along with the IT system upgrades required to support 
the new Policy. A workshop session has been arranged for early September to discuss the final iteration of 
the Policy document with a view to it being considered by Cabinet later this year.

Page 176

Agenda Item 9



In addition, a weekly ‘task and finish’ officers meeting has been arranged between all the Local Authorities 
to oversee this work. 

Extra Care Housing

Riverside Housing has concluded the acquisition of the Meadows in Ainsdale, part of the Phase 1 Asset 
Maximisation Disposal Strategy.  Riverside secured planning consent in April for a development of 32 
houses, 2 bungalows, 6 maisonettes and a 3-storey 90-unit extra care scheme. The development has now 
commenced.

A purpose-built short-term assessment unit for Sefton residents to be built to meet the Council’s needs which 
will be leased back on a long-term arrangement at a peppercorn rent for our use.

Proposals for a 91 units Extra Care scheme on the 503 Hawthorne Road site are progressing through 
Registered Provider Housing 21. The scheme represents an opportunity to not only provided much needed 
additional Extra Care housing on in the south of the borough but the scheme itself will contribute to the 
regeneration of the Hawthorne Road corridor, bringing a contaminated brownfield site back into use. 
However, the proposal is subject to securing support from the Combined Authority through their Brownfield 
Housing Fund.

Liverpool City Region

In July 2020, the Combined Authority secured £45m from Government’s National Brownfield Land Fund (the 
BLF).  The fund aims to ease viability issues affecting brownfield housing sites and will deliver between 
3,000 and 4,000 new homes across the city region. All homes must start on site by March 2025, at the latest. 
In accordance with the Investment Strategy, projects seeking BLF will be either directly commissioned or 
sought via a call process.  To date, the CA, working with its constituent local authority partners, has 
commissioned and approved projects with a cumulative BLF contribution of over £10m.  

Whilst the CA may commission further projects; in order to support the commitment of funds and to plan for 
future devolved housing funding, the CA has also sought additional project applications under a call process.  
The CA has provisionally made £15m of the total Brownfield Land Fund available for the call for projects, 
however they reserve the right to increase this should sufficient compliant and deliverable bids be received 
in order to ensure that the full allocation of funding can be spent. 

I understand that the fund is oversubscribed, however, the evaluation process is yet to be concluded. 
Compliant bids will be assessed against a number of criteria:

 Market Failure - in order to ensure that the funding is used to bring forward schemes which the 
market cannot bring forward LCRCA does not anticipate taking forward schemes with a grant 
requirement of less than £500k

 Grant Rate – in order to ensure value only bids with a ‘grant rate’ of approximately £15k per 
unit will be considered. Schemes will also be assessed against the Benefit Cost Ratio with 
schemes achieving over 1 being considered

 Deliverability - Detailed Planning Permission should be achieved no later than 1st October 
2024. All expenditure must be completed by 28th February 2025, at the latest and construction 
of homes must commence no later than 31st March 2025 

 Strategic Fit – schemes must align with both Local Plans in each district, and the LCR Housing 
Investment Strategy

Eight schemes were directly put forward by the respective developers:

 Old Arriva Bus Depot, Hawthorne Road (Onward) – 67 units
 St Mary’s School (Safe) – 187 units

Page 177

Agenda Item 9



 Johnsons Building (Sovini) – 123 units
 Marble Place, Southport (Humber Investments) – 233 units
 503 Hawthorne Road (Housing 21/Onward) – 91 units
 Foul Lane, Southport (Sandway) – 90 units
 Bentham Way, Southport (Sandway) – 150 units
 Former Bootle High (Sandway) - 63 units

I understand that bids totalling £80m have been submitted for schemes across the City Region. The Council 
has been asked by CA to evaluate the bids against strategic fit with the Local Plan. 

Shortlist and reserve listed schemes will be considered by:

o Growth Directors – 14th September
o Combined Authority Internal Panel – 30th September
o Combined Authority – 26th November

The above approval will provide delegate authority the CA’s Interim Executive Director of Commissioning 
and Strategic Delivery, to approve Full Business Cases. The CA currently anticipates that they we will take 
the Full Business Cases in two tranches in November 2021 and January 2022.

Council Housing

In January Cabinet approved the commencement of a new Council Housing Programme (CHP) for Sefton, 
with approval the strategic case for Sefton Council to re-enter the social housing market through the 
provision of council housing for rent. Authority was also granted to negotiate the terms to acquire one block, 
comprising nine apartments, as the start of its future stock of council housing from Sandway Homes, as part 
of Sandway’s development at Buckley Hill Lane Netherton.

A further report will be submitted to Cabinet setting out the terms to acquire the council housing stock from 
Sandway Homes, and which sets out the Business Plan and proposed operational arrangements, and work 
to prepare this is currently underway, including detailed Financial Viability Appraisals of the Buckley Hill Lane 
acquisition.

Since the Cabinet resolution in January 2021 officers have been in dialogue with Homes England about the 
availability of grant funding for the new Council Housing Programme (CHP), and about the process to secure 
Investment Partner status for the Council.

Bidding is now open through the Continuous Market Engagement (CME) route for grant funding on a scheme 
by scheme basis through the Affordable Homes Programme 2021-26 (AHP 21-26). A total of £7.39bn is 
available to deliver up to 130,000 new affordable homes by March 2026. Funding supports new build 
affordable housing supply including bringing empty homes back in to use but excluding regeneration 
(demolition and replacement) and section 106 homes. 

Rented tenures will make up around 50% of the programme with at least 50% being home ownership tenures 
including shared ownership and rent to buy. CME funded schemes require a start on site by 30th September 
2025 and completion by 31st March 2026.

AHP 21-26 allows for social rent funding in areas of high affordability pressure determined by Government 
definition (Sefton falls outside of this), however funding has also been extended to areas outside of the 
definition providing that the grant amount requested is not higher than it would be for affordable rent.

Funding is also available for an off-the shelf purchase (or Turnkey project) whereby affordable housing is 
purchased from a contractor/developer and grant paid to the applicant at practical completion and handover 
of property. Page 178

Agenda Item 9



Homes England have confirmed that only 10% of the new 2021-26 programme will available for off-the shelf 
acquisition with the priority being the delivery of additional homes. Although the proportion of funding 
available for off-the shelf purchase represents a minor part of the overall programme because the 
programme has only just opened the availability of grant for this purpose is unlikely to be a problem at this 
stage.

Investment Partner status needs to be achieved for grant funding to be received. Homes England 
recommended an application is made at the same time as a funding bid is submitted with application 
turnaround noted to be around 8 weeks. 

In addition, all owners of properties must be registered providers of social housing but may contract out 
management if they wish. Homes England requires the commissioning of services to be done in writing with 
services clearly defined in the contract including the cost of receiving the services. Any contract for the 
provision of services must be finalised and signed in time for the service provider to commence delivery at 
handover date of the properties.

Dialogue with Homes England is on-going to fully understand programme requirements, timescales and 
opportunity for Sefton to apply for grant funding based on the acquisition proposals with Sandway Homes. 

Throughout July 2021, officers carried out a soft market testing exercise with registered providers (RPs) 
currently operating within Sefton to help understand the appetite in working with the Council to support 
activities in delivering Council housing including development expertise and options for housing 
management and maintenance services.

All meetings were generally positive with RPs feeding back the willingness in principle to work with the 
Council and support across either or both development services and housing management and maintenance 
services and these arrangements will be firmed up as the programme develops.

Page 179

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Green Sefton
Overall: Green Sefton

- Visitor Action Plan: actions being taken to address excess visitors already being seen 
on the coast in 2021, and taking forward the successful pilots from 2020. See here: 
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/4375/coast-visitor-action-plan-2021.pdf 

- Coast Plan sub strategies development, incl Position Statement production, see here: 
Sefton Coast Plan Visioning Position Statement 2021

- Coastal Gateways mapping sessions have taken place for Crosby, Formby and 
Ainsdale. Southport is planned for September.

- Climate Emergency Action Plan; overall involvement, and particular actions re: 
offsetting and other aspects specific to Green Sefton.

- Our ‘place based’ strategy development.
- Re-looking at time management; to make sure we focus on the right things at the right 

time.
- Internal Working groups continue to develop – (including income and growth, 

information and intelligence, systems of working, health and safety etc).

More detail on all of the above, and our prioritised work programme, can be found on Annual 
Review newsletter, which includes a link to a narrated version of the presentation, see here: 
Green Sefton.  Further, officers are more than happy to discuss any of the issues further as 
requested, including early thoughts for the 2021 Annual Review which will be presented to 
Members in the Autumn.

In summary, key ongoing issues headlines are as follows:

Green Sefton; Development:

- No recent significant flooding, there were some localised impacts due to heavy 
downpours during the summer.

- The North West Coastal Group Innovation (flood resilience) bid looking at coastal 
ecological buffers, inc Formby dunes, has submitted a bid for scheme development 
work over the next 12 months. The project is led by Wyre Council.

- Gormley maintenance work – work completed in July 2021, all statues had their piling 
replaced.

- Development of the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy due 
for public consultation in September.

- Reviewing and updating the FCERM web pages on sefton.gov.uk.

CABINET MEMBER UPDATE REPORT

Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills)

COUNCILLOR PORTFOLIO DATE

Ian Moncur Health and Well Being September 2021

Page 181

Agenda Item 9

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/4375/coast-visitor-action-plan-2021.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/4657/sefton-coast-position-statement-2021-final-accessible.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/greensefton


2

- Developing options to take forward to alleviate flood risk in Maghull and Lydiate 
working with partners following the storm Christoph near miss, this includes an officer 
operational working group and Strategic Flood Working Group, chaired by 
Cllr Fairclough. 

- Commissioned a consultant to undertake detailed design for the Pool Project.
- Approval for Sefton to match fund UU’s £300k contribution to undertake maintenance 

and enabling work at Hall Road Crosby as an interim fix until funding is secured for the 
full sea wall/coastal defence scheme. 

- Writing several section 19 reports following flooding during Storm Christoph and the 
previous year.

- Working more closely with Highways on highways drainage maintenance and highway 
flood mitigation measures.

- Coronation park social finance project - Consultation now complete and shared with 
the community. Further work with Friends Group to embed opportunity.

- Bootle Driving Range – contractors on-site with a planned opening of early Autumn. 
Some delays are due to the supply of materials and vandalism to the site.

- Ainsdale gateway short term improvements – slow progress with design work 
underway with car park improvements and initial scoping of toilet improvements. 
Artwork to Toad Hall is underway. The trial of new concessions at Ainsdale is underway 
and has received positive feedback.

- Hesketh Park conservatory; successful £22k funding bid and conservation works are 
completed. 

- Consultation is ongoing for the future development of Hesketh park, following a legacy 
fund being gifted in a will.

- Binfastructure – funding secured to rationalise and update 48 bins across sites and 
adjacent highways – due for installation in September 2021.

- Surface Water Management Plan – some delays in the programme due to resource 
availability, currently reviewing the timeline for delivery.

- The North West Strategic Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme has been allocated 
funding from the Environment Agency for 2021-2027.

- Supporting Sefton’s Strategic Flood Resilience Working group.

Green Sefton: Community and Resources

- Development of a new Tree Management strategy is still in progress.
- Currently finalising the tree planting programme for this winter season, including links 

to Northern Forest, Trees for Climate and Queens Green Canopy Projects, bringing in 
external funding.

- Market testing of empty buildings and land opportunities, including new concessions 
on the coast for summer 2021 has provided some new opportunities (see above) and 
is continuing despite slow progress during the pandemic.

- Golf driving ranges development - Bootle works in progress due to open in the Autumn, 
provisionally 6th October.

- Allotment strategy working group, consultation during July and August has proved 
popular with over 700 participants - will help inform the long-term strategy 
development. Viewings restarted and plots being relet, helping to address waiting lists. 
Allotment events are being held including clean up campaigns.

- Volunteers and group development strategy in progress, groups and volunteers 
returning to sites as restrictions ease.

- Natural Alternatives expansion - halted during the pandemic, however numbers or 
participants starting to get back towards pre-pandemic levels. New hub opened at 
Botanic Gardens, including growing fruit and veg, and consideration of hubs in the 
south of the borough ongoing.

Page 182

Agenda Item 9



3

- ‘User-survey’ including customer satisfaction, for parks and greenspaces and coast 
launched, running till October 2021.

- Northwest in Bloom and It’s Your Neighbourhood Judging 2021 completed, results 
awaited.

- Friends Forum June 2021 remote meeting with support from SCVS identified concerns 
(esp standards of site maintenance) but was broadly positive. Further meetings 
planned.

- Launch of Crosby Coastal Park Forum.
- Ranger Team Activities/monitoring at a number of sites identified as having increased 

ASB – seasonal rise. Monthly site-visits, site inspections.
- Educational Strategy Development - school materials including; heritage, 

beachcombing and trees, Forest and Beach Schools available to book on the Schools 
portal.

- Corporate Team activities supported by Community Rangers.
- National Campaign activities completed: KBT Dog-fouling, Spring Cleans, World 

Ocean’s Day,World Environment Day, Love Parks Week. Further campaigns in the 
pipeline.

- PSPO for dog fouling in place and permanent signage due to be installed.
- Partnership Work with Merseyside Police, MFRS Outreach Team,Adult Social Care 

continues.
- Funding Support for community groups continues. New opportunities include Lottery 

and small grants aid at Climate Change mitigation and green recovery.
- Area funding has continued to support infrastructure improvements in parks, especially 

our public play facilities but the long-term funding/maintenance issues relating to play 
areas continues to be a concern.

- Leases - a number of lease renewals are being completed with support from 
colleagues in Legal and Estates.

- Concessions – income has been affected by the pandemic.
- Sport and Recreation - 

o Allocation of sports pitches for the coming 2021/22 season. 
o The extension of the playing season owing to the lockdown closure of sport has 

been well received by teams and has served its purpose, allowing teams to 
complete lost fixtures.

Green Sefton: Land Management

- Resource issues have continued to be an issue throughout the summer with 
approximately 500+ days lost due to COVID or COVID related isolation episodes. This 
combined with a period of increased visitor activity and prolonged periods of good 
summer weather have been a real challenge. Litter, bin emptying and daily cleansing 
have for some teams taken priority over other routine maintenance tasks. In many 
locations our grass cutting schedules have reduced to up to 4 weeks been visits which 
has led to an increase in complaints.

- Green Sefton: Enterprise (our steps into the commercial world – bringing additional 
staffing and resource) The team have continued receive works and have increased the 
number of small contracts. In addition the team are tendering for larger contracts (eg 
Merchant Taylors School and Sandway homes). The team plan to review commercial 
working in the Autumn with a view of establishing a better structure to support future 
growth opportunities.

- The extended beach car park open hours and increase in ticket pricing from 2020 have 
resulted in a bumper year for the beach car parks. Visitor management has been a 
challenge at times due to an increase in incidents of ASB, considered to be linked with 
the wider frustration with COVID restrictions and increased visitor number due to a 
reduction in foreign holidays.

Page 183

Agenda Item 9



4

- During the period the team have developed an application via Countryside 
Stewardship Higher Tier for 5 years funding to support essential habitat maintenance 
and improvement works, e.g. grazing and the control of invasive species.

- Cemetery operations have been challenging which unfortunately resulting in a short, 
but intense, period of complaints with the maintenance of Southport Crematorium due 
to resource limitations. Works have recovered the condition of the site and works are 
in progress to establish a dedicated maintenance resource going forwards.

- The team are supporting the project development of the Bootle Strand Canalside 
venue and are ready to take on the maintenance of the site once the building phase is 
completed. The project will include an exciting new urban landscape and the 
opportunity to develop community gardening, events and activities.

Page 184

Agenda Item 9



CABINET MEMBER UPDATE REPORT
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) 

Councillor Portfolio Period of Report

John Fairclough Cabinet Member
Locality Services September 2021

Strategic Transport

Port Access

 Work on the doubling of the rail line into the Port has been delayed several times but 
the works are now substantially complete. The new double track section at the Port 
entrance is due to be commissioned on the 5th September. Improvements to signals at 
Earlestown West are being incorporated into the works associated with transferring 
the control of signals from Warrington to Manchester, which is not due to happen until 
2029.

 The Port of Liverpool Access scheme being proposed by Highways England has been 
significantly delayed. Site investigations, environmental surveys and scheme design 
work is ongoing through the summer and autumn of 2021 and into 2022. The statutory 
public consultation in advance of the DCO application to the Planning Inspectorate is 
now probably not going to take place until the later part of 2022 or maybe even into 
2023.

LTP and Growth Plan

 Sefton is continuing to work with the LCR Combined Authority/Merseytravel and the 
other local authorities on the delivery of the transport capital programme. In response 
to the Council’s climate emergency declaration and an increased focus on active travel 
measures, work is continuing on the development of a Low Carbon and Active Travel 
Strategy for the Borough.

 The completion of the North Liverpool Key Corridor scheme on the A565 Derby Road 
continues to be delayed following the dispute between Liverpool City Council and one 
of its main contractors. Liverpool CC have been in the process of identifying a new 
contractor to complete the remaining works, but they have advised that thy have 
identified a problem with the tender returns and are now planning to award a contract 
in late September.

 Work is continuing on the sustainable transport intervention proposals for Years 3-6 
as part of the City Region programme. Sefton has three schemes in the programme, 
amounting to almost £3m of allocated funding. This consists of three phases of 
improvements on the A565, in Seaforth, Waterloo and Thornton, as well as a cycle 
route between Maghull and Kirkby and East-West cycle improvements in Southport. 
The Maghull to Kirkby cycle route has been completed. The Southport E/W Link 
scheme is largely complete, except for some remaining work on the Coastal Road that 
was postponed until the autumn to avoid disruption during the summer months. Work 
on the first phase of the scheme to deliver a cycle route on Great Georges Road has 
also been completed. Further discussions will be held with the residents about the 
arrangements for the western (Marine Terrace) end of the route.

Page 185

Agenda Item 9



 The CA is providing funding for the development of Full Business Cases for the 
Southport Eastern Access and the Maritime Corridor projects. Public consultation on 
the Maritime Corridor proposals was carried out earlier this year and elements of the 
scheme were included in the CA transport bid to the Levelling Up Fund. The scheme 
proposals and traffic modelling for the Southport Eastern Access scheme are being 
reviewed and a consultation is being planned for later this year.

 Improvements to the junction of the A59 Northway with Damfield Lane, the next stage 
in a series of improvements along the A59 Northway, have been completed. Design 
work has started on the junctions at Kenyon’s Lane and at Hall Lane, the next two 
junctions to be improved.

 In Southport, additional funding from the Government has been used to deliver the 
required re-construction of parts of Marine Drive. Improvements to Scarisbrick Avenue 
in conjunction with the Townscape Heritage Initiative have been delayed until after the 
summer to avoid impacting on the businesses. 

 Work is continuing on the proposals for a ‘Liveable Neighbourhood’ area in Southport, 
which are being developed in conjunction with the active travel charity Sustrans. 
Engagement with the local community on the proposals will continue as the scheme 
develops.

 The initial stages of the work required on the movement, access and public realm 
project within the Southport Town Deal (Les Transformation de Southport) are 
underway. Work is ongoing in relation to transport assessment and modelling, and 
developing strategies for parking, direction signing, wayfinding. Proposals to improve 
access and connectivity in the town centre and provide safer and more attractive public 
spaces are also being developed.

Local Transport Schemes

 The Transportation Capital Programme for 2021/22 has been finalised and is awaiting 
final sign off from Finance before being agreed with Cabinet Member. 

Sustainable Transport

 The European Sustainable Urban Development (SUD) funding for two major cycling 
schemes was approved in December 2018. The design of a new pedestrian and cycle 
route through Crosby Coastal Park has been completed and public consultation has 
been carried out. Planning approval will be required with works programmed to start 
by the end of 2021. Work on the Coastal Road cycle route is being delivered in 
conjunction with the Southport East West Cycle Links scheme and this will be 
completed later this year.

 Funding provided by Central Government through the Combined Authority from 
Tranche 1 of the Active Travel Fund was used to deliver new cycle routes in Bootle 
and Southport town centres. These routes have been reviewed and further work on 
the routes is being planned. Public consultation on the proposals for further routes in 
Southport to be funded through Tranche 2 of the Active Travel Fund has been carried 
out. Large numbers of responses were received and the report on the consultation is 
being prepared and will be reported to Cabinet Member once it is completed.

Highway Development and Design

Planning Applications

 In June to August 2021, the team processed 257 planning applications despite ongoing 
challenges associated with the impact of the pandemic. 

Page 186

Agenda Item 9



This includes applications for sites identified in the Council’s adopted Local Plan. This 
continues to involve close liaison with case officers from the planning department.

Section 38 Highways Act 1980 legal agreements

 Submissions for s38 agreements have continued requiring the subsequent processing 
of these at times, lengthy and complex applications, particularly following the approval 
of planning applications for Local Plan sites.

 The report is as follows: - 

 No of live s38 and current developments subject to a s38 application – 37 taking 
in to account new and adopted sites. 

 No of stalled or no activity (on the part of a developer) – 2 and developers continue 
to be followed up on these

 Number of development sites adopted within the last 3 months - 2
 No of submissions awaiting technical approval - 7
 Number of new and recent submissions awaiting administrative set up - 2

Section 278 Highways Act 1980 legal agreements

 The numbers of this type of application remains high, generally due to the approval of 
planning applications for Local Plan sites. The team are currently managing more than 
60 live s278 HA 1980 highway works schemes in various stages of development on 
behalf of the Council.  The successful delivery of these schemes is dependent on close 
liaison with the Legal, Finance and Planning Departments.

 In terms of Minor Works agreements, 2 were completed in the period June to August 
2021, there are 5current Minor Works schemes on going, with a further 7 awaiting 
payment from the developer before they can be delivered.

Public Rights of Way (PROW)

 England Coast Path/Coastal Access – The Secretary of State has issued his decisions 
on the three reports that related to the route within Sefton. The first decision was 
received in April for the section that covered the central section in Sefton and the 
decisions for the other two sections were received on the 31st August. All three 
decisions were to approve the route as proposed by Natural England. The work to 
deliver the route establishment has commenced, with grant funding bids due to be 
submitted in September. Decisions on the funding bids are expected by the end of 
December 2021 and the delivery of the establishment works must be completed by 
October 2022.

 Three Definitive Map Modification Orders were made in April 2021 relating to 
applications for paths within the Ravenmeols area of Formby. The Orders received 
objections and a report will need to be put to the Licensing and Regulatory Committee 
to review the objections. Orders that receive objections should be referred to the 
Secretary of State for his consideration.

Strategic Highways Development and Future Planning  

 The team is continuing to work closely with the Planning Department to provide a 
strategic approach to development to ensure that the necessary new transport 
infrastructure is in place to support new developments coming forward in future years.

Page 187

Agenda Item 9



 The team is continuing to request construction traffic management plans for new 
developments so that we can manage the highway network efficiently and effectively 
with minimum disruption to users of the highway and with the important benefit of 
highway safety. Once plans have been agreed, the team is working closely with 
colleagues in network management and planning to ensure that the plans are being 
adhered to.

Highway Design 

 The team has continued to provide the design and delivery of strategic transport 
investment schemes, including major highway schemes, STEP programme schemes 
and provide assistance in the planning and development of future strategic schemes 
led by the STPI team. 

 In addition, the team continues to support the Development Control function 
undertaking Transport Assessments and Technical Approvals for the Highways Act 
S38 and S278 submissions and the design and delivery of some Highways Act S278 
and minor works schemes.

 The team also has responsibility for the revenue and capital bridge maintenance 
programme and has managed the maintenance scheme on Hightown station 
footbridge as well as a number of minor bridge maintenance schemes.

Highways Maintenance

This capitally funded scheme to upgrade street lighting to LED is progressing. This will be a 
four-year project that will result in a reduction of carbon emissions of 16% (based on the 
2019/20) baseline. We have yet to put the project team in place for the delivery of this project.

We have been working closely with our contractor to develop a more efficient process for the 
cleaning and maintenance of highway gullies. This initiative will put the service in a better 
place to be able to deal with any highway flood issues in the coming winter.

Delivery of this years’ highway maintenance planned programme is progressing However, 
there is a backlog of works of £30m and this is increasing year on year. We are undertaking 
some surveys this year to update our understanding of the backlog and our priorities and in 
particular updating our information regarding footways for which there has been an increasing 
need for reactive maintenance.

We will be moving to an updated approach to our highway safety inspections in the very near 
future with final issues being ironed out which will focus on being risk based, this allows us to 
focus resources on those areas of highest risk and priority and reduce the frequency of 
inspections from four to three a year on lower risk areas such as residential roads. The volume 
of works being generated from these safety inspections has been increasing year on year and 
as the backlog on planned maintenance increases we can expect this trend to continue based 
on current funding levels.

Our Highway Maintenance contractor (Viam, formerly Kings) has appointed an administrator. 
The contract with them was for the provision of reactive maintenance and they have ceased 
to provide this service. Work is ongoing to address this issue formally and appoint a contractor 
to undertake the works for the remainder of the contract period 

Additional resources have been targeted at weed removal with the Contractor supporting 
Cleansing colleagues to provide a more dedicated and integrated service. Officers are working 
with a Member Reference Group on this service provision.

Page 188

Agenda Item 9



The Department for Transport has published a consultation on possible revision to Mayoral 
highway powers on the Key Route Network (KRN). Officers are working with Cabinet members 
and the CA on the appropriate response. The deadline is 24th September 2021.

Cleansing Services

Weeds

Street Cleansing are continuing to make good progress across the borough with the weed 
removal programme. Agency staff continue to undertake weeding duties within the Ford Ward.  

Ford Ward should be completed within the next 1-2 weeks, we then plan to move into Church 
Ward.

Kickstart Staff have been assisting with current “hit squad” locations across Sefton Estate 
which has a high build-up of weeds. 

A further 3 x Kickstart Staff are due to start employment next week, this will increase the 
Kickstart team to 10 staff.

Kickstart staff currently stand at 7, hopefully progress will continue to ensure we have optimum 
levels. Until such time Agency staff will continue to be utilised.

A letter from the LCR has gone to Rt Hon Thérèse Coffey MP Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions highlighting the administration issues faced when recruiting staff in the hope that 
improvements will be made to the current position to enable the fast tracking of vacancies to 
be uploaded enabling the 6 weeks process to be reduced to 5 days. There is also a request 
to extend the age criteria from 16-24 year olds to include those in education or care leavers 
aged 24-29 year olds.   

New Refuse Fleet 

Cleansing have now taken receipt of all 26t vehicles for its renewal. We have provided training 
for all drivers on the new vehicles usage and system updates. There is currently a delay in 
delivery of the 9 x 32t vehicles in Germany, we hope to receive these early November. New 
telematics for all vehicles are currently being tested and trailed for use in the very near future. 
There is a shortage of HGV drivers across the country and this is impacting on deliveries 
across the board. 

Christmas Working arrangements

Work is under way for coordinating this year’s collection scheduling. Discussions are ongoing 
with colleagues and Unions to implement a temporary working pattern to ensure collections 
are made throughout the shutdown and holiday period. All parties agree the need for change 
to current ‘voluntary’ working arrangements for BH’s and discussions should be centred 
around implementation of a robust and acceptable remodelling to these arrangements going 
forward.

Transport and Vehicle Maintenance

The implementation of the new Fleet Management system is still under way and whilst there 
will be bedding in issues the system is proving to be a vital asset in managing the fleet and 
servicing of all vehicles. Future processes will include direct links to Finance and Procurement. 
This will contribute significant improvements to both management of and compliance within 
the full Council fleet. Following the introduction of the new fleet mechanics are working on 
servicing the old fleet to establish options regarding auction/destruction. All of the new vehicles 
have been calibrated and checked.

Page 189

Agenda Item 9



School Crossing Service

Following the start of the school term the service is fully operational starting Thursday 2nd 
September. All SCP staff that meet the criteria have received their annual health check at 
Occupational Health and all but 2 staff (currently LTS) have passed the medical. The recent 
Covid pandemic has had a detrimental effect on this service and staff numbers have reduced. 
The service is currently working with schools and our internal Comms department to fill current 
vacancies within the service.

Green Sefton 

(Flooding/ highways/ grounds maintenance (including cemeteries and crematoria) elements 
only)

Overall: Green Sefton

- Visitor Action Plan: actions being taken to address excess visitors already being seen 
on the coast in 2021, and taking forward the successful pilots from 2020. See here: 
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/4375/coast-visitor-action-plan-2021.pdf 

- Coast Plan sub strategies development, including Position Statement production, see 
here: Sefton Coast Plan Visioning Position Statement 2021

- Coastal Gateways mapping sessions have taken place for Crosby, Formby and 
Ainsdale. Southport is planned for September

- Climate Emergency Action Plan; overall involvement, and particular actions re: 
offsetting and other aspects specific to Green Sefton

- Our ‘place based’ strategy development

- Re-looking at time management; to make sure we focus on the right things at the right 
time

- Internal Working groups continue to develop – (including income and growth, 
information and intelligence, systems of working, health and safety etc)

More detail on all of the above, and our prioritised work programme, can be found on Annual 
Review newsletter, which includes a link to a narrated version of the presentation, see here: 
Green Sefton. Further, officers are more than happy to discuss any of the issues further as 
requested, including early thoughts for the 2021 Annual Review which will be presented to 
Members in the Autumn

In summary, key ongoing issues headlines are as follows:

Green Sefton; Development:

- No recent significant flooding, there were some localised impacts due to heavy 
downpours during the summer.

- The North West Coastal Group Innovation (flood resilience) bid looking at coastal 
ecological buffers, including Formby dunes, has submitted a bid for scheme 
development work over the next 12months. The project is led by Wyre Council.

- Development of the Local Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategy due 
for public consultation in September

- Reviewing and updating the FCERM web pages on sefton.gov.uk

Page 190

Agenda Item 9

https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/4375/coast-visitor-action-plan-2021.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/media/4657/sefton-coast-position-statement-2021-final-accessible.pdf
https://www.sefton.gov.uk/greensefton


- Developing options to take forward to alleviate flood risk in Maghull and Lydiate 
working with partners following the storm Christoph near miss, this includes an officer 
operational working group and Strategic Flood Working Group, chaired by 
Cllr Fairclough. 

- Commissioned a consultant to undertake detailed design for the Pool Project

- Approval for Sefton to match fund UU’s £300k contribution to undertake maintenance 
and enabling work at Hall Road Crosby as an interim fix until funding is secured for the 
full sea wall/ coastal defence scheme. 

- Writing several section 19 reports following flooding during Storm Christoph and the 
previous year

- Working more closely with Highways on highways drainage maintenance and highway 
flood mitigation measures

- Binfastructure – funding secured to rationalise and update 48 bins across sites and 
adjacent highways – due for installation in September 2021.

- Surface Water Management Plan – some delays in the programme due to resource 
availability, currently reviewing the timeline for delivery.

- The North West Strategic Regional Coastal Monitoring Programme has been allocated 
funding from the Environment Agency for 2021-2027

- Supporting Sefton’s Strategic Flood Resilience Working group

Green Sefton: Community and Resources

- Development of a new Tree Management strategy is still in progress

- Currently finalising the tree planting programme for this winter season, including links 
to Northern Forest, Trees for Climate and Queens Green Canopy Projects, bringing in 
external funding.

- Volunteers and group development strategy in progress, groups and volunteers 
returning to sites as restrictions ease.

- Natural Alternatives expansion - halted during the pandemic, however numbers or 
participants starting to get back towards pre-pandemic levels. New hub opened at 
Botanic Gardens, including growing fruit and veg, and consideration of hubs in the 
south of the borough ongoing.

- ‘User-survey’ including customer satisfaction, for parks and greenspaces and coast 
launched, running till October 2021

- Northwest in Bloom and It’s Your Neighbourhood Judging 2021 completed, results 
awaited.

- Friends Forum June 2021 remote meeting with support from SCVS identified concerns 
(especially standards of site maintenance) but was broadly positive. Further meetings 
planned.

- National Campaign activities completed: KBT Dog-fouling, Spring Cleans, World 
Ocean’s Day, World Environment Day, Love Parks Week. Further campaigns in the 
pipeline.

- PSPO for dog fouling in place and permanent signage due to be installed.

- Partnership Work with Merseyside Police, MFRS Outreach Team, Adult Social Care 
continues.

Page 191

Agenda Item 9



Green Sefton: Land Management

- Resource issues have continued to be an issue throughout the summer with 
approximately 500+ days lost due to COVID or COVID related isolation episodes. 

This combined with a period of increased visitor activity and prolonged periods of good 
summer weather have been a real challenge. Litter, bin emptying and daily cleansing 
have for some teams taken priority over other routine maintenance tasks. In many 
locations our grass cutting schedules have reduced to up to 4 weeks been visits which 
has led to an increase in complaints.

- Green Sefton: Enterprise (our steps into the commercial world – bringing additional 
staffing and resource) The team have continued receive works and have increased the 
number of small contracts. In addition, the team are tendering for larger contracts (e.g. 
Merchant Taylors School and Sandway Homes). The team plan to review commercial 
working in the Autumn with a view of establishing a better structure to support future 
growth opportunities.

- Cemetery operations have been challenging which unfortunately resulting in a short, 
but intense, period of complaints with the maintenance of Southport Crematorium due 
to resource limitations. Works have recovered the condition of the site and works are 
in progress to establish a dedicated maintenance resource going forwards.

Page 192

Agenda Item 9



1

CABINET MEMBER UPDATE REPORT
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills)

21 September 2021

COUNCILLOR PORTFOLIO DATE

Daren Veidman Cabinet Member
Planning

21 September 2021

Introduction

1.1 The Planning Service is set up to operate the Council’s regulatory functions in 
relation to the development and use of land. 

1.2 It comprises the following functions:

 Development Management
 Building Control
 Local Plans 
 Heritage and Conservation

These are supported by the Technical Support team.

1.3 Since lockdown in March 2020, staff have adapted to running the Service from 
home.  The Service responded to lockdown with a series of initiatives to 
stimulate economic activity. These included free meetings with developers and 
investors, and free pre-applications. Despite the severity of the challenges, the 
Service has continued to be provided with minimal disruption and has played its 
part in assisting economic recovery.   

1.5 Our message has been very clear: “Sefton is open for business”. In May 
and September 2020, newsletters were sent to agents who submit applications 
for planning permission and building regulations approval to keep them up to 
date with the changes. In October we offered a seminar to agents explaining  
changes to planning legislation.

1.6 The Chief Planning Officer was invited to lead national webinars that looked at 
Planning service delivery during COVID-19 and showcased the work at Sefton 
Council as excellent practice. This resulted in very positive publicity for the 
Council in the national planning press.   

1.7 The graphs in section 2 below show that though there was a dip in applications 
during both lockdowns (Quarter 1  April – June and Quarter 2 October - 
December), activity has picked up since then and significantly exceeded levels 
from the equivalent periods from the previous year. 

1.8 Planning Services began to publish all comments received on planning 
applications online from 1st February 2021. This coincided with some 
contentious applications being submitted and has had some effect on 
maintaining high levels of performance.

Page 193

Agenda Item 9



2

2. Development Management

Jan
-20

Fe
b-20

Mar-
20

Apr-2
0

May
-20

Jun-20
Jul-2

0

Aug-2
0

Se
p-20

Oct-
20

Nov-2
0

Dec-2
0

Jan
-21

Fe
b-21

Mar-
21

Apr-2
1

May
-21

Jun-21
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

Apps Pre Apps Trees

Number of Valid Applications Received

2.1 The above chart confirms that there was a dip in application numbers during the 
first lockdown (April – May 2020), followed by a significant increase in Quarter 
2 (July – September), then a further decline during second lockdown (October 
– December 2020). There was a further dip towards the end of 2020, followed 
by very strong growth and sustained high levels of applications since the start 
of 2021. 

The major rise in pre-applications during Quarter 2 (April- June 2020) is a direct 
result of the fact this service was offered free for much of this quarter to stimulate 
new economic activity and charges for most pre-applications were reinstated in 
October 2020 and numbers have dropped back to previous levels.  

2.2 The chart below shows the performance of the Service over the last 6 quarters.  
The rate of determining applications has slowed down to some extent in Quarter 
2 of 2020-21, but has begun to pick up again in Quarter 3 and has held steady 
since then. 

2.3 This is a major achievement but has depended on the ability to agree 
‘Extensions of Time’ with the applicant. 

This gives us more time to determine applications and still meet Government 
targets. We are building a case for more resources to help us be able to 
determine applications more quickly.  

Page 194

Agenda Item 9



3

Key performance against national targets for speed and quality of decision making:
Jan – March 2020 through to April – June 2021  

Major 
Applications 

within 13 Weeks

Minor 
Applications 

within 8 Weeks

Other 
Applications 

within 8 weeks

Tree 
Applications 

within 8 weeks

Appeals 
Dismissed

Pre-Apps 
responded to in 

time

Enforcements 
resolved (no 

formal action)

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Target Jan-Mar Q4 19/20 Apr-Jun  Q1 20/21 Jul-Sep  Q2 20/21

Oct-Dec  Q3 20/21 Jan-Mar Q4 20/21 Apr-Jun Q1 21/22

Performance Levels

Jan-
Mar Apr-Jun Jul-Sep Oct-

Dec 
Jan-
Mar Apr-Jun

Target
Q4 

19/20
Q1 

20/21
Q2 

20/21
Q3 

20/21
Q4 

20/21
Q1 

21/22
Major Applications 
within 13 Weeks 63% 100% 100% 71% 77% 77% 100%

Minor Applications 
within 8 Weeks 68% 84% 94% 78% 87% 84% 84%

Other Applications 
within 8 weeks 83% 94% 98% 91% 89% 89% 89%

Tree Applications 
within 8 weeks 83% 92% 88% 84% 90% 95% 75%

Appeals Dismissed 72% 82% 57% 90% 91% 67% 75%

Pre-Apps responded 
to in time 80% 92% 95% 92% 95% 94% 97%

Enforcements 
resolved (no formal 
action)

75% 95% 84% 98% 96% 99% 97%

Page 195

Agenda Item 9



4

2.4     The pressure on this part of the Service continues with planning applications 
having been received for 29 of the 47 housing sites allocated in the Local Plan 
(approximately 5,000 homes). This equates to 72% of the homes allocated in 
the Local Plan.

2.5 The capacity of the Service is stretched by the increased pressure relating to 
dealing with many complex and contentious applications. Whilst working from 
home has not presented any major issues it does however have some 
implications for performance.  It is a significant team effort across the Service to 
assess and determine applications expediently and in line with Government 
targets. 

Planning Committee

2.6 Planning Committee deal with major applications and those which are subject 
to a petition or have been ‘called in’. From June 2021 we have had 13 ‘virtual’ 
Planning Committees using ‘Teams Live Events’ software. 

2.7 We have started back with in person Committees maintaining social distance. 
However, some committees will be livestreamed when contentious applications 
are being considered. 

Enforcement    

2.8 At the start of lockdown there was a significant dip in the number of enforcement 
complaints.  However within a few weeks this began to rise again and the 
number of complaints significantly exceeded those in the same period the 
previous year.  There was another peak in complaints in late 2020 when there 
was a further lockdown.  These might be explained by more people working 
from home and deciding to carry out development to their home, and more 
people noticing what is happening as they are also based at home.  Complaints 
in 2021 saw a gradual rise and then falling off somewhat in early summer. 

Jan
-20

Fe
b-20

Mar-
20

Apr-2
0

May
-20

Jun-20
Jul-2

0

Aug-2
0

Se
p-20

Oct-
20

Nov-2
0

Dec-2
0

Jan
-21

Fe
b-21

Mar-
21

Apr-2
1

May
-21

Jun-21
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Complaints Received

Page 196

Agenda Item 9



5

3. Building Control
Performance targets

3.1 The number of building regulation applications received over the past 18 months 
is shown in the chart in the next section.  This section focuses on the Building 
Control Team’s performance over that last quarter (Quarter 1 – April - June 
2021), as shown in the tables below:

T1 T2 T3 T4 T5 T6 T7
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Target Actual

Building Control Performance
April - June 2021

Ref Detail Target Actual Remarks

T1 Market share 75% 74% Target not being met – increased 
workload/ reduction in marketing

T2 Full Plans app decision / schedule within 3 weeks 62% 54% Target not being met – increased 
workload

T3 Full Plans app decision / schedule within 5 weeks 72% 75% Target being exceeded 

T4 Full Plans app conditionally or fully approved 95% 100% Target being exceeded

T5 Site insp’s carried out on day they were arranged for 95% 99% Target being exceeded

T6 Customer satisfaction rating (from March 2019) 80% 98% Target being exceeded - from 2019 ISO 
customer questionnaire

T7 Sickness absence – attendance levels 96% 99% Target being exceeded

3.2   The Building Control Team continues to meet its key statutory targets in relation 
to plan-checking and the carrying out of site inspections. It is also meeting the 
majority of the locally set performance targets. 

Page 197

Agenda Item 9



6

Results for 2020/21 show that the Team’s market share was 75% - which is equal 
to or better than that of neighbouring authorities and is significantly above the 
average for English Councils, which stands at 67%. However, results from the 
first quarter of 2021/22 show that the Teams market share has reduced slightly. 

The Team’s performance in respect of timely decision making on deposited 
applications shows that all statutory targets are being met. However, due to an 
increased number of Building Regulation applications being received and staffing 
shortages, the performance against some of the locally set targets has shown a 
slight reduction in quarter 1 of 2021/22.

Income and financial performance

3.3    Building Regulation income for 2020/21 delivered an operating surplus - which 
will be used to off-set the cost of providing the statutory elements of the service, 
such as dealing with dangerous structures and safety at sports grounds. Income 
levels for 2021/22 are currently on course to deliver an operating surplus.

Safety at sports grounds

3.4 As part of conditions of the Safety Certificates held by Southport FC, Marine FC 
and Aintree Racecourse, the Building Control Team undertakes annual 
inspections in order to check the grandstands are properly maintained. The 
inspection of the five grandstands at Aintree Racecourse were undertaken in 
January 2021 and inspections at Southport FC and Marine FC are due be 
undertaken towards the end of the current year. In addition, Building Control 
Officers undertook inspections of the temporary grandstands / hospitality 
structures being erected in the lead-up to the April 2021 Grand National meeting 
at Aintree Racecourse.

Staffing

3.5 In June 2021, one of Building Control’s Team Leaders resigned and a case is 
being made to carry out a mini-restructure including planned recruitment.  Three 
staff members are currently engaged in formal training / educational courses.  

4. Technical Support 

4.1 The chart below shows performance over the last quarter (April – June 2021) in 
a longer-term context dating from pre-Covid (Quarter 4:  Jan – March 2020). 

Page 198

Agenda Item 9



7

Building Regulations 
Applications

Planning Applications Land Charge Searches Pre Apps
0.0

10.0
20.0
30.0
40.0
50.0
60.0
70.0
80.0
90.0

100.0

Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20

Nov-20 Dec-20 Jan-21 Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 Target

Performance Levels

Jan-20Feb-20Mar-20Apr-20May-20Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20Sep-20Oct-20Nov-20Dec-20Jan-21Feb-21Mar-21Apr-21May-21Jun-21
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

Building Regulations Applications Planning Applications Land Charge Searches Pre Apps

Applications Received

4.2 As can be seen from these graphs, the number of applications and service 
requests across the Service has continued to at a high level. Quarter 1 has seen 
a reduction in performance within the Technical Support Team particularly in 
respect of the validation of planning applications.  The team have struggled in 
Q1 due to the long-term sickness absences of key staff in the validation team, 
an increase in the number of applications received and training of 2 new team 
members.  

4.3 The process of validation is complex and the absence of key staff has led to 
severe delays.  New staff have been recruited to the team but will take time to 
train to the required standard to validate applications.  Other team members 
have been seconded from their usual duties to help get back on target.

4.4 The land charges function is an essential part in the conveyancing process and 
recovery of the economy. 

Page 199

Agenda Item 9



8

Our Land Charges Service is performing a little below our usual performance 
due to the increase in demand number of requests for local land charge 
searches.  The market remains buoyant and search requests are still at a high 
level.

4.5 Unprecedented increases in workload and a reduction in available resources 
have significantly impacted on the timescale available to our Building Control 
and Development Management Teams to meet their targets.

4.6 Service Development

Our teams are reviewing how working at home has impacted the service and 
are reviewing procedures to ensure that optimal levels of service delivery are 
maintained.  Each of the teams is struggling to meet demand at present and a 
case for additional resources is being considered.

Work is continuing to identify data issues and resolve anomalies between data 
sources to enable the smooth transfer of the Local Land Charges Register to 
HM Land Registry.

5. Local Planning

The Sefton Local Plan 

5.1 Planning applications continue to be submitted on allocated sites. Of the 47 
housing sites allocated in the Local Plan (policy MN2) planning applications 
have been received for 29, equating to approximately 5,200 homes (as at 31 
March 2021). This equates to 72% of the homes allocated in the Local Plan. 
There have also been several pre-applications enquiries on a number of other 
housing and employment allocations, and we expect applications on a number 
of these to be submitted over the next 6-12 months.

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) and other policy documents

5.2 The Planning Policy Team are currently working on a number of Supplementary 
Planning Documents to support the Local Plan. These include:

 Affordable Housing
 Conversions to Flats and HMOs
 New Housing 
 House Extensions
 Design
 Sustainable Travel
 Shopfronts, Security and Signage
 Boundary Treatments

Page 200

Agenda Item 9



9

5.3 Whilst these have been delayed a little due to staff being temporary used for 
other projects, tt is anticipated these will be made available for public 
consultation in the Autumn.

Liverpool City Region work

5.4 The Combined Authority undertook early engagement with the public on the 
Spatial Development Strategy (SDS) for the Liverpool City Region concluding 
January 2020 to which the Council submitted comments. The next stage of 
consultation on the SDS was published in October 2020 and the Local Plans 
Team co-ordinated comments which were submitted in February 2021.

    
5.5 The Statement of Common Ground on strategic, cross-boundary planning 

matters which was jointly prepared by the Combined Authority and the City 
Region authorities (including West Lancashire) has been approved and guides 
co-operation between Local Planning Authorities. This has recently been 
reviewed by the Planning Policy teams of each city region authority.

Bootle Area Action Plan

5.6 To help support the regeneration and transformation of the wider Bootle area it 
has been decided to produce a Bootle Area Action Plan (AAP). This will set out 
a vision, objectives, projects, policies and priorities for the area. This will be led 
by the Planning Policy Team. In order to assist with this work, the Council has 
been successful in securing funding from a range of sources for various aspects 
of the Bootle AAP. These are:
 £138,000 from the Combined Authority to secure consultants to help with 

the AAP document preparation, background evidence and community 
engagement

 £50,000 from the MHCLG for the Council to test the Draft Model Design 
Toolkit in Bootle as a pilot scheme. Sefton was one of 14 LPAs that were 
successful (out of over 70 applicants)

 £14,000 from the Local Government Association to procure guidance on 
a range of project delivery methods.

5.7 The Design Pilot work is close to completion and is focussing on canal side sites 
in Bootle. Public engagement was undertaken on this over the summer and the 
Council is due to submit its findings to the government by the end of September. 

Other work

5.8 The Planning Policy team continues to provide policy advice on all relevant 
planning applications and pre-application inquiries, including large housing 
developments on the Local Plan allocations. 

5.9 Following recent applications and appeal hearings for traveller accommodation 
sites, it has been decided that the Council’s evidence base for gypsy and 
traveller accommodation needs to be updated. 

Page 201

Agenda Item 9



10

The Planning Policy team have commissioned consultants (ORS) to undertake 
this work over the next few months and will manage the process until its 
conclusion in Autumn 2021.

5.10 The Council is also undertaking a replacement Playing Pitch Strategy so that 
we have the evidence to deal with applications on existing playing pitches or 
can help secure contributions for improvements to existing pitches from large 
development proposals. The new strategy will also help support the Council’s 
applications for funding for improvements to its playing pitches. This will be a 
complicated and multidisciplinary piece of work and will be managed and led by 
the Local Planning team. KKP consultants have been appointed to undertake 
this work.

6.      Heritage and Conservation

Heritage at Risk

 6.1 We are continuing to work towards the removal of the 6 Conservation Areas 
from the National Heritage at Risk Register. 

This includes a number of different work areas including raising their profile 
through Twitter and Facebook, regeneration funding bids, working with the local 
community, Conservation Area Appraisals and Management Plans, taking 
enforcement and other legal action in relation to a number of derelict sites and 
listed buildings in these areas, including the major Lord Street Verandah project. 
            

 6.2 Recent success includes the restoration and renovation of the Listed former 
Sunnymede School in Birkdale and the continued restoration of verandahs on 
Lord Street, Southport, along with the improvements undertaken at previous 
derelict and vacant sites.

6.3 Progress has been made on a number of Heritage at Risk sites including 
working with colleagues and partners on a number of Council owned Listed 
Buildings to secure their improvement such as urgent works undertaken at  
Victoria Baths and also at Hesketh Park Conservatory with funding from Historic 
England. 

Regeneration 

6.4 The externally funded Southport Townscape Heritage project has continued to 
work with interested property owners to look at progressing capital building 
grants including a number of site meetings with potential grantees. Works have 
started at 509-515 Lord Street. A second very significant scheme is soon to go 
out to Tender. The team is in discussion with other property owners and 
significant interest noted as we head out of pandemic/lockdown.  

6.5 The Heritage Learning and Skills Co-ordinator has made significant progress in 
developing complementary training and education initiatives. 

Page 202

Agenda Item 9



11

Southport’s Victorians is a ninety-minute interactive play aimed at school 
children aged 9-14yrs. Excerpts of the script have been filmed for Youtube and 
we are looking to find ways of introducing it into the curriculum, working with 
Southport based Primary Schools. Owners of town centre properties are being 
encouraged to open up more historic town centre property for Heritage Open 
Days 10-19th Sept. We are devising town trails and a special heritage treasure 
trail one off event for children. Volunteers are being recruited for a variety of 
events programmed over the next three years. We are working closely with The 
Atkinson, CVS, Southport Civic Society and other local organisations.   

6.6 Discussions have taken place on a number of Heritage at Risk sites which are 
considered to be key strategic sites to find new uses or upgrade them to modern 
facilities so that they continue to be or find their optimum viable use and save 
them from further deterioration.

6.7 Design work has begun on the public realm improvements of Scarisbrick 
Avenue with an initial scheme budget of £920k being identified from the 
Highways Challenge Fund. 

This public realm project is integral to the Southport Townscape Heritage project 
and is within the main cluster of target properties in order to compliment the 
buildings themselves. The public realm will focus on high quality paving, new 
street lighting and wayfinding. 

Advice to Development Management team

6.8 The pressure on this part of the Service has increased significantly over the past 
year. There was a rise in consultation requests in Quarter 3 with 192  responses 
sent on planning applications and pre-applications relating to a number of Listed 
Buildings and developments within a number of our Conservation Areas and 
non-designated heritage assets. The figure dropped to 165 in Quarter 4, 
January to March 2021, and rose again to 236 in Quarter 1, April – June 2021. 

6.9 This is a significant rise in workload in this area.  Back in Quarter 3 of last  year 
this number was up on the figures for the previous two quarters, mainly in 
response to the rise in pre-applications as a result of the fee being waived. 
However this number has been exceeded in Quarter 1 this year despite the fee 
no longer being waived. In addition, this part of the Service continues to assist 
in various appeals, on site monitoring and enforcement cases.

7. Conclusion

7.1 The past year has been unprecedented for the Council.  The Service has strived 
to maintain high levels of performance, but sustained increases in the numbers 
of applications and staffing issues is now impacting on performance and a 
number of key targets are unlikely to be met this year.  

Page 203

Agenda Item 9



12

7.2 Appropriate technology has been put in place to support staff and services, and 
staff have performed to the best of their ability. Staff surveys show the service 
has been able to respond to key issues in order to maintain essential services 
whilst maintaining staff morale.  

7.3 The service has risen to the challenge posed by Covid with an innovative 
package of measures to promote and encourage economic activity by 
incentivising development, and the Council has been recognised nationally for 
this exceptional approach.  We are seeing the results of this now with numbers 
of applications for planning permission and building approval restored to, and 
exceeding, pre-Covid levels which is maintaining inward investment into the 
Borough.  

7.4 A new measure aimed at making the planning process more transparent and 
participants more accountable in the form of publishing comments online has 
taken a short while to embed, and this has impacted on resources.  

7.5 Major legislative change is heralded in the Planning White Paper and we will 
outline the implications of this for the Planning Service in subsequent updates.  
In the meantime, the Service continues to respond to the very unsettled context 
in which we are currently operating and is prepared to adapt to further changes 
on the horizon.

Page 204

Agenda Item 9



1

CABINET MEMBER UPDATE REPORT
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Regeneration and Skills) -  21 September 2021

Councillor Portfolio Period of Report

Marion Atkinson Cabinet Member
Regeneration and Skills September 2021

GROWTH & INVESTMENT PROGRAMME UPDATES

Summary
Following the LUF bid submissions in June 2021, scoping the next stages of work to needed 
to progress the LUF bids if approved progresses. This includes further project development 
work as well as the approach to the next stages of consultation and engagement if the bid is 
successful. 

Within the wider GSI Programme a number of projects are now on site or complete.  
Southport Market refurbishment is complete and has had very positive responses from the 
public and helped to generate footfall, create a vibrant new offer and bring in new 
businesses into Southport. Crosby Lakeside refurbishment continues on site with Crossfield 
Construction and a new Managing Director has been appointed to manage the facility and 
advise on the details internal design and fit out arrangements.

Details below outline work underway in Bootle, Crosby and Southport and also Sefton’s key 
coastal gateways at Crosby Lakeside and Ainsdale.  

1. Levelling Up Fund (LUF)

Sefton Cabinet have submitted two bids for LUF for Bootle and Crosby town centres in the 
first round for LUF. This is a competitive bidding process which required MP support and 
could help support both the Bootle town centre transformation and regeneration programme 
and Crosby Town centre regeneration and recovery work. Bids of £14.5 m for Bootle and 
£18.6m for Crosby have been submitted and a decision is expected later this year.

Focus on support for high priority projects that will make a visible impact in local areas and 
also align to and support net zero carbon goals are the main priority and Government are 
looking to prioritise bids that can demonstrate investment or begin delivery on the ground in 
2021/2022. 

The first round of the fund focuses on three themes: 
 smaller transport projects, 
 town centre and high street regeneration 
 support for maintaining and expanding cultural and heritage assets. 

Future rounds of LUF funding are to emerge next year. 

The assessment process will focus on the following key criteria: 
• Characteristics of the place 
• Deliverability 
• Strategic fit with local and Levelling -up fund priorities
• Value for money

MP priority support for both LUF bids was secured and also support from key stakeholders 
in both town centres.

Page 205

Agenda Item 9



2

 
Press Release:  Sefton Council asked to approve funding bids for Crosby and Bootle 
regeneration - My Sefton News Channel

2. Welcome Back Fund (MHCLG)

This is an extension to the current Re-opening High Street Safely (RHSS) funding allocated 
to Sefton last year for safe re-opening following the first Covid lockdown in March 2020.This 
brings a further allocation of £344K to Sefton Council to spend on its town centre re-opening. 
This ERDF fund is very constrained in terms of eligible activity and can only be used on 
specific types of activity. Officers are exploring eligible activity under the constraints of the 
fund that fit with the economic recovery plan for the borough.  

Welcome Back Fund will continue to support the for 4 main types of existing RHSS activities 
including:   

1. Support to develop an action plan for safe reopening of local economies; 
2. Communications and public information relating to public safety messaging; 
3. Business-facing awareness raising activities; and 
4. Temporary public realm changes to ensure that reopening of local economies can be 

managed successfully and safely.   

In addition, the Welcome Back Fund will also:   
5. Support and promote a safe public environment for a local area’s visitor economy; 

and   
6. Allow local areas to develop plans for responding to the medium-term impact of CV-

19 including trialing new ideas particularly where these relate to the High Street. 

Eligible activity under these two new strands could include:
 Publicity campaigns and marketing activity for street markets to support local 

businesses; 
 Improving green space and seating areas to encourage people back to town centres; 

and
 “Beautification” of areas to support the visitor economy.

An outline action plan has been submitted to draw down the remaining funds and officers 
are reviewing possible interventions subject to government guidance for town centre 
reopening and support for economic recovery work for consideration by the Cabinet Member 
for Regeneration and Skills. 

Sefton Council have appointed Maybe Tech a social media platform and training pilot to 
support and encourage more business use of social media given low levels of use to date for 
engaging with their customer base. More details can be found here  
https://www.maybetech.com   

Project Specific Updates

1. BOOTLE TOWN CENTRE

Bootle Strand –The Council is driving forward plans for a repurposed Strand Shopping 
Centre and following completion of key acquisition and site assembly work on land adjacent 
to the Bootle canal.  

Strand Transformation – work is underway to explore options for repurposing the Strand. 
This will look at the future development and operational options for this key town centre 
asset and help inform member consideration of the investment approach to take.
 
Bootle Canalside  - Work is progressing to complete delivery of a semi-permanent Bootle 
Canalside event and activity space. Planning Permission was granted in July 2021 and an 
August Bank Holiday event arranged as a soft launch.  Bootle Canalside pop up provided a 

Page 206

Agenda Item 9

https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/05/19/sefton-council-asked-to-approve-funding-bids-for-crosby-and-bootle-regeneration/
https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/05/19/sefton-council-asked-to-approve-funding-bids-for-crosby-and-bootle-regeneration/
https://www.maybetech.com/seven-ways-to-re-engage-your-audience-on-social-media/?utm_campaign=31-3-2021&utm_medium=email&_hsmi=118866618&_hsenc=p2ANqtz-_2XB-Y6LKNfsBN9C-UC1F-yfU8gFDIUl5nREFRGM6m3aSjffgWhHC1a7_OTK53u1Ky4GLV-C1kpmzRWj2N0ZNckT7vSKZ6GLhW6mQ28DygxujYoDY&utm_content=high-street-reopening&utm_source=hubspot


3

taster launch of the area concept and allowed for initial feedback from the public to what 
should happen on this key site. This was targeted over the five days at the Bank holiday 
weekend and involved a number of activities and music events free to the public along with a 
food and drink offer for the public to enjoy. The event went very well and was positively 
received as a start on the journey of this area’s transformation.
 
Detailed design work will now commence on implementation of permanent facilities for the 
site including site services and utilities, landscaping, access improvements and a new 
staircase leading from Stanley Road into the site. This will help open up the canal frontage 
and capitalise on the waterside location and canal corridor, including cycling and walking 
links into Liverpool and to Bramley Moor Dock. 

Press Releases for Planning Application & Bank Holiday Canalside event:
Transformation and regeneration get the green light in Bootle - My Sefton News Channel

Bootle Canalside Bank Holiday Pop Up: Everything You Need to Know - My Sefton News 
Channel
  
Bootle LUF Bid – A £14.5million bid was submitted and  - if approved by Government – will 
see construction and launch of a new, hi-tech digital and virtual reality (VR) venue hosting a 
unique visitor attraction and providing places for technology enhanced ‘competitive 
socialising.’ Bootle’s “Flying Theatre” will use a robotic hydraulic platform to create the 
feeling of flying through the British Isles and a VR Time-Travel Tunnel will take visitors on a 
journey through the ‘History of Bootle and Liverpool’, including an experience of the Blitz. 

2 SOUTHPORT

Southport Town Deal

Following the Southport Town Deal allocation of £37.5m work has progressed on agreeing 
Heads of Terms for drawing down the fund including a high level route to business case 
approval and monitoring and evaluation plan for the Town Deal programme.  

Project list includes:
 Marine Lake events centre
 Light Fantastic
 Enterprise Arcade
 Public Realm enhancement
 Building Better Experience  

 Heads of Terms and project confirmation returned to MHCLG and agreed. 
 Monitoring and Evaluation Plan for the Town Deal programme developed and agreed.  
 Business case development now underway for approved schemes.

Southport Market

Comprehensive refurbishment and refit of traditional market hall into a new food and drink 
offer with a flexible events space capable of holding events and temporary markets.

Southport Town centre investment strategy identified the need to broaden out the traditional 
local visitor economy and encourage diversification and enterprise development. In 
particular it identified a number of key opportunity areas including areas of public sector 
ownership which could be utilised to help address the connectivity and visitor movement as 
well as business enterprise and development.  The existing market was struggling and in 
need of refurbishment to both attract investment and meet customer demand.  Building on 
the success of the Southport Food and Drink Festival, its town centre location the market 
hall was identified as a key opportunity for both changing the town centre offer to attract new 
visitors, generate footfall and help draw people into new areas of the town centre as part of a 
market quarter.

Page 207

Agenda Item 9

https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/08/05/transformation-and-regeneration-get-the-green-light-in-bootle/
https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/08/30/bootle-canalside-bank-holiday-pop-up-everything-you-need-to-know/
https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/08/30/bootle-canalside-bank-holiday-pop-up-everything-you-need-to-know/


4

Refurbishment and repurposing of this key facility was seen as a way to optimise the 
building’s unique architectural form and presence in the town centre whilst at the same time 
signal change, creating a sense of place and encouraging diversity. The £1.4m 
refurbishment and repurposing of this key town centre facility is now complete, open to the 
public and receiving positive response from customers and visitors to the area. 

 
3. CROSBY VILLAGE

A Levelling-Up Fund bid has been submitted for Crosby Village to secure resources to bring 
new uses into the village, broadening the community services on offer, attracting investment 
and increasing footfall within the town centre.  Plans include a community hub centred 
around a new library, community healthcare services, a public café and new residential 
accommodation in the heart of the village centre.

This new state of the art facility will be perfectly placed to help create a vibrant new 
community hub which will serve local residents for many years to come in a modern energy 
efficient, attractive, landmark multi-purpose building. This will encourage significant numbers 
of local residents and visitors in to the town centre supporting the wider objectives of post 
CV19 recovery and long-term economic stability.

The development will involve significant improvements to the town centre access 
arrangements and also bring with it improvements to public realm creating safer and more 
attractive gateways into Crosby centre particularly for pedestrians and cyclists. LUF is a 
competitive process and initial decisions are anticipated later this year. 

Elsewhere in Crosby Village work is continuing with private sector interest in Telegraph 
House following its purchase in 2020 by Crossfield Developments. Proposals for a mixed-
use retail and assisted living scheme are currently being developed for this key site in the 
town centre. Secondly the outcome of the planning appeal on Central Buildings for a mixed 
residential and commercial development was upheld which will see further investment into 
the town centre for a mixed retail and commercial development for Plus Dane Housing 
Association.

4. CROSBY LAKESIDE 

Following appointment of contractor Crossfield Developments for the refurbishment of 
Crosby Lakeside, work is progressing to provide an improved hospitality offer and updated 
coastal venue.  The contract is being carefully managed to allow the continued operation of 
the watersports activity and leisure operations on site.  Work is intended to complete in 
winter 2021 and will provide a brand-new offer for visitors and the local community. In June 
2021 Sefton Council established a wholly owned Sefton hospitality company (Sefton 
Hospitality Operations Limited) to oversee the fit out and ongoing facility hospitality 
management. Ongoing work on lake management and cycle path improvements and 
highway works has also continued over the summer.    

5. AINSDALE ON SEA

Ainsdale Coastal Gateway
Green Sefton progressing consultation and engagement for Ainsdale beach gateway 
improvements.  This will help inform consultation on the wider Sefton coastal action plan. 
This will deliver a number of improvements to visitor facilities for this summer including new 
toilet facilities and artwork by local artists Paul Curtis.
Still time to have your voice heard in Ainsdale-on-Sea consultation - My Sefton News 
Channel

Ainsdale Neighbourhood Centre, Sandbrook Way

Page 208

Agenda Item 9

https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/08/23/still-time-to-have-your-voice-heard-in-ainsdale-on-sea-consultation/
https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/08/23/still-time-to-have-your-voice-heard-in-ainsdale-on-sea-consultation/


5

Following consideration by Council in February 2020 when members agreed to acquire 
leasehold interests in this centre to bring it into full Council ownership, negotiations have 
commenced, and a number of properties secured.  The Council wish to explore options for 
this centre and how it can support the wider neighbourhood more positively. Consultation on 
site development options took place in March 2021 with Cabinet and local Ward Councilors 
which has helped to inform the option appraisal for this site due back in September.

6. CAMBRIDGE ROAD SEFTON  - COMMUNITY LEARNING CENTRE

Following approval in 2020 for Skills Capital Funding from LCRCA, work has now started on 
site for the refurbishment of this key adult learning facility. Work started in November 2020 
and will complete now in Oct 2021 for this important community learning facility in South 
Sefton. A £1.3million investment by both Sefton Council and the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority will provide a refurbished community learning hub which will provide 
enhanced access to skills for out of work residents or those wishing to retrain.

The investment will improve the learning environment for users of the Cambridge Road 
facility, make better use of the space and reduce the operating costs for Sefton Council.  
Investment in this Grade II Listed building will include a complete refurbishment of the 
ground floor facilities, a new reception area and café and a reconfiguring of the school hall 
as a new flexible area for teaching.  The Community Learning Hub will also benefit from new 
IT infrastructure and will be fully WIFI enabled as a result of the investment, while the first 
floor of the building will also benefit from improvement works.   Work will also include 
repairing and enhancing the building’s original features, with external improvements to the 
roof, windows, brick and stonework.

The investment works will ensure the external envelope of the building is wind and water 
tight. This will improve the energy efficiency of the building and reduce running costs.  The 
work is being undertaken by a locally based contractor Cunard Construction who have 
experience in the refurbishment of listed buildings whilst also providing social value to the 
users of the centre and the immediate community. 

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority : Town Centres Commission Report

At its meeting held on 9th March, Overview and Scrutiny Committee was updated on the 
Institute for Public Policy Research (IPPR) Final Report of the Liverpool City Region Town 
Centres Commission “Anchor, Belong, Connect - The Future of Town Centres”. This was 
published by the Combined Authority in March and a copy, along with the associated press 
release was shared with O&S Committee.  A formal response from the CA to the IPPR 
report was made in July 2021 and is attached here: Response to the report of the Liverpool 
City Region Town Centres Commission.pdf (merseytravel.gov.uk)

Sefton@work 

Ways to Work Project

Extension funding approvals are still not yet received from DWP, these should be available 
very shortly. This extension funding will secure the Ways to Work offer until 2023 and allow 
us to continue to provide advice and guidance to all workless Sefton residents regardless of 
other personal circumstances. 

Labour Market Recruitment and Retention issues

Data has been received from numerous sources about specific issues arising in key sectors 
for Sefton. These include health and social care, hospitality and catering, logistics, distribution 
and driving.

Page 209

Agenda Item 9

https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s55433/Response%20to%20the%20report%20of%20the%20Liverpool%20City%20Region%20Town%20Centres%20Commission.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s55433/Response%20to%20the%20report%20of%20the%20Liverpool%20City%20Region%20Town%20Centres%20Commission.pdf


6

A range of solutions are being considered both through the Council’s own services with 
Sefton@work playing a pivotal role and in partnership with key employer groups and the FE 
Colleges aimed at assisting employers get the key staff they require.

A LCR jobs campaign is also being developed for rollout in September which will flag up the 
number of real time vacancies and collate all sources of assistance for jobseekers across the 
city region.  Latest intelligence for 

Restart Employment Programme 

The Council approved the contract for Sefton@work to deliver the Restart operations in 
Sefton. Much work has been undertaken to enable the mobilization of this new contract such 
as the refreshing of new policies and the introduction and training associated with a new suite 
of software, including the recruitment of a number of vacancies to replace staff who have 
moved to other positions over this year.  Further recruitment of advisory and employment 
engagement staff will go ahead later in the year when the volumes of clients accessing Restart 
start to ramp up. 

The very first client has now been accepted on to Restart from Sefton. He is a 39-year-old 
man from the Bootle area, who has been unemployed for more than two years. 

Kickstart 

Despite Sefton@work’s best efforts to ensure that we maximise the opportunities for our 
young people through this scheme, recruitment has been very slow due to a series of 
burdensome bureaucratic processes built into the design of the scheme’s operations by the 
DWP. 

Sefton@work staff are engaged in supporting Jobs Fairs events every week across the 
Borough and staff have also been deployed to attend our three JCP sites in Sefton. While 
relationships with our local JCP colleagues remain very positive and the level of referrals of 
eligible young people has increased over recent weeks, the cumulative impact of the scheme 
has led to a very poor achievement of job starts in relation to our initial projections about what 
we could have achieved for young people in Sefton. 

Sefton officers have taken part in weekly Kickstart meetings alongside all the other Gateways 
across the City Region. This has enabled feedback dialogue with DWP and suggestions for 
improvements to be made.  Our current Kickstart performance is mirrored by all the other 
Gateways we are in contact with.

The Metro Mayor has sent a letter with endorsement from all LA chief execs and portfolio 
holders to the Secretary of State to flag a series of concerns with the scheme. A reply is 
expected in due course. 

Positive Inclusions Project

Referrals have started to be received from social care staff and localities staff of young people 
into this ESF project. A new referral form has been designed and will be tested with colleagues 
for across these departments to ensure that referrals are effective, appropriate and related to 
the outcomes of this project.  This project is expected to flag some specific case studies about 
how older Care leavers can access the labour market and the barriers they need to address 
in doing so.

With regard to the Over 50s pilot under this project, Sefton@work and Sefton Community 
Learning staff are collaborating on a Jobs Fair in the coming weeks to encourage more 
employers to value the contributions of older workers returning to the labour market or 
changing career direction.

Shaping Places for Healthier Lives project application

Page 210

Agenda Item 9



7

Sefton@work has been supporting a joint project being developed in association with Sefton 
Public Health colleagues and the community sector groups associated with Well Sefton. This 
resulted in an application for project funding to operate a Shaping Places for Healthier Lives 
project.  The premise of this project was to consider employment as a protective factor in terms 
of reducing health inequalities as we know gaining and maintaining employment contributes 
to positive mental and physical wellbeing. 

Unfortunately, public health colleagues have been informed that this application has been 
unsuccessful and will not be pursued by the funder to the next stage.  Feedback has been 
requested and this will be considered carefully. Despite this, the partnership working between 
Sefton@work, Regenerus, Safe Regeneration and Ykids has been very positive and other 
opportunities for collaboration can be developed. 

Economies for Healthier Lives Programme

Following an interview with the Health Foundation the LCR has been notified that £472,500 
funding over 3 years will be granted as part of their Economies for Healthier Lives 
programme in response to the submission that was made.  One of the key strengths was 
that this was a partnership bid from across the City Region, including the Combined 
Authority, all Local Authorities, Public Health England, Universities, and health 
commissioners and providers.  
 
Sefton officers have been nominated to join the steering group for the project and will be 
working with both University of Liverpool and Liverpool John Moores University to produce 
evidence reviews, support the development of further metrics and develop enhanced 
engagement in activities.  This latter element is key and the programme will see a strong 
emphasis on user engagement with the inclusion of those with lived experience on 
governance boards as well as establishing a broader network of people and organisations to 
feed in. The funding confirmation is expected in September and this announcement is 
embargoed for wider circulation until then

Sefton Community Learning Service

2021/2022 prospectus has been finalised and is currently being distributed across Sefton, we 
have large posters displayed in 4 train stations. Dax radio adverts and social media posts went 
live 05/08/2021 and to date, we have received a total of 66 enrolments for the new term. 

Prospectus 21-22.pdf

Mural Artwork for Seaforth and Litherland Station Walkway planning proposal meeting took 
place on 30th July. The current artwork has been in place since 2009, the walkway has been 
newly painted, and the plan is to have new murals painted on the wall and planters added to 
the station. This is a great opportunity for Adult and Family Learning courses to support the 
plans for the station. 

All examinations and re-sits have now taken place and have been completed, the Service 
awaits the results of these to establish if we have been successful in achieving the 68% AEB 
funding achievement threshold imposed by Liverpool City Region and expectations are high 
that our efforts have been effective.  

The Service has had a number of External Quality Assurance visits from NCFE for Functional 
Skills and Safeguarding and from Ascentis for ESOL provision. A few minor improvement 
actions have been identified in relation to Safeguarding which is a positive outcome 
considering this has not previously been delivered by Sefton.

Page 211

Agenda Item 9



8

Tutors are now fully focusing on preparations for the new academic year and are engaged in 
reviewing, updating and designing new course materials. 

The Service completed its annual staff mandatory training day, this was well attended with lots 
of positive feedback. Plans are in place to roll out new Safeguarding and Prevent training for 
all new staff and Governors. 

Case study: From war torn Syria to Sefton 

M came to Sefton as a refugee from the civil war in Syria 3 years ago, via a refugee camp in 
Lebanon.  He came with his wife and three young children.  In Syria, M had worked as  a 
builder and a successful mechanic  and owned his own businesses.  

The process of escape from his homeland, leaving behind everything he knew from his 
homeland and his livelihood was a long and painful one. But M finally arrived at Manchester 
airport on a cold, wet and miserable March day in 2018, to start a new future away from the 
brutality that had surrounded the family and where their lives were at risk, to start afresh in a 
new country.

M and his family were placed in Sefton under the Home Office 'resettlement program' 
supported by Venus.  One aspect of his resettlement was that he and his wife attended a 
'Welcome to Sefton' course at Sefton Community Learning Service before  progress on to 
their ESOL ( English as a Second Language) program.

When M landed in the UK he could not understand, read or write in English. But he was a 
dedicated, fast learner who worked hard. He really enjoyed his classes and achieved  a  100% 
attendance record.  M has achieved Entry 1 and Entry 2 ESOL Skills for Life Qualifications in 
Reading, Writing and Speaking & Listening, and in September 2021 will start to study for his 
Entry level 3 qualifications.  Even better for M, is that he has recently gained a part-time job 
as a delivery driver with a local restaurant... as he has also recently passed his UK driving 
test.

M and his family are now well settled in Sefton, his wife is also due to come back to SCLS in 
September  and their children are all doing very well in school.  M is so grateful to the UK for 
giving them a safe home to raise their family and they especially respect and thank the 
community of Sefton and all of the staff at SCLS who have provided not just essential 
education but pastoral and cultural support to make their transition such a happy and 
successful one.

Cambridge Road Refurbishment 

This project is being managed by the Council’s Property services division and reports into the 
Growth Board. The 4 key challenges to the project have now been resolved e.g. The roof, the 
dry-rot, the lighting and the works to reception and the main entrance. A revised programme 
has been submitted with an expected completion date of the end of November 2021. 
Decorators have started on site and flooring specialists and installation of lighting is due to 
start 11/08/2021.

The delays in the projects have meant we have had to plan for additional provision for the 
Autumn term to take place across a range of alternative venues, and has led to increased 
costs.

2021 / 2022 Test and Learn project

This will focus on re-engaging young people who have experience of care and who have been 
NEET for a sustained period (12 months or more). Working alongside the Councils Leaving 
Care team to identify active NEET care leavers, we will recruit a specialist learning mentor to 
work with 19+ care leavers to engage them in a range of activities to identify and address 
barriers to learning.  The project will design and create a range of bespoke learning courses, 

Page 212

Agenda Item 9



9

taster days, workshops and virtual events (online, blended and immersive technology) to 
encourage and increase participation and achievement. Each learner will have access to an 
online 24-7 self-serving platform to further developing e-learning on all aspects of job search, 
creating a flexible and adaptable learning experience in a dynamic and interactive way. The 
blend of technology will be used to encourage care leavers to access education, gain 
qualifications and ease learners into the norms and expectations of the world of work. Through 
the Councils in-house employment brokerage service we will provide more employment 
pathways e.g. local vacancies, Kickstart, Routeways and the Council's apprenticeship 
programmes. This pilot will strengthen the links between partnership agencies and employers 
so they are aware and understand the issues and potential barriers care leavers face so they 
can be better supported when accessing opportunities and sustainable EET destinations. 

6. NEET Reduction and Early Intervention Service Contract Evaluation Exercise.

Career Connect have continued to deliver during this period, with an increased use of face to 
face service offer to young people through the use of outreach premises and through co-
location with Sefton@work in Stanley road, Bootle. The following summarises the latest 
national performance on the NEET and Not Knowns for June 2021:

Current Performance on NEET and Not Knowns for June 21

(Rankings are national comparisons 1-151 were 1 equals the worst (highest) performance and 
151 equals the best (lowest) in that indicator - Please also note that the combined figure may 
not total exactly the sum of the NEET and NK due to rounding)

JUNE 2021 NEET NK Combine
d NEET 
& NK

Current 
NEET 
Rankin
g

Current 
NK Rank

Current Combined 
Rank

Halton 3.8% 0.7
%

4.5% 41 115 81

Knowsley 7.6% 0.5
%

8.1% 1 129 4

Liverpool 5.6% 2.2
%

7.8% 8 43 5

Sefton 3.0% 0.6
%

3.7% 75 122 108

St Helens 4.4% 0.9
%

5.3% 25 102 54

Wirral 3.9% 1.1
%

5.0% 37 96 63

ENGLAND 3.0% 1.9
%

4.9%

North West 3.6% 1.6
%

5.2%

The following table gives a comparative position for the same indicator in June 2020 and it 
can be seen that Sefton’s combined ranking has improved by 10 places, moving from 98 to 
108. This performance is particularly positive given the circumstances the service has been 
delivered in during this year, the impact of Covid on our young people and the influence it has 
also had on the availability of provision. 

JUNE 
2020

NEET NK Combined 
NEET & 
NK

Current 
NEET 
Ranking

Current NK 
Rank

Current 
Combined Rank

Halton 5.4% 0.6% 6.0% 11 136 58
Page 213

Agenda Item 9



10

Knowsley 8.4% 2.0% 10.4% 1 61 5
Liverpool 6.8% 4.8% 11.7% 4 13 3
Sefton 3.6% 0.9% 4.5% 57 121 98
St Helens 5.2% 1.7% 7.0% 14 81 31
Wirral 4.2% 1.7% 5.9% 38 84 60
ENGLAND 3.2% 2.5% 5.6%
North West 4.0% 2.3% 6.3%

The tables indicate the following trend over the past 12 months:

 Sefton has the lowest % for NEET, Not Known and Combined across all LCR Local 
Authority areas

 Sefton is performing better that the North West NEET & Not Known combined measure
 Sefton is performing better that the England NEET & Not Known combined measure
 Sefton has moved up 10 rankings for NEET/NK from 98 last year to 108 in June 2021 – 

for NEET the difference is 18 places and a difference of 0.6%.
 For NEET/NK Sefton is placed  2nd out of our statistical neighbours group– moving up a 

place from June 2020 narrowly missing the first place by 0.1% which is retained by 
Stockport

 NEET/NK comparison Sefton is --1.5% below the North West average and -1.2% below 
the national average

Overall NEET & Not Known (16-17) Cohort Analysis

The following information provides the current picture of our cohort groups for this measure. 
These cohort groups are significant as they will be the primary target for further support to be 
delivered through Career Connect in the coming academic term to achieve greater levels of 
participation and retention in education, learning or employment with training. 

 Age 16 (2840 total cohort) 
Of whom, 2.43% (ie 69) of this group is NEET and 0.32% are Not Known (ie 9)

 Age 17 (2745 total cohort) 
Of whom, 4.01% (ie.110) are NEET and 0.55% (ie. 15) are Not Known 

 NEET has reduced by -0.6% year on year to 3.0%. This is -0.6% below the NW average 
at 3.6%

 At 0.6% Sefton's Not Known has reduced by -0.3% year on year This is -1.0% below the 
regional average at 1.6%

 23.3% of the 16-17 NEET and Not Known cohort are also in a vulnerable group (ie 48 out 
of 206)

At Risk of NEET and /or in a Vulnerable Group
Across the 16 and 17 age range, this total cohort is 2958. This cohort is key to our early 
intervention approach in Sefton and does not feature in comparable regional or national 
performance tables.

INVESTSEFTON UPDATE

Summary

InvestSefton’s key area of focus for the past 15 months has been the development, delivery 
and disbursement of emergency business grant funding from Government Local Restrictions 
Support Grant (Open) and Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) which are summarised in this 

Page 214

Agenda Item 9



11

report. At the start of the pandemic InvestSefton also supported business rates by handling 
2,140 telephone enquiries for a six-week period to allow the Revenues team to expedite 
grant support. Since April 2020 Sefton Council has made 23,147 grant payments to 22,848 
business recipients totalling £97,613,018

Further ARG is being allocated to the Liverpool City Region for a new grant scheme titled 
‘Trading On’ to help support small-medium sized businesses (10-249 employees). The 
scheme details are being developed by the Combined Authority and Local Authorities with a 
view to launch by October 2021. This allows officers to assess the impact of the end of the 
Government Furlough scheme in September.

InvestSefton has continued to provide business support during the pandemic through its 
external funded programmes with enquires reaching unprecedented levels alongside 
website visits which have surpassed the 43,000 mark. The team has also handled over 
4,200 enquiries

Inward Investment has also been secured most notably in Bootle through Mersey Reach and 
Atlantic Park while the team has supported Southport Town Deal and Southport Business 
Park activities. Other investment enquiries remain on going and active.

The team is now beginning to return to ‘business as usual’ activities as part of the Economic 
Growth & Housing service’s Recovery plan up to the 31 March 2022. This will help with 
transitioning work which is being planned as part of the wider review of the Sefton Economic 
Strategy for April 2022.

Growth Hub

InvestSefton is one of the Liverpool City Region Growth Hubs working alongside the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority (CA), Growth Platform/Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP), 
other local authorities, Chambers’ of Commerce and The Women’s Organisation. This 
contract is in place until 31 March 2022.
ERDF Business Growth Programme

In Sefton, Growth Hub activity is merged with the ERDF Business Growth Programme to help 
provide a more cohesive service to businesses. ERDF Programmes have been repurposed 
to help support businesses during Covid-19. This includes temporary revisions to state aid 
with the introduction of Jobs safeguarding and supporting SMEs struggling financially 
(since 11 March 2020) as output measures.

ERDF Place Marketing for Investment 

ERDF Place Marketing for Investment covers Liverpool City Region overseas promotion to 
attract new SME investment and forms a key part of InvestSefton’s inward investment 
activities described later in this report.

ERDF Extensions

Both ERDF projects are due to end on 31 December 2021 and await extensions with the 
Business Growth Programme expected to be approved imminently providing an extension to 
30th June 2023.

Business Grant video

The  business video produced by Ella Lynch in the Comms team which highlights the work 
carried out disbursing over £97.7m grants to businesses. 
The video can be seen at  MySefton news site: https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/08/05/sefton-
businesses-supported-with-97-7-million-in-grant-payments-throughout-pandemic/. An 
accompanying press release and infographic have also been produced.

Page 215

Agenda Item 9

https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/08/05/sefton-businesses-supported-with-97-7-million-in-grant-payments-throughout-pandemic/
https://mysefton.co.uk/2021/08/05/sefton-businesses-supported-with-97-7-million-in-grant-payments-throughout-pandemic/


12

Trading On – New Business Grant scheme

The LCR Combined Authority is to receive £7.5m Additional Restrictions Grant which will be 
allocated to each of the six Local Authorities to deliver a new grant scheme-Trading on. This 
is still being developed with the intention of an October 2021 launch to allow officers to 
assess the initial impact of the cessation of the Job Retention Scheme. In Sefton the 
scheme is worth £1.3m. The draft Heads of Terms is likely to include:

 A Single application process
 Use of credit reference agencies
 RTI submissions required for evidence of staff
 Support only businesses in commercial premises and incorporated on or before 1 

April 2021
 Support small to medium sized businesses with10 – 249 staff
 Ringfence a small amount of ARG to pay previous ARG applicants who failed to 

receive Top Up

Website

InvestSefton website has a dedicated COVID 19 landing page which is updated regularly 
with the latest guidance and news from Government, Growth Platform, Sefton Council and 
other sources of help. Since the site has gone live (Monday 30th March 2020) until Thursday 
26th August 2021, the site has had 44,273 unique sessions. 

From Friday 20th to Thursday 26th August, the website has had 292 sessions (down from 
389 last week) 

Average time spent on the website in the past week was 39 secs (up from 28 secs last 
week). 

The two most used pages were the homepage and https://www.investsefton.com/covid-19-
financial-support/

From Friday 20th to Thursday 26th August, 42.7% of users accessed the site using a 
desktop/laptop, 55.5% used a mobile device, and 1.8% via a tablet device. 

The top 5 places of origin accessing the website are as follows: U.K (82.56%) United States 
(4.98%) China (3.91%) Indonesia (3.2%) and Australia (1.07%)

Business enquiries

InvestSefton supported Business Rates during the first month of the delivery of the Small 
Business Grant and the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Grants, handling over 1,740 recorded 
calls with a further 400 unrecorded due to the volumes of demand. The team is receiving 

Page 216

Agenda Item 9

https://www.investsefton.com/covid-19-financial-support/
https://www.investsefton.com/covid-19-financial-support/


13

record numbers of enquiries. InvestSefton has handled 4,318 enquiries from a wide range 
of businesses. Breakdown by type of business is provided as at 27 August 2021.

Healt
h &

 Beau
ty

Professi
onal 

Se
rvi

ce
s

Retai
l

Creati
ve

 &
 Digi

tal

Man
ufac

turin
g

Gara
ge

s

Wholesal
ers

Enterta
inment

Constr
ucti

on

Cafe
s/B

ar/
Fo

od

Child
rens N

urse
rie

s

Gard
ening &

 La
ndsca

ping

Educa
tio

n/Trai
ning

Care
 Homes

Tran
sp

ort

Acco
mmodati

on

Other S
ervi

ce
s

Esta
te Age

ncy

Inform
ati

on &
 Communica

tio
n

Blan
ks

0
100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800
900

InvestSefton enquiries for W/E 27/08/21         

Of these,1,767 were in connection with Rates and business grant payments/ Furloughing 
staff/self- employed scheme or Discretionary Business Grants.  The remaining 2,551 are of 
a general business support nature including business start-up and property searches. As 
can be seen in the above graph most enquiries have come from businesses services such 
as high street retailers, including cafe’s, hair/beauty salons but other sectors are also 
emerging as owners seek what support will be available in the event of ongoing restrictions.

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500

General advice & information
Business Clinics

 Finance Hub/MSIF/Grants
Outward Engagement

New Markets
Property

Workforce development
Business Start up

Business Growth Programme
Other ERDF projects

Other brokerage
Miscellaneous

InvestSefton business Engagement-August 2021

The above graph shows business engagement by type of enquiry since March 2020. 
Outward looking activities remains the team’s highest source of engagement via email. Web 
and webinars and this has not changed since pre-pandemic. Business start up enquiries 
have increased during the Pandemic as people have explored new employment options. 
Workforce development and skills/recruitment enquiries have also increased since the 
launch of Kickstart which the team refer to Sefton@work. There has also been a sharp 
increase of general council focussed enquiries which is the result of close collaboration with 
Economy Cell services such as Business Rates and Regulatory services. Unsurprisingly 

Page 217

Agenda Item 9



14

access to finance enquiries have remained constant as businesses seek financial support to 
help them survive and trade through the pandemic.

This chart sows the rate 
of direct support activity 
with businesses through 
the ERDF Business 
Growth programme.

The majority of support 
of late has come via 
light touch and triage 
activity together with 
brokerage and 
managed referral  into 
other areas of  
assistance

Case studies

The team continue to engage with businesses via one to one Teams calls and webinars. 
Recent case studies below: 

Furniture retailer based in Waterloo selling end of stock retail furniture from major retailers 
at discounted prices.  Even though it is a new start the business is growth orientated and are 
looking at targeting developers and letting agents in relation to their furniture packages.  
InvestSefton supported the business by undertaking a review of their website with 
recommendations and action plan as well as researching the planning portal for commercial 
and residential developments that they business could potentially target.

Engineering Services Limited are based in Bootle and have been trading since 2017.  
They have already managed to secure some large clients including the MOD.  They offer all 
civil and structural engineering services but particularly specialise in BIM (Business 
Information Modelling).  The Business is looking to grow and needs to recruit staff for future 
work.  InvestSefton assisted the Business with the preparation of a business plan to secure 
loan funding to enable them to recruit staff to undertake additional work and growth turnover.

Audio product manufacturer based in Southport specialising in DAC’s and phono stages 
products that improve the quality of sound production from digital devices including phones, 
televisions, speakers and headphones.  The Customer base is global with products being 
sold direct to consumers through Amazon and via a global network of distributors and 
audiophile specialist shops.  The business is looking to improve their Digital Marketing.  
InvestSefton supported the business by researching suitable funding to finance attendance 
at an international trade expo as well as brokering an introduction to Edge Hill University re 
possible graduate placement.

Inward Investment

As the economy moves in to recovery and the restrictions on activity relating to the 
Pandemic are withdrawn it is expected that there will be an uptick in activity. We are already 
seeing a rise in activity from local businesses seeking expansion space or space more 
suitable for revised operational models. 

Mersey Reach –Dunnings Bridge Road; Bootle

29%

30%

37%

4%

No of businesses engaged No of triages (light touch) diagnostic

No of brokerages No of intensive (12 hr plus) diagnostics

INVESTSEFTON BUSINESS 
SUPPORT

Page 218

Agenda Item 9



15

Phase 2 progressing well and currently on schedule for completion 21 Feb 2022. Supply of 
materials is increasingly becoming a problem, and whilst they are managing this to ensure 
completion at this date it does present a risk. 

Terms have been agreed for Phase 1 Unit 3 with a local business to support expansion. 
There was significant wider interest in this unit, with no existing supply of comparable units 
in the area. 

Interest in phase 2 is exceeding the landlords’ expectations. Skinny Drink Group (Skinny 
Tonic) are continuing their rapid expansion plans and have asked about Unit 1 Phase 2 (c. 
27,000 sq ft). A water technology company (manufacturer) has asked for Heads of terms on 
this unit, this would be an expansion and new investment in to the area. A number of units 
have Heads of Terms out on them, with some in legals (mainly trade suppliers/counters) with 
deals expected to be concluded shortly. 

Atlantic Park-Dunnings Bridge Road, Bootle

New Head of Property for Royal London Asset Management visited Atlantic Park. The 
landlord is in the process of working up the details for a significant next phase of investment 
that would see c. 600,000 sq ft of new industrial floorspace delivered.

The team engaged in talks with several local business about opportunities at Atlantic Park 
and there is ongoing interest in the site from a Television Studio. 

Southport Business Park Kew, Southport

InvestSefton has met with 2 interested parties relating to property requirements in Southport, 
for which Southport Business Park is a preferred location. Currently working with 
Regeneration Team colleagues to progress opportunities 

TOURISM UPDATE

Business Tourism

 Regular meetings with Southport Townscape Heritage Project have led to the 
formation of a Heritage Steering Group, with the first meeting due to take place next 
week. Incorporating representation from Marketing Southport, Libraries, Southport 
BID, Green Sefton and Edge Hill University the purpose of the group is to enhance 
Southport’s heritage tourism offering, as well as develop stronger links with Edge Hill 
University in the hope of attracting related conference activity in future years. 

 Work is continuing on the new Meet Southport website, with most of the copy written 
and uploaded. Ongoing activity ahead of launch includes sourcing high-quality and 
appropriate photography, and obtaining relevant venue information from hospitality 
partners

 Ongoing, regular communication between Sefton and Liverpool is continuing, with 
the aim of aligning Southport’s business tourism approach with that of Liverpool in 
order to be able to offer a city-region wide level of quality to event organisers.

 Regular meetings with Club Liverpool are continuing, with the possibility of Club 
Liverpool becoming a city-region ambassador network currently under discussion

 Southport Hotels Association have continued to engage with us on a regular basis 
and we are actively pushing for them to adopt sustainability and accessibility policies 
in order to elevate our accommodation offering

Page 219

Agenda Item 9



16

 Engagement with the accommodation sector has enabled us to gather market 
intelligence about the visitor economy which has directly led to tailoring and shaping 
the Marketing Southport campaign support.

 Efforts are being made to find alternative venues for events that were due to take 
place at the STCC in 2021/22 – a lack of large, quality venues is hampering these 
efforts but the team will continue to support clients and maintain channels of 
communication should there be opportunities for them to return to Southport in the 
future

 A number of site visits have taken place for conference clients to secure business at 
alternative venues in the absence of the STCC. Further site visits are planned in the 
Autumn.

 Engaging with event technical specialists to give us the ability to respond to 
conference and event requests which require virtual and hybrid technology.

 As part of the Southport Town Deal work is progressing at pace on the Marine Lake 
Events Centre. It is hoped a full planning application will be submitted in Spring 2022 
with a start on site later that year. A number of project management and design 
appointments will be taking place in the next 4-6 weeks.

Destination Marketing

Autumn Marketing - This campaign is being funded from Marketing Southport membership 
fees. There will be out of home (Merseyrail passenger panels and poster sites at Merseyrail 
and Northern Rail stations), digital (Facebook and Google), radio (Gaydio). There will be 
website, blog, social media and PR activity to support the paid for campaign.

Photography - Two photographers were commissioned, in conjunction with Gingerhead, to 
refresh our image library and to fill some gaps which had been identified. These images will 
be used for the 2022 guide, website, social media etc. They are also available to Marketing 
Southport members. One final shoot has just taken place to secure some early autumn 
imagery

PR - A familiarisation trip for Kathryn Otto (Cheshire Magazine) took place in July and I have 
circulated her feature. Jane Deakin, travel blogger for Raring2Go visited 16-17 July, her 
feature has been circulated to members. Fido are in discussion with several further 
journalists (digital and print). They have been asked to look at Glasgow / West Coast of 
Scotland media as hoteliers have reported a noticeable increase in visitor numbers from this 
area of Scotland.

Visitor Guide - 2021 guide distribution is virtually complete, a few hundred remain for last-
minute top-ups to local hoteliers etc. Work is underway on the 2022 guide with first draft 
copy received, design style agree and advertising sales underway (via CMG).

Southport Restaurateurs Association - The 2021 Southport Restaurateurs Association 
(SRA) ‘Eating Out Guide’ (15,000 copies) has been distributed. There is limited stock in 
storage for ‘top-ups’. The 2022 guide is about to be commissioned and will take a similar 
format (DL size) to recent years

E-newsletter - Database stands at circa 35,000 and regular newsletters are sent to this 
audience.

Travel Trade – We have had some short travel trade editorial produced for inclusion with 
any ads we book. We are taking a hard line and only booking paid space with publications 
who will run editorial in the same issue. A half page ad has been booked in Coach Tours UK 

Page 220

Agenda Item 9



17

and Group Travel today. Summer newsletter to database (just over 500 companies) was 
sent out in August. The next newsletter is to go in November.

Golf – We continue to work with England’s Golf Coast to manage the re-scheduling of 
overseas golf business. It has been a difficult year with travel restrictions across the world. 
However, on a positive note, the majority of the business is being re-written into 2022 rather 
than lost. Sefton golf clubs and hoteliers are being extremely supportive in holding rates for 
the rescheduled business.

Marketing Southport – membership currently stands at 113 (111 this time last year). New 
members since the last report: Northern Rail, Puzzology and The Old Bank (opening 
October)

Major Events

 The Major events programme has once again been impacted by Covid-19 this year. 
However the events team have put on a successful music and food event at Bootle 
Canalside over the Bank Holiday weekend

 The Southport Food and Drink Festival will take place on a smaller scale while the 
British Musical Fireworks Championships is due to take place in September with 
strong ticket sales to date.

Tourism Operations 

 Plans to replace Southport Pier decking on a phased approach are at an advanced 
stage, the only option is to replace the deck in sections over several years. The 
decking replacement stems from the original decking comes to the end of its natural 
life.

 New doors are being sourced for the Pier Pavilion after a break in some weeks ago, 
such force was used that the doors cannot be repaired, the incident was reported to 
the Police, enquiries are ongoing.

 Southport Seafront has enjoyed a successful second half to the summer season with 
Covid restrictions lifting, reopening in compliance with Government Covid 
restrictions, tenants welcomed visitors back in large numbers. 

 Maintenance work will commence shortly within the Kings Gardens, the following 
work will be carried out:

 Victorian Shelters rubbed down and repainted
 All seating within the gardens will be sanded and oiled
 The Venetian Bridge will be sanded and painted 
 Light columns will be repainted
 Any trip hazards on the pathways will be repaired 

Southport Market

 The market has been a huge success in the first few weeks of opening, regularly 
running to capacity. Feedback has been positive from the vast majority of customers, 
many returning again and again.

 Having a Changing Places Unit and being dog friendly has made Southport Market an 
attractive destination. 

 There are issues nationally with staffing and the delivery of produce, this continues to 
be a challenge and could become more problematic in the months ahead

 Work continues to develop the events space at the rear of the Market, this should be 
complete by October

Page 221

Agenda Item 9



18 Page 222

Agenda Item 9


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meetings
	$$Minutes 9 Sept 21

	4 Winter Maintenance Policy & Operational Plan
	5 Effectiveness of the Council’s Enforcement Activity Working Group Final Report
	Final Report

	6 Housing Support Services to Vulnerable People Working Group Final Report
	Final Report

	7 Digital Inclusion Working Group – Update on Recommendations
	8 Work Programme 2021/22, Scrutiny Review Topics and Key Decision Forward Plan
	Appendix 1 Work Programme
	Appendix 2 - selection criteria
	Appendix 3 Forward Plan

	9 Cabinet Member Reports - September 2021
	CM Communities and Housing
	CM Health and Wellbeing
	CM Locality Services
	CM Planning & Building Control
	CM Regeneration and Skills


